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IMPORTANT

The Board and the Supervisory Committee of the Company
and its Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management warrant
that there are no false representations, misleading statements
contained in or material omissions from this annual report
and they will assume joint and several legal liabilities for the
truthfulness, accuracy and completeness of the contents
disclosed herein.

2. This report has been considered and approved at the ninth
meeting of the second session of the Board of the Company. All
Directors attended the Board meeting.

3. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA LLP has issued standard
unqualified audit report for the Company’s financial statements
prepared under the PRC GAAP in accordance with PRC Auditing
Standards. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has issued standard
unqualified audit report for the financial statements prepared
under the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing.

4. Liu Hualong, the Chairman of the Company, Zhan Yanjing,
the Chief Financial Officer and Wang Jian, the head of the
Accounting Department (person in charge of accounting affairs)
warrant the truthfulness, accuracy and completeness of the
financial statements in this annual report.

5. Statement for the risks involved in the forward-looking
statements: this report contains forward-looking statements
that involve future plans and development strategies which do
not constitute a substantive commitment by the Company to
investors. Investors should be aware of the investment risks.

6. The Company has proposed to distribute a cash dividend of
RMBO.15 (tax inclusive) per share to all Shareholders based on
the total share capital of the Company of 28,698,864,088 shares
as at 31 December 2018.

7. Unless specified otherwise, the recording currency used in this
report is Renminbi.

8. Major risk notice: the major risk factors faced by the Company
include product quality risks, policy risks, market risks, industry
structure adjustment risks and exchange rate risks, which
have been described in detail in this report. Please refer to the
discussion and analysis on possible risks that the Company
will face in its future development in “Report of Directors - B.
Management Discussion and Analysis”.
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Revenue (RMB’ 000)

2018:

214,521,647
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2017:
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Basic earnings per share (RMB/share)
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RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS

Profit after tax (RMB’ 000)

Profit attributable to shareholders
of the Company (RMB’ 000)

2018:

12,998,507
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+0.07%
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Including: equity attributable to
shareholdersof the Company (RMB’ 000)

Shareholders’ equity per share
(RMB/share)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
(RMB’ 000) (RMB’000) (RMB’ 000) (RMB'" 000) (RMB’000)
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
Results
Revenue 214,521,647 207,044,257 224,135,679 237,819,479 218,450,551
Cost of sales and services 168,459,287 161,380,253 179,111,581 191,281,913 175,619451
Gross profit 46,062,360 45,664,004 45,024,098 46,537,566 42,831,100
Other income and gains 6,536,147 5175613 4,019,061 3,643,040 2,534,376
Impairment losses, net of reversal 1,630,275 — — — —
Loss on derecognition of financial
assets at amortised cost 416,186 77,153 38,718 29,047 —
Distribution and selling expenses 7,745,841 7,218,094 7,250,164 7,953,771 7,401,938
Administrative expenses 14,274,711 14,907,929 12,973,350 12,635,370 11,431,134
R&D expenses 10,896,916 9,977,454 9,473,770 9,872,472 8,311,775
Other expenses 1,248,388 2,399,452 1,630,374 1,695,334 2,216,995
Finance costs 1,602,132 1,400,593 1,264,203 1,411,473 2,269,159
Share of profits of associates and
joint ventures 558,314 526,241 453,354 418,956 733,634
Profit before taxation 15,342,372 15,385,183 16,865,934 17,002,095 14,468,109
Income tax expense 2,343,865 2,387,765 3,024,670 2,951,618 2,136,117
Profit for the year 12,998,507 12,997,418 13,879,982 14,079,524 12,331,991
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent company 11,305,044 10,791,348 11,282,777 11,800,517 10,808,076
Non-controlling interests 1,693,463 2,206,070 2,597,205 2,279,007 1,523,915
Earnings per share
Basic 0.39 038 041 043 040
Diluted 0.39 037 041 043 040
Assets and liabilities
Total assets 357,523,050 375,206,469 338,350,133 311,792,404 293,754,410
Total liabilities 207,838,423 233,286,847 214,470,206 198,131,155 191,453,589
Total equity attributable to
owners of the parent Company 128,457,695 121,583,931 104,893,018 96,969,856 89,400,937
Non-controlling interests 21,226,932 20,335,691 18,986,909 16,691,393 12,899,884
Total equity at the end of the
period (shares) 28,698,864,088  28,698864,088  27,288,758333  27,288,758,333 13,803,000,000
Net cash flows from
operating activities 18,869,344 16,184,344 14,989,962 14,971,797 28,418,747
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Chairman'’s
Statement

Dear shareholders,

In 2018, with the concerted efforts of the Board, the management team and all employees, CRRC started its high-quality development
journey with a new look in reform and development as well as production and operation, an improvement of management quality, new
achievements in technological innovation, new breakthroughs in relevant diversified industries, new impetus in reform and development
and a new situation in operation and management. For the year, both operating revenue and net profit attributable to the parent of CRRC
achieved growth, relying on the strong support of all the shareholders. Hereby, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to all investors
on behalf of the Board.

2018 is the 40th anniversary of the reform and opening-up of China, and therefore, is of particular significance to CRRC. Over the four
decades, from learning to innovation, bringing in to going global and lagging behind to leading, CRRC wrote a glorious chapter for the
development of China’s rolling stock industry. For the past 40 years, there were significant changes in our business scale and strength
owing to our hardworking and forging ahead. Specifically, we have transformed from manufacturing-based to opearting-based and from
product operation to capital operation with the courage to pursue reform and keep pace with the times, we have changed our role from
a pursuer to a leader and achieved the shift from “Made in China” to “Created in China” with the strategy of taking the initiative, innovation
and surpassing, we have changed from only bringing in to products, technology and capital “going global” with the attitude of having
a dream and embracing the world, and we have seen the change from meeting the basic needs of employees to ensuring employees’
decent lives with the mission of caring for and bringing benefits to employees. CRRC is the world's largest and most diverse rolling stock
supplier with advanced technology, ranking among the “Fortune” Global 500 companies and China Top 100 companies, with products
exported to 105 countries and regions. The high-speed railway has become a bright “Card of China", profoundly changed people’s lifestyle.

In 2019, seven priority tasks were well defined at the Central Economic Working Conference, of which high-quality manufacturing
development was put high on the agenda. As the pacesetter of high-end equipment manufacturing industry, in order to achieve high-
quality development, it is not only CRRC's mission to implement the strategy of strong transportation country, but also is the only road for
CRRC to tackle risks and challenges, continuously expand and develop into world-leading company.

2019 marks the 70th anniversary of the founding of the PRC, it is a crucial year for CRRC to implement the strategic plan for the “13th
Five-Year” period and also a key year for CRRC to achieve the strategic goal of “two builds, one develop (2FT3E—125) "'. “The banks
are pushed far back at full tide; a single sail seems hanging in the breeze." Through unswervingly adhering to meeting high-quality
development requirements, we will extend excellent results to shareholders and bring benefits to all employees, so as to make new
greater contributions to building a moderately prosperous society in all respects and deliver satisfactory results for the 70th anniversary of
the founding of the PRC.

Liu Hualong
March 2019

1 “Two builds, one develop (4T3 —1F5)" refers to the strategic goal of building a respected international company and a “golden card” of CRRC for Party
construction as well as developing into a world-leading company with global competitiveness.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS

A. BUSINESS OVERVIEW

. Main business, operation model and industry situation of the Company during the reporting
period

CRRC is the world's largest and most diverse rolling stock supplier with advanced technology. The main scope of business
includes: research and development, design, manufacturing, refurbishment, sales, leasing and technical services of railway
locomotives, MUs, urban rail transit vehicles, engineering machinery, various electromechanical equipment, electronic
equipment and components, as well as electronic devices and environmental protection equipment; information
consultation; industry investment and management; asset management; import and export business.

()] Main business

1. Railway equipment business

The railway equipment business mainly includes: (1) locomotive business; (2) MUs and passenger carriage
business; (3) freight wagon business; (4) track engineering machinery business.

The Company targeted global market and stayed abreast of changes in the domestic and international railway
transport market and trends in the development of technology with an aim to becoming a world-leading
provider of systematic solutions for rail transportation equipment. The Company accelerated innovations in
its technology, products and service models, and created a systematic, modular and standardized product
platfrom and technology platform, with a view to continuously meeting the requirements for developing an
advanced and widely-applicable railway system and for intelligent, environment-friendly and safe development.
The Company furthered its strategic cooperation with China Railway to improve the quality and efficiency
of development, accelerate its business integration and structure adjustment, promote the integration of
manufacturing and maintenance of locomotives, integrated its freight wagon business, developed its advanced
refurbishment capacity, and promoted its service transformation. The Company implemented the strategy
of strong transportation country, with the standard MUs “Fuxinghao” in long formation at a speed of 350 km/
hour, and the power centralized MUs at a speed of 160 km/hour being successively put into operation, forming
a systematic MUs “Fuxinghao”. With new breakthroughs achieved in the research and production of new
products, such as the express freight wagon at the speed of 160 km/hour and piggyback train, the status of the
Company in the industry was further consolidated. The railway equipment business increased stably.
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Urban rail transit vehicles and urban infrastructure business

The urban rail transit vehicles and urban infrastructure business mainly includes: (1) urban rail transit vehicles; (2)
general contracting of urban rail transit vehicles projects; (3) general contracting of other projects.

Facing the global market, the Company expedited innovations in urban rail transportation equipment
technology and products to increase its core competitiveness. The Company created a systematic, modular
and standardized product platform and technology platform, constantly consolidated and expanded domestic
and international markets with high quality products and services. The Company actively sought strategic
cooperation opportunity, gave full play to its comprehensive competitiveness in equipment manufacturing,
business portfolio and the integration of industry and finance, and expanded its general mechanical and
electric contracting of urban rail vehicles. The Company carried out PPP business according to the industry
norm, actively expanded its business of general contracting of urban infrastructure with a focus on the
project management, and drove the development of urban rail vehicles and related business. The Company
accelerated the integration of resources, promoted the combination of manufacturing and service, and made
dedicated efforts in maintenance services. Medium-speed maglev trains at a speed of 160km/hour successfully
went off the production line, the first demonstration line of smart track express system was put into running,
and breakthroughs were made in the market of urban rail transit vehicles including products such as straddling
monorail train, hanging monorail train and automatic train. The Company developed rapidly in its urban rail
transit vehicles and urban infrastructure business.

New industry business

The new industry business mainly includes: (1) general mechanical and electrical business; (2) emerging
industry business.
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In the general mechanical and electrical business, the Company strived to improve technology platform and
the construction of industrial chain, promoted upgrade in core business technologies of rail transportation
equipment with the focus on mastering core technologies, breaking through key technologies and increasing
core competitiveness, and expedited the specialized and scale development of key systems and important
spare parts in the industrial, transportation and energy fields. As to the new business, adhering to the principles
of "relevance and multi-dimensions, high-end positioning and industry-leading position”, the Company focused
on new energies, new materials, environmental governance, power unit and marine industry equipment,
increased its presence in the niche market, strengthened exploration of new markets, and cultivate new drivers
of growth to give full play to its core technical advantages. The overseas mergers and acquisitions of BOGE
in German and SMD in the United Kingdom achieved satisfactory results in expanding the vehicle, vessel
and marine industry businesses. With the first introduction of special transformers into the vessel industry,
domestically-made purification tank, a sewage treatment equipment, successfully going off the production line
and the steady growth of the general contracting of environmental protection waste water treatment business,
the Company's new industry business has been growing stronger and further.
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Modern service business

The modern service business mainly includes: (1) financial business; (2) logistics and trading business; (3) other
business.

By adhering to “integration of industry and financing, promoting industry with financing”, the Company
strengthened risk control, standardized the construction of financial service platform, investment and financing
platform as well as financial lease platform, and accelerated the integrated development of the manufacturing
industry and the service industry. The Company made continuous efforts in the industry and financing platform
to increasingly highlight the function of the physical business. The Company prohibited financing trade and
developed modern logistics service. In addition, the Company expanded the scope of centralized procurement,
expedited the development of the "CRRC Procurement (F2 E58#)" e-commerce platform and accelerated the
extensive application of intelligent logistics in CRRC's industrial chain, thus achieving the healthy development
of modern service business.

International business

The Company implemented its international strategy vigorously by seizing the development opportunities
arising from “One Belt One Road” and “going global” strategies. The Company actively expanded overseas
markets and promoted the transformation of export products from mid- and low-end to high-end. Through
innovation in operating model and continuously promoting a form of “product + technology + service +
capital + management” portfolio output, the Company secured a subway renovation project in Singapore
and achieved new breakthroughs in repair and maintenance service orders for railway vehicles. The Company
continued to promote the localization in manufacturing in overseas bases by increasing the allocation
of overseas resources and deepening the implementation of the “five-locals model” of the localization in
production, purchase, labor, maintenance, management. Leveraging on these efforts, the first batch of orange
line metro vehicles with Chinese intellectual property rights, produced by the U.S Boston base, successfully
went off the production line, marking the new breakthroughs of Chinese high-end equipment in the
comprehensive cooperation of “manufacturing + technology + services” with developed countries. Upon the
establishment of overseas research and development centers in Turkey and South Africa, the Company had
15 overseas research and development centers in total, further contributing to the integration of research and
development resources and the enhancement of market development ability.
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Major products

Product structure

Main product functions

MUs

Locomotives

Passenger carriages

Freight wagons

Urban rail transit vehicles

General electrical and
mechanical equipment

Mainly include various electric multiple units and diesel multiple units at the speed
of 200 km/hour and below, 200-250 km/hour, 300-350 km/hour and above, mainly
used to provide main line railway and inter-city railway passenger transport services.
On the basis of “import, digestion, absorption and re-innovation”, the MUs products
represented by “Fuxinghao” have independent intellectual property rights.

Mainly include various DC driving and AC driving electric locomotives and diesel
locomotives with the largest traction power of 12,000 KW and the highest speed of 200
km/hour, which are mainly used to provide passenger and goods transport services in
main line railway. The Company’s locomotive products have independent intellectual
property rights.

Mainly include seater car, sleeping car, dining car, luggage van, generator car, special
vehicles, plateau cars and double-deck railway passenger carriages at the speed of 120-
160km/hour, which are mainly used to provide passenger transport services in main
line railway. The Company's passenger carriages have independent intellectual property
rights.

Mainly include various railway gondola trucks, box wagon, flatcar, tank truck, hopper car
and other special goods transport trucks, which are mainly used to transport goods for
main line railway and industrial and mining enterprises. The Company’s freight wagons
have independent intellectual property rights.

Mainly include subway vehicles, light-rail vehicles, urban (commuting) vehicles, monorail
vehicles, maglev train, tramcar, rubber-tyred vehicles, etc., which are mainly used to
provide commuter and passenger transport services between cities and suburbs. The
Company's urban rail transit vehicles have independent intellectual property rights.

Mainly include traction electric driving and network control system, diesel engine,
braking system, cooling and heat transfer system, train operation and control system,
passenger information system, power supply system, gear assembly, etc., which are
mainly used to complement with MUs, locomotives, urban rail transit vehicles, tracking
engineering machinery products in main line railway and inter-city railway, and part of
them are provided to third party customers as spare parts. All of the aforesaid products
of the Company have independent intellectual property rights.
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Operation model

Main operation model: the Company independently completes the manufacturing, repair, research and development,
and production and delivery of rolling stock equipment relying on our own technology, craftsmanship, production
capability and production qualification.

1.

Production model: as the value of the product of rolling stock manufacturing industry per unit is comparatively
high, its production model is to “limit production to sales’, meaning that the arrangement of production is
based on purchase order contracts obtained from customers. Not only does this model avoid excess inventory
of finished products, it also satisfies the needs of consumers by arranging for production according to the
particular order.

Purchasing model: a combination of centralized procurement and decentralized procurement is commonly
used. For centralized procurement, it mainly adopts the “unified management, two-level concentration”
management model in which purchase applications for bulk materials and key components are collected
from all subsidiaries of the Company to form a centralized procurement plan for conduction of centralized
supplier management assessment, purchase price management, procurement bidding management as well
as centralized ordering and centralized settlement by the Company. For other materials, etc,, the subsidiaries
shall formulate procurement plans according to production requirements, and select appropriate suppliers and
sign supply contracts through centralized organization of bidding and other methods to achieve centralized
procurement. Whether it will be done by the Company or its subsidiaries, a centralized procurement shall
be completed on the “CRRC Procurement” e-commerce procurement platform to realize open, transparent
and traceable management of CRRC's procurement business to ensure timely supply of raw materials for
production and reduce procurement costs.

Sales model: take advantage of industry technologies to build and improve technology platforms and product
platforms for a variety of rail transit equipment in response to user needs, and, for the purpose of providing safe,
reliable and affordable products and services, actively participate in open tender or negotiated tender of users
at home and aboard, sign supply contracts through bidding and rigorous business negotiations to form orders
to guarantee quality and quantity and production on schedule and finally achieve sales.

Distribution of the industrial chain: the Company has a number of rolling stock equipment manufacturing
bases and research bases at an international advanced level. The Company has formed a complete nationwide
industrial chain and production system with the main machinery company as its core and supporting
companies as its backbone, such as high-speed EMUs, locomotive traction, urban transit, passenger carriages
and freight wagons.

Distribution of the value chain: the product value of the Company mainly lies in the value chain distribution
system of the comprehensive rolling stock equipment with the production of high-speed EMUs, high-power
locomotives, urban rail transit, passenger carriages and freight wagons as well as the manufacturing and
repairing of related supporting products as core value and supplemented with financial products, financial-
related products and financial lease products.

Research and development model: the Company has two-level research and development management
model of “centralizing research and development of technology, jointly developing products and capability
building and sharing”in place.
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(V)

V)

Industry status

As the world's largest and most diverse rolling stock supplier with advanced technology, CRRC has consecutively
ranked first in the world for years, in terms of sales volume of rolling stock equipment. CRRC actively implemented
the strategy of strong transportation country, actively adapted to the ever-changing market environment, captured
market opportunities, and accelerated structural reform, as well as transformation and upgrades, CRRC made well-
targeted efforts in market expansion, international operation, technical innovation and synergic development, etc.
The high-speed EMUs “Fuxinghao”, medium-speed maglev trains and automatic trains have been put into operation,
further consolidating its position in the rolling stock equipment industry.

Production capacity

As at the end of 2018, CRRC's annual production capacity of major products is 547 new MUs, 1,530 new locomotives,
2,300 new passenger carriages, 51,500 new freight wagons and 11,840 urban rail transit vehicles (including subway
vehicles, tramcars, monorail vehicles and medium and low-speed maglev trains) of general assembly. In future, CRRC
will continue to seriously implement supply-side structural reform, strictly control the general assembly capacity of
new MUs, locomotives, passenger carriages, freight wagons and urban rail transit vehicles, by adhering to the goal of
"internationalization, structure adjustment, capacity optimazation”, actively respond to the growth of repair business
of MUs, urban rail transit vehicles and high-power AC driving locomotives, vigorously promote the integration of
maintenance and manufacturing of MUs, urban rail transit vehicles and locomotives and facilitate resource sharing of
maintenance and newly manufacturing so as to further increase the utilization rate of newly manufacturing capacity
of EMUs, urban rail transit vehicles and locomotives.

Significant changes of the Company’s major assets during the reporting period

For details, please refer to the relevant content under the “Report of Directors — B. Management Discussion and Analysis — Il.
Major operation results during the reporting period - (Il) Analysis of the structure and changes of major assets and liabilities
of the Company during the reporting period”.

Analysis of the core competitiveness during the reporting period

Great concern and importance are attached to the rolling stock equipment industry by the leaders of the CPC and the state,
high-speed train has become a golden card in the “going global” of high-end equipment of our country. With the strategic
objective of “two builds, one develop (3T —1%5) *, CRRC fully grasped opportunities and new challenges, adhered to
innovation-driven operation, strengthened its transformation and upgrades and enhanced its operational management. As a
result, CRRC ranked 385th in the Top 500 companies as released by the Fortune Magazine in 2018.

1.

Adhering to innovation-driven operation and further improving technical innovation ability. CRRC mainly focused
on studying key technologies related to rail transit vehicles, systems and spare parts. The Company achieved great
success in technology innovation for the year of 2018. The MUs “Fuxinghao” in standard long formation at the speed
of 350km/hour, power centralized MUs at the speed of 160 km/hour and 17 MUs in standard extra-long formation
have been successively put into operation, marking a pedigree development of the MUs “Fuxinghao”. In particular,
the MUs “Fuxinghao” at the speed of 350km/hour ranked the first in China Industrial Awards. General Secretary Xi
Jinping twice praised: “The MUs ‘Fuxinghao' is running on the vast land of the country.” And “The high-speed MUs
'Fuxinghao’ took a crucial step from a pursuer to a leader.” The innovation system of the Company continued to
improve. With the active promotion of the construction of national high-speed train technological innovation center,
the introduction of the Magnetic Technology Research Office of Thyssenkrupp into the national high-speed train
technology innovation center, the Metrology testing center of the national high-speed train industry officially being
approved for construction, and the successful establishment of two overseas technology research and development
centers in Turkey and South Africa, the number of overseas research and development centers reaches 15, the ability
of the Company to integrate and utilize overseas research and development resources was further enhanced. The
Company firmly believed in the strategy of making itself powerful through talents. In 2018, the Company formed
a core technological talent team comprised of 14 CRRC scientists, 77 chief technologists, 467 senior technology
experts and 2,248 technology experts, which contributed to the steady improvement of independent research and
development ability of the Company. For the year, the Company has obtained a total of 2,497 authorized patents, of
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which 1,145 were invention patents and 60 were overseas patents. The number of patents winning the prize in China
recorded a new high. The Company won 1 gold prize, 4 silver prizes and 10 excellence awards for patents, ranking
second across the country in terms of the cumulative number of prizes awarded. The Company achieves fruitful results
in research and development of major products. 11 “advanced rail transit” key projects achieved phased results; Smart
Beijing-Zhangjiakou MUs completed its prototype vehicle trial production; the body of the first metro train made
from carbon fiber composite, which will become the leading materials in the future, was successfully developed; new
products, such as high speed maglev trains at the speed of 160 km/hour and deep-sea robots, successfully gone off
the production line; and the key project for bearings and insulated gate bipolar transistor (IGBT) wafers used for high
speed freight car bogie commenced. By promoting the deep integration of the Internet, big data, artificial intelligence
with real economy, our projects for intelligent manufacturing have made a great progress, and intelligent logistics has
been widely promoted and applied to the industrial chain.

Deepening supply-side structural reform and optimizing the allocation of resources. The Group optimized its
business layout and resource allocation in accordance with core business, pillar business, supporting business,
platform business and nurturing business; accelerated structural restructuring by promoting the integrated projects
for manufacturing and refurbishing locomotives; carried out the reorganization of freight wagons business with the
integration of urban rail vehicle business with mechanical and electrical business; and sped up the pace of innovation
to establish a number of rolling stock equipment technology platforms and production facilities at an international
advanced level and to develop and improve a complete nationwide industrial chain and production system with
the main machinery company as its core and supporting companies as its backbone. Strengthen the allocation of
overseas resources: 15 overseas R&D centers located in Europe, America and South Africa made a great progress,
where strengthened international cooperation. New breakthroughs have been made in the local manufacturing in
overseas production bases such as the United States, South Africa and Malaysia. The fact that the first batch of Subway
trains successfully gone off the production line in Boston production base in the United States represented a new
breakthrough in the International capacity cooperation conducted in the developed countries. The international
cooperation for rolling stock equipment + technology + services at Malian production base turned to be fruitful,
constantly expanding out cross-country operations. Gather resources to nurture and establish pillar business and
supporting business, and to expand its industrial development. In regard to wind power equipment with mature
and complete industrial chain, there are continual new breakthroughs in wind turbines, and its wind power blade
stably ranked among top three in the country in terms of market share; the polymer composites has established its
leadership in the industry with advanced technology; there are continual breakthroughs in its core technology for
sewage treatment equipment in urban and rural areas with a stable growth in its general contracting of sewage
treatment. The International Rail Transit Vehicle Industrial Design Alliance and China IGBT Technology Innovation and
Industry Alliance, etc. whose establishments were led by CRRC, guided CRRC's rapid growth in all business segments.

Innovating overseas businesses and continually enhancing our international operation capability. Seizing the
opportunities arising from “One Belt One Road” and “going global” strategies, the Company has made efforts to
implement its international operation strategy. All kinds of rail transit equipment have been exported to 105 countries
and regions across the world. The Company achieved the transformation of export products from mid- and low-end
to high-end, and export markets from traditional markets, such as Asia, Africa and Latin America, to high-end markets,
such as Europe, America and Australia. With the expansion in its exported product portfolio “product + technology +
service”, the Company entered into contract with Singapore in relating to Metro refurbishment projects, and entered
into the Rail Transit Solution Service Cooperation Agreement with New Zealand. It continuously achieved new
breakthroughs in railway equipment maintenance and repair orders and changed its overseas business model from
a single product to a portfolio of “product, capital, technology, management and service”. Continually implementing
the “five-local model”. The Company changed its concept from product “going global” to capacity “going inside” and
brand “going high-end". The Malaysian manufacturing centre of the Company, as a highlight of the ASEAN economic
and trade cooperation and the model base among all “One Belt One Road” projects, provide MUs, lightweight railway
trains, electric locomotives and electric battery locomotives and maintenance services for rail transit equipment. The
orange line metro vehicles with independent intellectual property rights produced was successfully produced in the
U.S Boston manufacturing base, which played an active role in CRRC's expansion strategy into developed countries.
The Company actively carried out its strategic cooperation and “go abroad jointly” initiative. Jarkata-Bandung high-
speed rail project in Indonesia was the first order for “going global” of Chinese high-speed railway standards. High-
speed rail has become a model for implementing the state's strategies of strong manufacturing country and strong
transportation country as well as “going global”. CRRC's global influence and international awareness have been
increased significantly.
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B.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Operation discussion and analysis

In 2018, CRRC insisted on the new development concept with the focus on the “13156" business work ideas?. We put forth
effort to establish our “five major businesses’, and to accomplish our “ten missions” with great achievements in the new era.

In the “13156" business work ideas, “1” represents the comprehensive budget. In order to comprehensively manage the budget, the Company strives
to cut various expenses with the participation of all the staff under the lead of the headquarters. “3" represents three themes. The Company conducts
its business with close focus on the quality, efficiency and driving forces. “1” represents ten tasks. The Company is committed to assigning and
implementing ten tasks of “improving quality, controlling risks, boosting transformation, optimizing service, expanding business, reinforcing support,
making up for deficiencies, making joint efforts, bearing tasks and establishing reputation”. “5" represents five major businesses. The Company will
establish a business system comprised of core business, pillar business, support business, platform business and cultivation business to coordinate and
optimize the allocation of resources. ‘6" represents six types of evaluation indicators. The Company will take the time to release six major indicators of
"operational capability indicator, profitability indicator, investment evaluation indicator, debt risk indicator, labor efficiency indicator and quality control

indicator” to rapidly promote the high-quality development of CRRC.
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(U] Insisting on following the important instructions of General Secretary Xi Jinping, and starting a new journey
with high quality development

On 26 September 2018, General Secretary Xi Jinping pointed out in his visit to Qigihar Group: the equipment
manufacturing industry is nationally valuable and constitutes an important part of the entity economy, which will
drive the improvement of China’s competitiveness. By riding on the current trends, Qigihar Group should strengthen
its independent innovation and enhance its internal strength to constantly introduce new technologies, new
products and new services so as to take the initiative and continually to be a stronger and better enterprise. This is the
third time that General Secretary Xi Jinping took his visit to CRRC since the establishment of new CRRC, reflecting the
concern and high expectations of the Party and the government for the development of CRRC which has given us a
lot of inspiration, encouragement and confidence. We conscientiously followed the important instructions of General
Secretary Xi Jinping. We actively provided services for the state’s strategies and proposed an initiative “building China
into a country with strong transportation network, supporting by equipment” to comprehensively deepen reform and
to promote innovation and development, with an aim at building a first-class enterprise to shoulder our part of the
responsibility to make China stronger. CRRC has stepped forward on a new journey the high quality development.
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(1

Holding firmly on the objective of improving the quality of the product, and improving the quality of
operation

Facing the complicated and ever-changing internal and external environment, the headquarter and subsidiaries of
the Company worked hard in a concerted effort with all employees work together, seizing opportunities in the face of
difficulties, and took comprehensive budget management as the main line to set up indicators for the improvement
of quality and promote quality and efficiency improvement activities. The operational performance has improved and
shown prospects for further growth while maintaining stability.

Keeping on expanding the industrial space and making new breakthroughs in the multivariate industries

In accordance with development orientation of core business, pillar business, supporting business, platform business
and nurturing business, the Company made every effort to explore and expand its market. The first domestic
purification tank successfully gone off the production line; automotive IGBT has been put into mass application;
special transformer sector made its first presence in the shipbuilding industry; and the world's first intelligent rail
express system demonstration line was put into operation in Zhuzhou. Substantial progress has been made in the
preparation of digital companies; the intelligent logistics industry has been widely promoted and applied in CRRC
industry chain; the establishment of 7 intelligent manufacturing projects was approved by the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology of the People’s Republic of China, with the integration index of the two technologies of 79.5
and the digitalization of CRRC stepped forward solidly.
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Il.  Major operation results during the reporting period

In 2018, the Company achieved revenue of RMB214.522 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 3.61%; net profit
attributable to the owners of the Company was RMB11.305 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 4.76%. As at
the end of December 2018, the consolidated total assets of the Company decreased by 4.71% to RMB357.523 billion; the
total equity increased by 5.47% to RMB149.685 billion. The gearing ratio was 58.13%, representing a decrease of 4.05% as

compared with that at the beginning of the year.

U}

Analysis of main business

Analysis of changes in relevant items in income statement and cash flow statement

Amount over the

Amount over same period of

the current period the previous year
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) Change
(Restated) %
Revenue 214,521,647 207,044,257 3.61
Operating costs 168,459,287 161,380,253 4.39
Selling and distribution expenses 7,745,841 7,218,094 731
Administrative expenses 14,274,711 14,907,929 -4.25
Financial expenses 1,602,132 1,400,593 14.39

Share of profits of associated

enterprise sand joint ventures 558,314 526,241 6.09
Income tax expense 2,343,865 2,387,765 -1.84
Net cash flow from operating activities 18,869,344 16,184,344 16.59
Net cash flow from investment activities -4,333,324 -2,974,981 —
Net cash flow from financing activities -31,964,065 6,749,391 —
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2. Analysis of revenue and cost

(1)  Information on main business by segment, product and region

Main Business by Segment
Increase/ Increase/
Increase/ decrease decrease
decrease  inoperating in gross profit
Operating Gross inrevenuefrom  costsfrom  margin from
By business Revenue costs  profit margin last year last year last year
RMB'000 RMB'000 (%) (%) (%) (%)
Railway equipment 119,954,201 90,504,538 2455 1151 1218 Adecrease of
0.46%
Urban rail transit vehicles and 34618472 28,775,385 16.88 356 307 Anincrease of
urban infrastructure 040%
New businesses 49,305,858 39,197,132 2050 -1.75 462 Adecrease of
261%
Modern service 10,643,116 9,982,232 621 -1549 -1462  Adecrease of
0.96%
Total 214,521,647 168,459,287 2147 361 439 Adecrease of
0.59%

Revenue from the railway equipment business increased by 11.51% as compared to the same period
of the previous year, mainly due to the increase in revenue from MUs during this period. Operating
costs increased by 12.18% as compared to the same period of the previous year, mainly due to different
structure of railway products during the current period.

Revenue from the urban rail transit vehicles and urban infrastructure business increased by 3.56% as
compared to the same period of the previous year, mainly due to an increase in revenue from rapid
transit vehicles in this period. Operating costs increased by 3.07% as compared to the same period of the
previous year, mainly due to an increase in the costs in line with the growth in revenue. The increase in
the costs was slightly lower than the increase in revenue due to the difference in product types.
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Revenue from the new businesses decreased by 7.75% as compared to the same period of the previous
year, mainly due to the transfer of new energy vehicle business. Operating costs decreased by 4.62%
as compared to the same period of the previous year, mainly due to a decrease in the costs in line with
decreased revenue.

Revenue from the modern service business decreased by 15.49% as compared to the same period of the
previous year, mainly due to a reduction in the business scale of the logistics business during this period.
Operating costs decreased by 14.62% as compared to the same period of the previous year, primarily
attributable to a decrease in the costs in line with decreased revenue.

Revenue of the Company increased by 3.61% as compared to the same period of the previous year, and
the contributions made by railway equipment business, rapid transit vehicles and urban infrastructure
business, new businesses and modern service business accounted for 55.92%, 16.14%, 22.98% and
4.96% of the total revenue respectively. As to the railway equipment business, revenue generated by the
locomotive business was RMB26.027 billion; revenue generated by the passenger carriage business was
RMB7.380 billion; revenue generated by the MUs business was RMB66.369 billion; revenue generated by
the freight wagon business was RMB20.178 billion. Revenue generated by the rapid transit vehicles and
metro vehicles of the rapid transit vehicles and urban infrastructure business was RMB32.018 billion. The
Company sold 921 locomotives, 485 passenger carriages, 2,608 MUs, 45,974 freight wagons and 6,396
rapid transit vehicles and metro vehicles.
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(2)

3)

(4)

Principal business by region

Principal business by region
Year-on-year

Revenue increase/decrease
By region (RMB’000) in revenue (%)
Mainland China 195,361,972 3.96
Other countries or regions 19,159,675 0.15

During the reporting period, the Company's revenue from Mainland China increased by 3.96%. Revenue
from other countries or regions increased by 0.15%, mainly due to the increase in the delivery volume of
products during the current period in accordance with the overseas order delivery cycle.

During the reporting period, the Company generated revenue in about 70 countries abroad, of which
revenue in Europe was RBM7.572 billion, accounting for 39.52% of overseas revenue. The main products
were auto parts and deep-sea robots. Revenue in Asia (including Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan)
was RMB5.183 billion, accounting for 27.05% of overseas revenue. The main products are urban rail
subways and high-end parts and components. Oceania’s revenue was RMB2.645 billion, accounting for
13.80% of overseas revenue, mainly for freight wagons, double-decker passenger carriages, urban rail
subways. Revenue in Africa was RMB2.640 billion, accounting for 13.78% of overseas revenue, mainly
for locomotives and freight wagons. Revenue in other regions such as America was RMB1.120 billion,
accounting for 5.85% of overseas revenue. The main products are locomotives, passenger vehicles and
high-end parts and components.

Analysis of cost
Costs of Main Businesses by Item

Year-on-year
Proportionin  Amountoverthe  Proportion in increase/
Amountover  total costsover  same period of  total costs in the decrease
the the the previous  same period of in
Cost item currentperiod  current period year the previous year operating costs
RMB'000 (%) RMB'000 (%) (%)
Cost of materials 140,859,253 83.62 134,486,284 8333 475
Cost of labor 9,610,647 5.70 9,211,069 571 434
Cost of manufacturing 11,854,697 7.04 11,199,357 6.94 585
Other expenses 6,134,690 3.64 6,483,543 402 -5.38
Total 168,459,287 100.00 161,380,253 100.00 440

During the reporting period, the cost increased in line with the income. The Company mainly relied on
the manufacturing industry, where direct materials accounted for majority of the costs, and the change
of the proportion in total costs was mainly due to the influence of product structure.

Information on major suppliers and customers

In 2018, the procurement by the Company from its top 5 suppliers totaled RMB12,924 million,
accounting for 9.04% of the total amount of procurement for the year.

In 2018, the sales of the Company to its top 5 customers totaled RMB125,536 million, accounting for
58.52 % of the total sales of the Company for the year.

The relatively high customers concentration is primarily attributable to China Railway (including the
railway bureaus and companies subordinate to China Railway) being the largest customer of the
Company, which accounted for 52.51 % of the total sales of the Company for the year.
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None of the Directors of the Company or its close associates or shareholders holding more than 5% of
the shares of the Company has any interests in the above suppliers or customers.

Relationship with customers:

Since the product unit value was relatively high, our sales method mainly consisted of participating in
tenders or tender negotiations, through bidding in tenders, communication and negotiation based on
historical prices in determining the final price and secure orders. Our sales customers were mainly railway
and urban rail transit transportation operators. Railway customers were divided into railway customers
and non-railway customers. Railway customers refer to China Railway and the railway bureaus and
companies thereunder, which are the largest customers within the industry, and thus the Company has
strong dependence on China Railway and the subordinate railway bureaus and companies. Non-railway
customers were mainly large-scale plants, mining groups and ports, etc,, the demand of which shows a
trend of a year-on-year increase. Such customers were fragmented and thus the Company was not over-
reliant on them. For the year ended 31 December 2018, approximately 58.52% of our products were sold
to our five largest customers.

Relationship with suppliers:

Our principal raw materials and components were purchased through external procurements while
some were supplied by internal production. We have established direct and stable supply channels
with our major suppliers and external contracted production units. Since our suppliers were not
highly concentrated, there was little risk of over reliance on any single supplier. For the year ended 31
December 2018, approximately 9.04 % of our products were manufactured by our five largest suppliers.

Significant changes in administrative expenses and other financial data during the reporting period

Item 2018 2017 Growth rate
Amount Amount %

(RMB'000) (RMB'000)

(Restated)
Distribution expenses and selling expenses 7,745,841 7,218,094 7.31
Administrative expenses 14,274,711 14,907,929 -4.25
Financial expenses 1,602,132 1,400,593 14.39

Share of profits of associates enterprises

and joint ventures 558,314 526,241 6.09
Income tax expense 2,343,865 2,387,765 -1.84

Distribution expenses and selling expenses increased by 7.31% as compared to the same period of the
previous year, mainly due to the increase in provision for the product quality warranty, as well as an increase in
transportation costs as a result of the increased overseas revenue.

Administrative expenses decreased by 4.25% as compared to the same period of the previous year, which was
mainly due to a decrease in expenses such as amortization of intangible assets and employee placement fee.

Financial expenses increased by 14.39% as compared to the same period of the previous year, which was
primarily attributable to the decrease in the amount of interest capitalized during the year.

Share of profits of associated and joint ventures increased by 6.09% as compared to that of the previous year,
mainly due to an increase in the share of profits resulting from the change of subsidiaries to joint ventures or
associates during last period and during the reporting period.

Income tax expense decreased by 1.84% as compared to that of the previous year. Such moderate fluctuation
was mainly due to the slight decrease in profit before taxation as compared to last year.
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R&D expenses

Information on R&D Expenses

Unit000 Currency: RMB

Expensed R&D cost in the current period 10,898,475
Capitalized R&D cost in the current period 280,538
Total R&D costs 11,179,013
Proportion of R&D costs in revenue (%) 521
Number of R&D personnel in the Company 32914
Proportion of R&D personnel in the staff of the Company (%) 19.52
Proportion of the capitalized R&D cost (%) 2.51

In 2018, R&D expenses of the Company amounted to RMB11.179 billion, accounting for 5.21% of our total sales.
The Company implemented innovation-driven development strategy throughout the year to make steady
progress in seven national advanced rail transit key projects, such as "High energy efficiency traction power
supply and key transmission technologies of rail transportation (#3832 il = LR ZE S| B R {EZH RIS
fiT)". In accordance with the general idea of “technology concentrated research, product joint development,
capability building and sharing”, we managed to avoid overlapping investment and development at source.
In addition, the R&D projects of new products, key systems and components for rail transit such as high-speed
EMUs, high-power locomotives, express freight wagons and a new generation of urban rail vehicles were
steadily accelerated.

Significant achievements have been made in the R&D of major products. The Beijing - Zhangjiakou Intelligent
EMU prototype was completed. The world's first all-carbon fiber composite subway car body was successfully
developed, leading the future development trend of the subway. The new products such as maglev train
at the high speed of 160 km/h and the domestic largest horsepower deep-sea robot went off the assembly
production line, and the independent innovation capability of CRRC continued to improve.

Analysis of cash usage during the reporting period

Item 2018 2017 Growth rate %
Amount Amount
(RMB’000) (RMB'000)
Net cash flow from operating activities 18,869,344 16,184,344 16.59
Net cash flow from investment activities -4,333,324 -2,974,981 —
Net cash flow from financing activities -31,964,065 6,749,391 —

The net cash flow from operating activities was a net inflow of RMB18,869 million, representing an increase
in net inflow of RMB2,685 million as compared to the same period of the previous year, mainly due to an
increase in cash received from the sale of commaodities or the services provided during the reporting period as
compared to the same period of the previous year.

The net cash flow from investment activities was a net outflow of RMB4,333 million, representing an increase
in net outflow of RMB1,358 million as compared to the same period of the previous year, mainly due to an
increase in cash payment for investments during the reporting period as compared to the same period of the
previous year.

The net cash flow from financing activities was a net outflow of RMB31,964 million, as compared to a net inflow
of RMB6,749 million in the previous year. Such change was mainly due to the decrease in borrowings obtained
during the reporting period.
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(m

Analysis of the structure and changes of major assets and liabilities of the Company during the reporting
period

1.

Structure and changes of major assets and liabilities of the Company during the reporting period

Unit’000 Currency: RMB

Increase/
31 December Proportion 31 December Proportion Decrease
2018 (%) 2017 (%) (%)
Goodwill 713,042 0.20 1,242,487 033 4261
Loans and advances to
customers 1,880,911 0.53 192,693 0.05 876.12
Equity instruments at
fair value through other
comprehensive income 2,252,423 0.63 — — 100.00
Contract assets - non-current
portion 8,923,932 2.50 — — 100.00
Debt investment at amortised
cost - non-current portion 1,622,252 0.45 — — 100.00

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss -

non-current portion 598,551 0.17 — — 100.00
Debt investments at

fair value through other

comprehensive income-

current portion 5,277,641 1.48 — — 100.00
Contract assets - current

portion 14,657,889 4.10 — — 100.00
Bills receivable 15,475,106 433 27,071,265 7.22 -42.84

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss-

current portion 7,246,736 2.03 2,569,294 068 182.05
Debt investments at

amortised cost - current

portion 880,525 0.25 — — 100.00
Cash and bank balances 33,143,342 9.27 56,280,024 15.00 -41.11
Short-term borrowings 16,293,114 4,56 34,043,108 9.07 -52.14
Tax payable 560,000 0.16 1,188,521 032 -52.88
Contract liabilities - current

portion 22,335,899 6.25 — — 100.00
Long-term borrowings 4,380,011 1.23 9,954,710 265 -56.00

Goodwill decreased by 42.61%, mainly due to the provision for impairment of goodwill made by overseas
subsidiaries during the reporting period.

Loans and advances to customers increased by 876.12%, mainly due to the increase in the amount of loans
extended by the Finance Company of the Company.

Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income increased by 100%, mainly due to
addition of an item during the current period as affected by the application of new financial reporting standard
related to financial instrument effective in current year, and accordingly available-for-sale financial assets not
held for trading are accounted for in this item.
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Contract assets — non-current portion increased by 100%, mainly due to the fact that this item mainly accounts
for the right to receive consideration after having transferred goods or services to customers and the right
is only subject to other factors beyond the passage of time, as affected by the application of new financial
reporting standard related to revenue effective in current year.

Debt investments at amortised cost — non-current portion increased by 100%, mainly due to the reclassification
of financial assets originally accounted for as investment held-to-maturity item to debt investments at
amortised cost - non-current portion, as affected by the application of new financial reporting standard related
to financial instrument effective in current year.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - non-current portion increased by 100%, mainly due to the
reclassification of other non-current assets to the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - non-current
portion for accounting, as affected by the application of new financial reporting standard related to financial
instrument effective in current year.

Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income - current portion increased by 100%,
mainly due to the reclassification of trade receivables and bills receivable at fair value to debt instruments at fair
value through other comprehensive income - current portion for accounting, as affected by the application of
new financial reporting standard related to financial instrument effective in current year.

Contract assets — current portion increased by 100%, mainly due to addition of an item during the current
period as affected by the application of new financial reporting standard related to revenue effective in current
year, which mainly accounts for the right to receive consideration within one year after having transferred
goods or services to customers, and the right depends on other factors than the passage of time.

Bills receivable decreased by 42.84%, mainly due to the reclassification of bills receivable at fair value to financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - current portion, as affected by the application of
new financial reporting standard related to financial instrument effective in current year.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss increased by 182.05%, mainly due to the accounting for
of principal-guaranteed with non-guaranteed returns and non-principal-guaranteed wealth management
products in this item, as affected by the application of new financial reporting standard related to financial
instrument effective in current year.

Debt investments at amortised cost - current portion increased by 100%, mainly due to the reclassification of
financial assets originally accounted for as investment held-to-maturity item to debt investments at amortised
cost - current portion, as affected by the application of new financial reporting standard related to financial
instrument effective in current year.

Cash and bank balances decreased by 41.11%, mainly due to the successive utilization during the current
period of most payments from customers made at the end of last year.

Short-term borrowings decreased by 52.14%, mainly due to the restructuring of liabilities in the current period
resulting in a decrease in the short-term borrowings.

Tax payable decreased by 52.88%, mainly due to the decrease in corporate income tax payable during the
period.

Contract liabilities — current portion increased by 100.00%, mainly due to the application of new financial
reporting standard related to revenue effective in current year, so that the obligation of enterprises to transfer
the goods to the customer for the consideration received or receivable from the customer is accounted for in
this item during the current period.

Long-term borrowings decreased by 56.00%, mainly due to the transfer of partial long-term borrowings due
within one year to short-term borrowings.
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2.

Information on assets measured at fair value

Unit000 Currency: RMB

Impairment Other
Gains/losses losses changes
from changes  Aggregate included (increase/
in fair value changes in in equity decrease)
during the fair value during the during the
Opening current included current current Closing
Item balance period in equity period period balance
1. Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 3,046,592 54,267 — — 4245411 7,246,736
Including: derivative financial assets 2,563 48 — — — 2515
Including: corporate
wealth management products 2,591,060 -76,048 — — 3,837,368 6,352,380
Including: equity
instrument Investment 452,969 21,829 — — 417,043 891,841
2. Other equity instrument investment 2,387,370 — -437,186 — 302,239 2252423
Including: listed equity
instrument investment 2,017,855 — -528,379 — -118,570 1,370,906
Including: non-listed
equity instrument investment 369,515 — 91,193 — 420,809 881517
3. Debt instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income 103,221 — -44,548 -18 5,218,986 5277641
Including: trade receivables
and bills receivable 103,221 — -44,548 -18 5,218,986 5277641
4. Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss - non-current portion 605,953 -7,402 — — — 598,551
Including: preference share
and perpetual bond 605,953 -7402 — — — 598,551
Subtotal of financial assets 6,143,136 61,669 481,734 -18 9,775,636 15375351
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3. Information on financial assets and financial liabilities held in foreign currency
Unit'000 Currency: RMB
Impairment Other
Gains/losses losses changes
from changes  Aggregate included (increase/
in fair value changesin in equity decrease)
during the fair value during the during the
Opening current included current current Closing
ltem balance period in equity period period balance
Cash and bank balances 9,384,530 — — — -2,388430 6,996,100
Trade receivables 3965518 — — -893,884 1,186,784 4258418
Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables 1,396,807 — — -1619 90,134 1485322
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 2,563 37,544 — — 187,200 227,307
Other non-current assets 892,793 — - — -425,089 467,704
Held to maturity investment 1429,183 — — —  -1429188 —
Debt investments at amortised cost — — — — 1,344,600 1,344,600
Available-for-sale financial assets 605953 — — — -605,953 —
Subtotal of financial assets 17677352 37,544 — -895,503 2039942 14779451
Financial liabilities
Borrowings 10,921,576 — — — -7/489,249 3432327
Trade payables 687215 — — — -441,270 245,945
Other payables and accruals 4,883,162 — — — 517,179 5/400,341
Other non-current liabilities 119376 — — — -77,851 41,525
Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss 225240 - - - -225,240 -
Convertible bonds - debt component 3,630,772 — — — 280,057 3,910,829
Convertible bonds
-embedded derivative component 511,756 166,960 — — -406,817 271,899
Subtotal of financial liabilities 20,979,097 166,960 -7,843,191 13,302,866
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4, Significant capital expenditure and capital commitment during the reporting period

(1)  Significant capital expenditure

Item 2018 2017
Amount Amount

(RMB’000) (RMB'000)

(Restated)

Property, plant and equipment 8,296,862 6,933,349
Prepaid land lease payments 565,957 509,886
Other intangible assets 767,334 670,044
Total capital expenses 9,630,153 8,113,279

(2) Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2018, the capital commitments that the Group had contracted but not yet
undertaken was RMB3,643 million, which will be used mainly for property, plant, equipment or used as

prepaid land lease payments and for other intangible assets.

5. Detailed information on contingent liabilities of the Company

The Company has no significant contingent liabilities other than the warranties provided by the Company as
set out in the section headed “Significant Events - IV. Significant Contracts and Their Implementation” and those

items as disclosed in note 54 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

6. Detailed information on mortgaged assets of the Company

Item 2018
Amount

(RMB’000)

Bills receivable 4,328,644

Trade receivables 179,236
Property, plant and equipment 17,274
Prepaid lease payments 6,515

Other non-current assets 244,030

Total 4,775,699
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Borrowings, corporate bonds and notes

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had total borrowings, bonds and notes of approximately RMB24,584
million, as compared to the total amount of approximately RMB47, 629 million as at 31 December 2017.

As at 31 December 2018, out of the total borrowings, bonds and notes of the Group, RMB20,644 million
was denominated in Renminbi, RMB1,653 million was denominated in US dollar, and RMB1,854 million was
denominated in Euro.

The Group's long-term interest-bearing borrowings, bonds and notes and short-term interest-bearing
borrowings, bonds and notes as at 31 December 2018 were RMB4,380 million and RMB20,204 million,
respectively.

As at 31 December 2018, the total bank and other borrowings of the Group with floating interest rates
amounted to RMB6,111 million, as compared to RMB7, 396 million as at 31 December 2017.

31 December 31 December

2018 Amount 2017 Amount

(RMB’000) (RMB'000)

Within one year (starting date and ending date inclusive) 20,203,943 34,043,108
One to two years 250,523 5128334
Two to five years 3,940,022 3,077,430
Over five years 189,466 5379,718
Total 24,583,954 47,628,590

As at 31 December 2018, the total borrowings, bonds and notes of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB24,584 million, representing a decrease of 48.38% from RMB47,629 million as at 31 December 2017, mainly
due to the decrease in long-term and short term borrowings.

Cash Flow

As at 31 December 2018, the cash and cash equivalents owned by the Group amounted to approximately
RMB30,290 million, of which RMB23,286 million was denominated in Renminbi; RMB2,910 million was
denominated in USD; and RMB1,769 million was denominated in Euro.
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(1

Analysis of industrial and operational information

1.

Orders of the Company during the Reporting Period

Unit: hundred million Currency: RMB

New order Existing
Item amount order amount
Market orders 3,049 2,327
Overseas orders 430 829

The Company recognises revenue when a performance obligation under the contract is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the underlying goods or services is transferred to the customer, based on the portion of the
transaction price allocated to the performance of obligation. If one of the following criteria is met and the
performance obligation shall be performed during a period, revenue is recognized by the Company over
time by reference to the performance progress: (1) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
economic benefits provided by the Company's performance as the Company performs; (2) the customer has
the control over the goods being constructed by the Company during the performance period; or (3) the
goods produced by the Company during the performance period has an alternative use, and the Company
has an right to payment for performance completed during the contract period to date. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the relevant goods or service.

Businesses accounting for over 10% of the Company’s main business income during the Reporting
Period

Sales volume

Item of complete units
Newly created MUs 2,608
Newly created urban rail metro vehicles 6,396

During the reporting period, revenue from MUs manufacturing business of the Company amounted to
RMB46.931 billion, accounting for 21.88% of the operating income. Revenue from urban rail metro vehicles
manufacturing business of the Company amounted to RMB31.077 billion, accounting for 14.49% of the
operating income.
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3. Repair and refitting business during the Reporting Period

Unit: hundred million Currency: RMB

Railway
transportation
equipment
manufacturing

Item operating income

Repair and refitting business of railway equipment vehicles 329.75
Maintenance Standard of Major Products the Company

Product Maintenance Standard

MUs According to the "Regulations on the Operation and Maintenance of Railway MUs"

Locomotives

Passenger carriages

Freight wagons

034

(BB EE4H B R 45 #R72) issued by the China Railway Corporation, the MUs are
maintained mainly according to the operating mileage cycle and secondarily the time
period (whichever comes first). The MUs maintenance process is divided into 5 levels, of
which the first and second levels are applicable to daily operation maintenance, while
the third, fourth and fifth levels are advanced refurbishment. The MUs that have run 1.2
million kilometers or 3 years are applicable to Level 3 maintenance, those have run 2.4
million kilometers or 6 years are applicable to Level 4 maintenance, and those have run
4.8 million kilometers or 12 years are applicable to Level 5 maintenance.

According to the “Notice on the Release of the Repair Program and Maintenance
System Reform Plan for CRH AC Drive Locomotives” (B8 H A FIFE L 3 7 B B i
BEFREHIE 5 =AY AN) issued by the China Railway Corporation, the CRH AC
drive locomotive has six levels of maintenance on the repair program, namely C1 to
C6 maintenance, among which Levels C1-C4 are segment-level maintenance, and
Levels C5 and C6 are advanced maintenance. The C5 maintenance refers to electric
locomotives that have run 1.0x (12 10%) million kilometers and no more than 6 years,
and diesel locomotives that have run 0.9x (1£10%) million kilometers and no more
than 5 years. The C6 maintenance refers to electric locomotives that have run 2.0x
(1£10%) million kilometers and no more than 12 years and diesel locomotive that have
run 1.8x (1=£10%) million kilometers and no more than 10 years.

According to the “Regulations on the Operation and Maintenance of Railway Passenger
Carriages” (#I3% 28 & A4S 1R 2) issued by the China Railway Corporation, the
daily operation maintenance and regular repair of passenger carriages are carried
out mainly according to the operating mileage cycle and secondarily the time period
(whichever comes first). The regular maintenance of passenger carriages is divided into
5 levels, namely A1 to A5 maintenance, of which A1 to A3 are minor and segment-level
maintenance, and A4 and A5 are plant maintenance. A4 maintenance applies to the
passenger carriage that has run 2.4 million kilometers or 8 years since it was produced (or
last A5 maintenance). A5 maintenance applies to the passenger carriage that has run 4.8
million kilometers or 8 years since last A4 maintenance.

According to the “Regulations on the Plant Maintenance of Railway Freight Wagons”
(# Pk BB RIS RTR) and other documents promulgated by China Railway, the
management of the freight wagon is divided into segment-level maintenance and
plant maintenance. The segment-level maintenance of railway freight wagons is carried
out according to the vehicle operation time. A segment-level maintenance cycle could
be 1 year, 1.5 years or 2 years. The plant maintenance is generally carried out according
to the vehicle operation time (plant maintenance cycles). Depending on the vehicle
model, the plant maintenance cycles range from 5 to 9 years, and several segment-level
maintenances are arranged between two plant maintenances.
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Urban rail According to the vehicle repair program and maintenance cycle for urban rail transit
transit vehicles vehicles provided in the “State Standard of the People’s Republic of China (GB50157-
2013): Code for the Design of Metro” (7 ZE A R F 1Bl B ZKIZZE (GB50157-2013):4h
R TR &8), the maintenance of urban rail transit vehicles can be classified as general
overhaul, intermediate maintenance and periodical maintenance. The general overhaul
applies to vehicles that have run 1.2 million kilometers or 10 years, the intermediate
maintenance applies to vehicles that have run 0.6 million kilometers or 5 years, and the
periodical maintenance applies to vehicles that have run 0.15 million kilometers or 1.25
years.

(IV)  Analysis of investment

1. Overall analysis of external equity investment

As at the end of the reporting period, the Company’s long-term equity investment was RMB13,766 million,
representing an increase of RMB2,552 million or 22.76% as compared to the beginning of the year. It was mainly
because there were additional investment in joint ventures and associated enterprises of RMB1.879 billion. In
addition, the long-term equity investment increased RMB0.407 million resulting from the change of subsidiaries
to joint ventures or associates. For details, please refer to Notes 21 and 22 to the financial statements prepared
in accordance with IFRSs set out in this annual report.

(1)  Significant equity investment

There was no significant equity investment during the reporting period.

(2)  Significant non-equity investment

There was no significant non-equity investment during the reporting period.

(3)  Financial assets measured at fair value

For details, please refer to “Report of Directors - B. Management Discnssion and Analysis - Il. Major
operation results during the reporting period -(Il) Analysis of the structure and changes of major assets
and liabilities of the Company during the reporting period-2. Information on assets measured at fair
value” in this annual report.

(V)  Significant sale of assets and equity

There were no significant assets and equity sales during the reporting period.
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accordance with PRC GAAP)

Analysis of major companies controlled or invested in by the Company (financial data in this table was prepared in

Net profit
Netassetsat  from January
theendof  to December
the period 2018
attributable  attributable Operating
to the tothe Revenue  Profit from
Total assets ~ shareholders shareholders from January January to
Company Registered  at the end of of the ofthe  toDecember December
name Product and scope of main business capital  theperiod ~ Company  Company 2018 2018
CRRC Design, manufacturing, repair, sale and lease of 5807947 55117297 17361038 2523883 34258852 2,836,909
Changchun  passenger carriages, multiple units, urban rail
transit vehicles and the accessories thereof, a
well as related technical services and technical
consultancy etc.
CRRCSifang  R&D and manufacturing of multiple units, 4071272 51,947,933 14,578,881 2357041 41,706,505 2,698,881
passenger carriages and urban rail transit
vehicles; and repair services for multiple units
and high-end passenger carriages etc.
CRRC Manufacturing of railway transportation 3990000 24274474 10577867 1401426 17867791 1692425
Tangshan equipment; sale and lease of railway vehicles,
electric multiple units, diesel multiple units,
maglev trains, special vehicles, test vehicles,
urban rail transit vehicles and accessories thereof;
and technical consulting services etc.
(CRRC R&D and manufacturing of electric locomotives, 4858336 28,742,904 8392145 1,119,868 21,750,335 1,231,975
Zhuzhou multiple units and urban rail transit vehicles etc.
CRRCZELRI Research and manufacturing on electric drive 8340,710 51,317,989 16,727,183 941,323 29,508,584 2,295,245

and control technologies related to rail transit
and relevant electrical equipment; and research
and development and manufacturing of railway
locomotives and accessories thereof etc.
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Use of proceeds

A shares

As approved by the “Reply in relation to the Approval of CRRC Corporation Limited for Non-public Issuance
of Shares” (CSRC Permit No. [2016]3203) by CSRC, the Company non-publicly issued 1,410,105,755 ordinary
shares (A shares) to specific objects at an issue price of RMB8.51 per share in January 2017 with total proceeds
of RMB12.000 billion. After deducting cost of issue of RMB66 million, the net proceeds were RMB11.934 billion.
As at 31 December 2018, the Company had utilized RMB10.427 billion of the proceeds from the non-public
issuance of the A shares. The specific usage is as follows: (1) RMB5.934 billion was applied to replenish working
capital to satisfy requirement of production and operation; and (2) RMB4.493 billion was applied to repay
interest-bearing liabilities, in line with the previous disclosed usage of the proceeds. As at 31 December 2018, it
is expected that the remaining balance of proceeds of RMB1.507 billion, which have been temporarily applied
to replenish working capital, will be applied to repay interest-bearing liabilities, of RMB1.507 billion by 2020,
which is in line with the use of proceeds as previously disclosed,

H shares

As approved by the “Reply in relation to the Approval of China CNR Corporation Limited to Issue Overseas
Listed Foreign Shares” (CSRC Permit No. [2014] 404) issued by CSRC, CNR issued through its public offering
1,939,724,000 (including over-allotment) overseas listed foreign shares (H shares) in May 2014 and the proceeds
raised totaled HKD10.028 billion. As at 31 December 2018, the proceeds of H shares and used by the Company
in aggregate were approximately HKD10.060 billion, the actual use is as follows: to increase capital contribution
of approximately HKD6.640 billion into subsidiaries, to replenish its working capital and repay bank loans of
approximately HKD3.157 billion, to finance the product research and development expense of approximately
HKD60 million and to pay issuance costs of approximately HKD203 million, which are in line with use of
proceeds disclosed previously. As of 31 December 2018, interest of bank deposits received for the proceeds
from issuance of H shares amounted to HKD115 million in total and proceeds not yet used by the Company
raised through issuance of H shares, plus interests thereon accrued, amounted to HKD83 million, which is
expected to be used to replenish the working capital of RMB83 million by 2020, in line with the use of proceeds
as disclosed previously.

On 5 February 2016, the Company issued H Share convertible bonds in an aggregate amount of US$600
million. The net proceeds of such issuance were approximately US$595.80 million. As at 31 December
2018, the Company used approximately US$562.42 million of such proceeds for the following purposes: (1)
approximately US$92.62 million for the repayment of bank loans, (2) approximately US$56.00 million for equity
investment, and (3) approximately US$413.80 million for the business operation needs of CRRC Hong Kong
Capital Management Co., Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which was in line with the
use of proceeds disclosed previously. As at 31 December 2018, the Company received a deposit interest of
approximately US$10.81 million in respect of the proceeds from the issuance of the H Share convertible bonds
and the balance of the proceeds was approximately US33.38 million, which is expected to be used to satisfy the
Company's requirements of production and international operations, of US$33.38 million by 2020 including but
not limited to adjusting the debt structure, increasing the capital of subsidiaries, replenishing working capital
and making project investments, etc. Such balance may also be used by the Company in or out of the PRC at
its discretion in light of actual situation, which was in line with the use of proceeds disclosed previously. Please
refer to the section headed “Significant Events - VI. Information on the Convertible Corporate Bonds” in this
annual report for details of the Company's H Share convertible bonds.
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Discussion and analysis on the Company'’s future development

U}

Landscape and trend of the industry

Macro policy

Internationally, in light of the complex global political and economic landscape, the global order is going
through a new round of development, change and adjustment in a large scale, which has brought impact
on the international operation of enterprises. The Great Power diplomacy with Chinese characteristics has
attracted widespread attention of the world, and the promotion of the “One Belt One Road" initiative lays solid
development foundation for boosting the growth of global economy and deepening the regional cooperation,
creates convenient connection conditions and provides a broad market space for international capacity
cooperation and going global of high-end equipment.

Domestically, China's current economy has shifted from the stage of high-speed growth to a stage of high-
quality development. As the central government focuses on deepening reform and further opening up to
enhance the economic development quality, efficiency and growth momentum with the supply-side structural
reform as the main line, it is even more urgent for enterprises to improve quality and efficiency, and achieve
transformation and upgrading. As a model of high-end equipment manufacturing industry, CRRC should
emphasize on improving development quality and efficiency, and take reform, innovation and integration as
the driving force to deepen supply-side structural reform, accelerate innovation, expedite the implementation
of strategy of “going global”, achieve high-quality development and secure good development opportunities.

Industry policy

Internationally, with the increasingly intensified reform of the rail transit industry and the restructuring and
integration of global industry giants, the industry competition landscape has changed profoundly and the
competition has become increasingly fierce. Domestically, the rail transit equipment market, construction of
main line railways, and railway operation rights have been fully liberalized, and foreign investment thresholds
have been further reduced. Numerous new entrants of the industry rushed into the rail transit industry, resulting
in an increasingly fierce market competition. At the same time, with the continuous reform of railway passenger
transport and freight transportation, modern integrated transportation system undergoing rapid construction,
diversified demand for urban rail transit vehicles, users have higher requirements for the applicability, safety,
reliability and comfort of rail transit equipment products. As the world’s largest and most diverse rolling stock
supplier with advanced technologies and a model of high-end equipment manufacturing industry, CRRC has
been faced with new development opportunities. CRRC should be market-oriented and customer-centric
to optimize business structure, establish and improve the service system with full life cycle, accelerate the
transformation of “manufacturing + service”, provide customers with more valuable products and services, and
make contributions to realize the dream of strong manufacturing country and strong transportation country
power leveraging on “CRRC Wisdom" and “CRRC Power".
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Industrial investment planning

In respect of international market, due to lack of robust driving forces for global economy, international rail
transit equipment market experienced slow growth. In the next few years, the capacity of the global railway
vehicles market is expected to grow by an average rate of approximately 2.2% and reach EUR134.0 billion by
2020. In domestic market, according to the “Medium to Long-term Railway Network Plan” and “13th Five-Year
Plan for the Development of Modern Comprehensive Transportation System”, railway mileage in operation and
high-speed rail mileage will increase from 121,000 km and 19,000 km in 2015 to 150,000 km and 30,000 km in
2020, urban rail transit mileage will increase from 3,300 km in 2015 to 6,000 km in 2020. In order to enhance
development quality and improve the overall communication and transportation efficiency, the State Council
issued “The Three-Year Plan for Promoting Transportation Structure Adjustment (2018-2020)" in 2018, which
requires that, by 2020, the national railway transportation volume shall increase 1.1 billion tons or 30% as
compared with 3.69 billion tons in 2017. In 2019, investments in railway fixed assets shall remain stable in size
and scale with 6,800 km railway lines being put into operation. China Railway implemented three measures
of “Fuxinghao” brand strategy, enhancing the quality of passenger transport and increasing amount freight
wagon business in three years to promote the high-quality development of railway equipment industry.
According to the report published at the official website of China Railway, in 2018, investments of railway
fixed assets nationwide amounted to RMB802.8 billion, of which RMB760.3 billion was contributed by National
Railway Administration. Newly increased investments amounted to RMB338.2 billion with 4,683 km of new
railway lines being put into operation, of which 4,100 km were high-speed railway lines. By the end of 2018, the
national railway mileage in operation exceeded 131,000 km, of which high-speed rail mileage exceeded 29,000
km. Passengers and cargos transport recorded significant growth. In 2018, the total number of passengers
transported by railways across the country reached 3.37 billion, representing an increase of 290 million or 9.4%
year on year, of which 2.005 billion were transported by EMUs, representing an increase of 16.8% year on year.
The total volume of cargos delivered by railways nationwide was 4.022 billion tons, representing an increase
of 334 million tons or 9.1% year on year. The construction of urban rail transit has been accelerating step by
step. In 2018, the newly built urban rail transit in China reached 870 kilometers, exceeding 800 kilometers for
two consecutive years. The domestic demand for rail transit equipment will remain relatively stable in the next
three years. Faced with the new situation and new requirements, CRRC will seize opportunities, accelerate
innovation, and strive to build green transportation, safe transportation, intelligent transportation, convenient
transportation, tourism transportation and valuable transportation, so as to achieve high-quality development
and contribute to the construction of modern comprehensive transportation system in China.

The Company continuously keeps abreast of the international and domestic political and economic situation
and dynamics, and industry development trends, to study and make judgement on the market demand. The
Company will meet the existing market demand based on the model of “limit production to sales” to ensure
the timely delivery and safe operation of major products. By sticking to supply-side structural reform and
capturing the strategic opportunities of “One Belt One Road", construction of national railway network and
urban rail transit, adjustment of transportation structure, the Company will continuously strengthen innovation,
rationalize allocation of resources, optimize product structure, and make innovations in business model to
provide more intelligent, efficient, environmental-protection and reliable rail transit equipment and systematic
solutions with full life cycle, and achieve the win-win results with stakeholders.
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Development strategies of the Company

The strategic planning for the “13th Five-Year” period: the Company will adhere to new development concepts,
adhere to making progress while maintaining stability, adhere to the problem-orientated approach, fulfill the
requirements of high-quality development, and reformation, innovation, integration as the dynamics, take the path of
internationalization, diversification, high-end development, digitalization and coordination, coordinate the efforts to
maintain stable growth, make structural adjustments, increase dynamics, improve quality, control risks and strengthen
party building, continue to enhance endogenous power and development ability, so as to achieve higher quality,
more efficient and more sustainable development and lay a solid foundation for realizing the strategic goal of “two
builds, one develop (EEFTHE—1EF) "

1. Railway equipment business

The Company will implement the strategy of strong transportation country, take the mission of equipment
support, with becoming a world-class provider of systematic solutions for rail transportation equipment as the
goal, strengthen the research of basic, prospective, common and key technologies, so as to form the driving
force of the leadership of supporting technologies and continuous innovation of products, as well as build a
systematic, modular and standardized product technology platform. Efforts will be made to consolidate our
leading position in the industry and our strengths, actively adapt to changes in the domestic and international
transport market and technological trends, accelerate the railway passenger and freight transport technology,
product and service model innovation, and actively respond to the challenges of new technologies, new
industry, new business forms and new business modes, so as to provide strong equipment support for building
safe, convenient, economic, efficient, green and intelligent transportation system. The Company will strengthen
the research on China's railway market-oriented reform and seize opportunities such as “road to railway” and
the three-year action plan for freight increment, promote manufacturing + service transformation, endeavour
to support the transformation and upgrade of rail transport enterprises and the construction of an integrated
transportation system. The Company will serve the national strategies, such as “One Belt One Road" initiative,
“international capacity cooperation” and “going global”, and establish a global business collaboration platform
to promote the transition from providing a single product to providing a complete set of solutions for products,
technologies and services, improve the quality of “going global” and expedite the “going into” pace.

2. Urban rail transit vehicle and urban infrastructure business

The Company will grasp opportunities from new urbanization, actively respond to the challenge of an open
market, expedite the development and innovations in urban rail vehicles, and continue to upgrade product
structure, enhance the abilities of life service and systematic solution, and firmly occupy the domestic market
and continuously expand the international market with its high quality products and services. The Company
will standardize the development of PPP and BOT business of urban rail at home and abroad, give a full play
to its comprehensive advantages in equipment manufacturing, business portfolio and the combination of
industry and finance, strengthen strategic cooperation and leverage social resources, accelerate the formation
of its general contracting capability for mechanical and electrical integration focusing on key systems and
components such as vehicle and traction electric drive, brake, signal, etc, develop its general contracting
capability for urban infrastructure construction projects with the focus on project management and its general
contracting capability for operation services with the characteristics of “CRRC” and continue to strengthen the
urban rail transit vehicle and urban infrastructure business.
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New industry business

By implementing new development concepts, taking strategic emerging industries, especially high-end
equipment manufacturing industry as the main direction, the Company will leverage the core capacities of
rolling stock equipment to vigorously develop the related multi-businesses, such as new energy, new materials,
ecological environmental protection and industrial Internet business, cultivate and develop new momentum
of growth, and create a new engine for the industry. With a focus on mechanical and electrical products, such
as key systems and important parts, the Company will create the supporting businesses with strong core
technologies and wide range of applications, focus on the upstream and downstream of the technology chain
and industry chain, intelligent and digital business, make the cultivation business with good growth and strong
leadership, accelerate the cultivation of a business cluster in which we have outstanding core ability, leading
industry position, endeavour to become a leader in the international and domestic industries. The Company
will implement the development strategy of convergence of military and civil sectors, expand the application
of technologies and products, focus on the key tasks including constructing a green and smart city, building a
beautiful ecological environment, developing high-end high-tech industries, and building a fast and efficient
transportation network in Xiong'an New Area, actively promote high-tech business to enter into Xiong'an and
serve Xiong'an.

Modern service business

According to the requirements of “strengthening real economy”, the Company will adhere to the “integration of
industry and finance and enhancing production with financing”, strengthen overall planning and coordination,
focus on risk control, standardize and build the financial service platform, investment and financing platform
and financial leasing platform, boost the integrated development of manufacturing industry and service
industry, and promote the rapid development of the core businesses of rail transportation. The Company
will explore Internet + service, expedite the construction of supply chain service platform, develop intelligent
logistics, expand supply chain trading and promote the standardized development of modern logistics service
business.

International business

The Company will strengthen plans from the top, formulate the special development plan and implementation
scheme for the market development of the countries along “One Belt One Road”, take an active part in the
construction of “One Belt One Road’, and create a new pattern for opening up and development of “going
global”. According to the idea that the complete equipment drives components, manufacturing industry drives
service industry, general contracting drives industry chain and rail transit equipment drives non-rail transit
equipment, the Company will expand overseas markets, strengthen the plans from the top of offshore presence,
increase the investment and integration on international businesses, set up international business platform
companies, build a global, centralized, coordinated marketing and regional management system, strengthen
the construction of overseas R&D centres, strengthen brand development and promotion, strive to play a role
in industry organization and standard system, enhance industry influence and voice, and enhance international
competitiveness. In accordance with the concept of “light assets, emphasis on efficiency and sustainable
development”, the Company will carry out Greenfield investment, strategic mergers and acquisitions, joint-
venture operation, promote the total-factor business mode of “product + technology + service + capital +
management”, promote the five-local model, and speed up the transformation from domestic to international
market, from “going out” to “going in” and from a domestic enterprise to a multinational company.
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Operation plans

2018 was a year between the preceding and the following for CRRC to implement its “13th Five-Year” strategy.
With the theme of “quality, efficiency and momentum”, the Company formulated its operation plans for the year of
2018 under the guidance of “13156" working idea and made full use of the driving forces of “innovation, reform and
integration” to establish a respected international company in new era. In view of the increasing demand for railway
equipment business, the Company adhered to the fine tradition of CRRC to effectively respond to changes in internal
and external business environment, and achieved stable growth in operating results through the concerted efforts of
all the staff.

In 2019, in view of the macro-economic situation, the Company set its primary goal target to ensure the stability of
operating income and net profits attributable to owners of the parent company with a light increase. The Company
will stick to the goals of “coordination, shoring up weakness and improving quality”, establish mechanisms of “strategic
control, resource synergy, risk control, joint construction and sharing, and incentives and constraints”, form an
integration of “comprehensive budget management, technology innovation, information management, global talent
training, supervision and assessment, international control”, and pay close attention to eight priorities of “stabilizing
growth, strengthening management, improving ability, preventing risks, cultivating driving forces, prioritizing
innovation, promoting quality, and branding” to endeavour to reinforce operation management, enhance corporate
governance and expedite international operation to ensure the stability of its operation and efficiency with a slight
increase and lay a solid foundation for achieving the strategic goal of “two builds, one develop (83T —155&)".

Potential risks

1. Risks related to product quality

In the railway market, a “trinity” safety guarantee mechanism covering related personnel, materials and
technologies have been earnestly constructed by major clients to ensure railway safety, thus posed higher
standards for the safety and reliability of rail transportation product quality and constituted more challenges
for companies which not only continuously improves the product portfolio but also continues to strengthen
technological innovations.

Responding measures: First, established a science and technology quality department to monitor quality risks;
second, established and improved quality management system and monitored the certification and effective
operation of the system; third, established an after-sale service management standard system to regulate the
management works of after-sale service; and fourth, reinforced supplier qualification management works to
detect and eliminate hidden risks relating to product quality and conduct quality control from sources.

2. Policy risks

Changes in the market access policies in the rail transportation equipment manufacturing business, urban
rail transportation industry policies and industrial policies in emerging industries may lead to a number of
uncertainties in the market environment and development space, bringing risks for strategies and operations of
the Company.

Responding measures: Timely collect information related to the industrial policy or industrial planning; conduct
proper studies on policy and trend and positively deal with possible changes in policies and plans; strengthen
internal management; improve operation and management standards of the Company; reduce operation
costs; endeavour to improve the efficiency of operations and enhance ability to mitigate policy risks.
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Market risks

Domestic market risks: with the railway passenger and freight transportation reform, as well as product structure
adjustment and optimization, the demand in market may face structural adjustments.

Responding measures: Proactively communicate with major clients; collect information relating to domestic
economy, politics and the industry, etc. timely; conduct proper studies of market trends; transform the
development model, extend the industrial chain, provide industrial value-added services, optimize the industrial
structure of the Company and expand new business models, etc. so as to mitigate these risks.

International market risks: The international political and economic situations are extremely complex, with
increasing restrictions brought by trade protectionism and slow economic recovery. The international market
will manifest more uncertain factors beyond control. The promotion of “internationalization” strategy of the
Company will bring about additional market and operation risks in overseas market at the same time.

Responding measures: Make fine plans from the top; scientifically plan the medium to long term development
path for internationalization; improve the management system for international businesses and strengthen
the research and practice of worldwide corporate governance structure, multinational management control
models and overseas companies' management; improve the competitiveness of the headquarters and enhance
multinational operation capability. Proactively communicate with customers to understand customer needs in
depth; strengthen market research and give full play to the Company’s advantages in its products, costs and
technology; leverage on global resources to provide systematic solutions and value-added services for clients.
Promote the five-local model in depth, expand its overseas business scale and promote the internationalization
of CRRC rapidly and orderly with precise targets, thus achieving full internationalization of CRRC.

Risks related to industrial structure adjustment

Due to historical reasons, parts of the sectors in the rail transportation business of the Company have
overcapacity problems and are facing industrial structure adjustment. A number of factors including
connectivity to the industry, industry base, technological conditions and resource sufficiency posed various
difficulties and risks for the industrial structure transformation of the Company.

Responding measures: The Company has established a special institution to research on the reform plan in the
rail transportation sector. According to the principle of adopting different strategies for different sectors and
through methods including business restructuring, capacity shrinking, inspire the dynamisms of the Company,
gradually build a structure of resource sharing and a win-win mutual development, and continue to optimize
the deployment of rail transportation resources, thus achieving the maximization of resource efficiency and
interests of the Company.

Exchange rate risks

With the accelerated pace of internationalization of the Company, the Company continued to increase product
exports, overseas investments, mergers and acquisitions and other activities, which may trigger various risks
due to fluctuations in exchange rate. For example, some overseas product projects of the Company are
settled in non-major currencies. It is difficult to achieve natural hedging of exchange rate risks due to the
mismatch of currencies. Hedge method is subject to the uncertain foreign exchange collection time. We
may suffer significant foreign exchange loss due to the turbulent international financial environment and the
unpredictable exchange rate trend. Exchange rate fluctuations may result in the risk of changes in the value of
overseas enterprises.

Responding measures: The Company closely followed the trend of fluctuation exchange rate, strengthened
relevant personnel’'s awareness of risk prevention, established an exchange rate risk prevention mechanism,
adopt different currency transactions and so on, and used financial hedging instruments to deal with exchange
rate risks.
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IV. Proposal for profit distribution or transfer of capital reserve to share capital

U}
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Formulation, execution or adjustment of cash dividend policy

After the establishment of CRRC, the Company has formulated and perfected relevant contents of profit distribution in
the Articles of Association. According to the spirit of “positively returning to shareholders’, the Company has regulated
rules, policies, basic requirements, decisions and adjustment procedures for profit distribution, clarified specific ratio of
cash dividend, which fully protects the legal rights of medium to small investors.

On 28 March 2018, the Company held the 33rd meeting of the first session of the Board, pursuant to which the 2017
Proposal for Profit Distribution Plan of CRRC was considered and approved to distribute cash dividend of RMBO.15 (tax
interaction libation) per share to all shareholders based on the total share capital of the Company of 28,698,864,088
shares. On 31 May 2018, the proposal was approved at the 2017 general meeting. On 16 July 2018, the 2017 Proposal
for Profit Distribution Plan was implemented.

On 28 March 2019, the Company held the 9th meeting of the second session of the Board, at which the 2018
Proposal for Profit Distribution Plan of CRRC was considered and approved to distribute cash dividend of RMBO0.15 (tax
inclusive) per share to all shareholders based on the total share capital of the Company of 28,698,864,088 shares on
31 December 2018. The proposal is subject to the consideration and approval by shareholders at 2018 annual general
meeting.

If the proposal for profit distribution mentioned above is considered and approved by the general meeting of the
Company, it is expected that the Company will pay dividends in cash on or before 15 August 2019. When the specific
time is determined for convening the general meeting, the Company will make a separate announcement on further
details regarding the closure of the registration of members of the H Shares and the expected cash dividend payment
date, if updated, in respect of the relevant dividend distribution.

Final or preliminary plans about distribution of profits from common share or about conversion of capital
reserve into share capital made by the Company during the recent three years (including the reporting
period)

Unit: thousand Currency: RMB

Net profits
attributable  Percentage
toordinary  of net profits
shareholders attributable
of thelisted  to ordinary
Company shareholders

Number contained  of the listed

of shares in the Company

Dividends converted consolidated contained

Number of distributed for from capital financial inthe

bonus shares each 10shares  reservefor ~ Amountof  statements consolidated

givenforeach  held (RMB) each10  cashbonus forthe year of financial

Year of distribution 10 shares held (taxinclusive) sharesheld (taxinclusive) distribution statements (%)
2018 — 15 — 430,483 1,130,504 38
2017 — 15 — 430483 1,079,856 40

2016 — 21 — 602,676 1,129,560 53
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Tax and Tax Relief

In accordance with the revised Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China and its implementation rules
which became effective on 29 December 2018, and the circular on Issues Relating to the Withholding of Enterprise Income
tax for Dividends Distributed by Resident Enterprises in China to Non-resident Enterprises Holding H Shares issued by the
State Administration of Taxation (Guo Shui Han [2008] no. 897), enterprise income tax shall be withheld at a rate of 10% when
the Company pays final dividends to non-resident enterprises whose names appear on the register of H shareholders of the
Company. The enterprise income tax shall be withheld for the dividends of any H shares under the names of non-individual
shareholders (any H shares of the company registered in the name of HKSCC Nominees Limited, other nominees and
trustees, or other organizations and institutions, shall be deemed as shares held by non-resident enterprise shareholders).

According to Guo Shui Han [2011] No. 348 issued by the State administration of Taxation, the Company shall withhold and
pay individual income tax for dividend payable to individual H shareholders. Individual H shareholders are entitled to the
relevant preferential tax treatment pursuant to the provisions in the tax agreements between the countries where they
are residents and China or the tax arrangements between mainland China and Hong Kong (Macau). If the individual H
shareholders are Hong Kong or Macau residents or residents of the countries having an agreed dividend tax rate of 10% with
China, the Company shall withhold and pay the individual income tax at a rate of 10%. Should the individual H shareholders
be residents of the countries having an agreed dividend tax rate of less than 10% with China, the Company would apply
for entitlement of the relevant agreed preferential tax treatment on their behalf in accordance with the “Notice of the State
Administration of Taxation in relation to the Administrative Measures on Preferential Treatment Entitled by Non-residents
under Tax Treaties (Tentative)” (Guo Shui Fa [2009] no. 124) ( BEIR B2 RN ENEEERZXHIMIHB A FBEE
POEEIT)>HBR A (BREE£[2009]124%%)). Should the individual H shareholders be residents of the countries having an
agreed dividend tax rate exceeding 10% but lower than 20% with China, the Company shall withhold and pay the individual
income tax at the actual agreed rate. In the cases of individual H shareholders who are residents of countries having not
entered into any tax agreement with China or otherwise, the Company shall withhold and pay the individual income tax at a
rate of 20%.

Under current practice of the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department, no tax is payable in Hong Kong in respect of
dividends paid by the Company.

Shareholders of the company are subject to tax and/or enjoy tax relief in accordance with the aforementioned regulations.

Connected Transactions

()] Non-exempt connected transactions

1. Establishment of the Financial Leasing Company

On 23 December 2015, 16 June 2016 and 23 January 2017, respectively, the Company entered into a capital
contribution agreement with CRRCG and other related parties to establish the Financial Leasing Company.
During the preparation process of establishing the Financial Leasing Company, as some contracting parties
exited the establishment of the Financial Leasing Company due to policy reasons, the Company adjusted the
plan for the establishment of the Financial Leasing Company. On 7 March 2018, the Company reentered into a
capital contribution agreement (the “2018 Capital Contribution Agreement”) with CRRCG and Tianjin Trust
Co,, Ltd. ("Tianjin Trust") to establish the Financial Leasing Company by contributing capital in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the 2018 Capital Contribution Agreement. The registered capital of the Financial
Leasing Company is RMB3 billion, among which the Company shall contribute RMB2.43 billion in cash to the
registered capital, CRRCG shall contribute RMB270 million to the registered capital in cash and Tianjin Trust shall
contribute RMB300 million to the registered capital in cash. Upon completion of the transaction, the equity
interests of the Financial Leasing Company will be held as to 81%, 9% and 10% by the Company, CRRCG and

Tianjin Trust, respectively.

The establishment of the Financial Leasing Company is expected to be beneficial in facilitating the
implementation of the industrial and financial strategies of the Company, assist with the development of the
main business and enhance the core competitiveness of the Company.
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On 7 March 2018, CRRCG is a controlling shareholder of the Company holding, directly and indirectly, 55.63%
equity interests of the Company and is thus a connected person of the Company under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules. The establishment of the Financial Leasing Company constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under the Hong Kong Listing Rules. Since all applicable percentage ratios in respect of the transaction
exceed 0.1% but are less than 5%, the transaction is subject to the annual reporting and announcement
requirements, but is exempt from shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong
Listing Rules.

For details of the above transaction, please refer to the connected transaction announcements dated 23
December 2015, 16 June 2016, 23 January 2017 and 7 March 2018 published by the Company on the website
of Stock Exchange.

Participation in capital increase of Hunan CRRC Times Electric Vehicle Co., Ltd.

On 11 May 2018, CRRC ZELRI, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and CRRC GROUP, Sany Group Co,,
Ltd. ("Sany Group”), Hunan Hi-Tech Venture Capital Holdings Limited (47 = ¥ E X E £ E B R A7) (Hi-
Tech Venture"), Xiao Keng and Deng Pengtu entered into the Agreement on the Increase in Capital of Hunan
CRRC Times Electric Vehicle Co, Ltd,, pursuant to which CRRC ZELRI, CRRC GROUP, Sany Group, Hi-Tech Venture,
Xiao Keng and Deng Pengtu agreed to participate in the capital increase of Hunan CRRC Times Electric Vehicle
Co,, Ltd. ("Times Electric Vehicle") according to their respective current shareholding percentage. The amount
of capital increase under the Agreement amounted to RMB3 billion in total, of which CRRC ZELRI contributed
RMB1, 091,049,157.09 in cash.

The capital increase is beneficial for Times Electric Vehicle to mitigate its shortage of funding and improve its
capital structure, thereby enhancing its market competitiveness and sustainable development capabilities.

On 11 May 2018, CRRC GROUP is a controlling Shareholder holding, directly and indirectly, 55.63% equity
interests of the Company and is a connected person of the Company under the Hong Kong Listing Rules.
ZELRI'is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Therefore, the entering into of the Agreement by CRRC
ZELRI with CRRC GROUP, Sany Group, Hi-Tech Venture, Xiao Keng and Deng Pengtu constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules. As the highest applicable size
test percentage ratio calculated according to the Hong Kong Listing Rules exceeds 0.1% but is lower than 5%,
the Transaction is subject to reporting and announcement requirements but is exempt from independent
Shareholders" approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

For details of the above transaction, please refer to the connected transaction announcement dated 11 May
2018 published by the Company on the website of the Stock Exchange.

Transfer of equity interest in CRRC Beijing Ergi Locomotive Co., Ltd.

On 24 August 2018, the Company and CRRC GROUP entered into an equity transfer agreement, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to sell and CRRC GROUP agreed to acquire the 100% equity interest in CRRC Beijing
Ergi Locomotive Co., Ltd. ("Ergi Locomotive”) held by the Company at a consideration of RMB407,520,900.
After completion of the Transaction, CRRC GROUP will hold 100% equity interest in Ergi Locomotive, and Ergi

Locomotive will cease to be a subsidiary of the Company.

The transaction is an initiative of the Company to implement the nation’s policy of easing the non-capital
city functions of Beijing; it is a significant strategic initiative to deepen the reforms of the Company, and to
drive business restructuring and production capacity reduction of the Company's certain businesses such as
locomotive business, which is conducive to optimizing the internal resources allocation of the Company.

As at 24 August 2018, CRRC GROUP is the controlling shareholder of the Company holding, directly and
indirectly, 53.03% of the shares of the Company, and is therefore a connected person of the Company under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules. Therefore, the entering into of the Agreement between the Company and CRRC
GROUP constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing
Rules.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.81 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, the Transaction under the Agreement shall be
aggregated with the relevant previous transactions. Following the aggregation, as the highest applicable
size test percentage ratio calculated according to the Hong Kong Listing Rules exceeds 0.1% but is lower
than 5%, the Transaction shall be subject to reporting and announcement requirements but is exempt from
independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

For details of the above transaction, please refer to the connected transaction announcement dated 24 August
2018 published by the Company on the website of the Stock Exchange.

Transfer of equity interest in Zhejiang CRRC Electric Vehicle Co., Ltd.

On 28 September 2018, CRRC Zhuzhou entered into an equity transfer agreement with Times Electric
Vehicle and CRRC Zhuzhou Electric Locomotive Industry Management Co,, Ltd. ("CRRC Zhuzhou Industry”),
respectively. Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement entered into between CRRC Zhuzhou and Times
Electric Vehicle, CRRC Zhuzhou agreed to sell and Times Electric Vehicle agreed to acquire 41% equity interest
in Zhejiang CRRC Electric Vehicle Co,, Ltd. ("Zhejiang Electric Vehicle") at a consideration of RMB89,867,500.
Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement entered into between CRRC Zhuzhou and CRRC Zhuzhou Industry,
CRRC Zhuzhou agreed to sell and CRRC Zhuzhou Industry agreed to acquire 10% equity interest in Zhejiang
Electric Vehicle at a consideration of RMB21,918,900. After completion of the transactions, CRRC Zhuzhou will
cease to hold any equity interest in Zhejiang Electric Vehicle, and Zhejiang Electric Vehicle will cease to be a
subsidiary of the Company.

New energy automobiles industry is largely subject to the influence of policies. Among the industry, the
accounts receivables are of significant amount with relatively long repayment terms and the proportion of
funds employed is considerably large with demand of substantial capital input for subsequent development.
Therefore, this transaction is beneficial for the Company in terms of placing focus on its core businesses such as
rail transportation and is in line with the future development orientation of the Company.

On 28 September 2018, CRRC GROUP is the controlling shareholder of the Company holding, directly and
indirectly, 53.03% of the shares of the Company, and is therefore a connected person of the Company under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules. CRRC Zhuzhou is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, while Times Electric
Vehicle and CRRC Zhuzhou Industry are subsidiaries of CRRC GROUP. Therefore, entering into the Equity
Transfer Agreement with Times Electric Vehicle and CRRC Zhuzhou Industry respectively by CRRC Zhuzhou
constitute connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.81 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, the Transactions shall be aggregated with the relevant
Previous Transactions. Following the aggregation, as the highest of the applicable size test percentage ratios
calculated according to the Hong Kong Listing Rules exceeds 0.1% but is lower than 5%, the Transactions are
subject to reporting and announcement requirements but are exempted from the requirement of independent
shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

For details of the above transaction, please refer to the connected transaction announcement dated 28
September 2018 published by the Company on the website of the Stock Exchange.

Transfer of land use right

On 28 September 2018, CRRC Lanzhou Co., Ltd. ("CRRC Lanzhou"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the Equity Transfer Contract with Lanzhou Zhongqging Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
(‘Lanzhou Zhongqing"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the CRRC GROUP. Pursuant to which CRRC Lanzhou
agreed to transfer the land use right of a plot of land in Lanzhou (“Target Assets”) to Lanzhou Zhongging at a
consideration of approximately RMB1,343,299,200.

CRRC Lanzhou will be able to obtain funds to support its new plant construction and daily operation by
transferring the Target Assets to Lanzhou Zhongging.
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On 28 September 2018, CRRC GROUP is a controlling shareholder holding, directly and indirectly, 53.03% of
the shares of the Company, thus a connected person of the Company under the Hong Kong Listing Rules.
CRRC Lanzhou is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Lanzhou Zhongging is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRRC GROUP, therefore the transfer of the Target Assets by CRRC Lanzhou to Lanzhou Zhongging
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.81 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, the Transaction should be aggregated with the
relevant previous transaction. Following the aggregation, as the highest of the applicable size test percentage
ratios calculated pursuant to the Hong Kong Listing Rules exceeds 0.1% but is less than 5%, the Transaction is
subject to annual reporting and announcement requirements but is exempt from independent Shareholders'
approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

For details of the above transaction, please refer to the connected transaction announcement dated 28
September 2018 published by the Company on the website of the Stock Exchange.

Transfer of equity interest in Tianjin CRRC Jinpu Industrial Park Management Co., Ltd.

On 11 December 2018, Tianjin CRRC Equipment Co,, Ltd. (“Tianjin Equipment”) entered into the Equity Transfer
Contract with CRRC Real Estate Co., Ltd. ("CRRC Real Estate”). Pursuant to the contract, Tianjin Equipment
agreed to sell and CRRC Real Estate agreed to acquire 51% equity interest in Tianjin CRRC Jinpu Industrial Park
Management Co,, Ltd. (“Tianjin Jinpu Industrial Park’) at a consideration of RMB275,000,200. After completion

of the transaction, CRRC Real Estate will hold 51% equity interest in Tianjin Jinpu Industrial Park, and Tianjin
Jinpu Industrial Park will cease to be a subsidiary of the Company.

This transaction will help Tianjin Equipment to improve its asset structure and cash flow, therefore speeding
up the process of its transformation and upgrade. It will also help the Company to activate its idle assets and
improve operation efficiency.

On 11 December 2018, CRRC GROUP is the controlling shareholder of the Company holding, directly and
indirectly, 51.43% of the shares of the Company, and is therefore a connected person of the Company under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules. Tianjin Equipment is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, while
CRRC Real Estate is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRRC GROUP. Therefore, the entering into of the Equity

Transfer Contract between Tianjin Equipment and CRRC Real Estate constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.81 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, the transaction shall be aggregated with the relevant
previous transactions. Following the aggregation, as the highest of the applicable size test percentage ratios
calculated according to the Hong Kong Listing Rules exceeds 0.1% but is lower than 5%, the Transaction
is subject to annual reporting and announcement requirements but is exempted from the requirement of
independent shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

For details of the above transaction, please refer to the connected transaction announcement dated 11
December 2018 published by the Company on the website of the Stock Exchange.

Transfer of equity interest in Beijing CRRC Nankou Science and Innovation Park Management Co., Ltd.

On 11 December 2018, CRRC Beijing Nankou Co,, Ltd. ("Nankou Company") entered into the Equity Transfer
Contract with CRRC Real Estate. Pursuant to the contract, Nankou Company agreed to sell and CRRC Real Estate
agreed to acquire 70% equity interest in Beijing CRRC Nankou Science and Innovation Park Management Co.,
Ltd. ("Nankou Science and Innovation Park”) at a consideration of RMB428,275,890. After completion of the
Transaction, CRRC Real Estate will hold 70% equity interest in Nankou Science and Innovation Park, and Nankou

Science and Innovation Park will cease to be a subsidiary of the Company.

This transaction will help Nankou Company to improve its asset structure and cash flow, therefore speeding
up the process of its transformation and upgrade. It will also help the Company to activate its idle assets and
improve operation efficiency.
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On 11 December 2018, CRRC GROUP is the controlling shareholder of the Company holding, directly and
indirectly, 51.43% of the shares of the Company, and is therefore a connected person of the Company under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules. Nankou Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, while CRRC Real
Estate is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRRC GROUP. Therefore, the entering into of the Equity Transfer Contract
between Nankou Company and CRRC Real Estate constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.81 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, the transaction shall be aggregated with the relevant
previous transactions. Following the aggregation, as the highest of the applicable size test percentage ratios
calculated according to the Hong Kong Listing Rules exceeds 0.1% but is lower than 5%, the Transaction
is subject to annual reporting and announcement requirements but is exempted from the requirement of
independent shareholders” approval under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

For details of the above transaction, please refer to the connected transaction announcement dated 11
December 2018 published by the Company on the website of the Stock Exchange.

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions

The Product and Service Mutual Provision Framework Agreement entered into between the Company
and CRRCG

On 29 March 2016, the Company and CRRCG entered into the Product and Service Mutual Provision Framework
Agreement, pursuant to which CRRCG and/or its associates will sell raw materials, accessories, components,
packing materials, etc. and provide repairing, training, processing, security and sanitation services to the
Group. The Group will sell raw materials, accessories and energy resource, etc. and provide repairing, training,
processing, greening, security and sanitation services to CRRCG and/or its associates. The agreement has an
effective term from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018. As the agreement will expire on 31 December 2018,
in order to better regulate such continuing connected transactions, the Company and CRRC GROUP renewed
the New Product and Service Mutual Provision Framework Agreement on 26 April 2018. The agreement has an
effective term from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021.

The Company estimates that under the Product and Service Mutual Provision Framework Agreement: (i) the
annual caps for the amounts to be paid by CRRCG and/or its associates for provision of products and services
by the Group for each of the three years ending 31 December 2018 will amount to RMB2,000 million, RMB2,750
million and RMB3,500 million, respectively; and (i) the annual caps for the amounts to be paid by the Group
for provision of products and services by CRRCG and/or its associates for each of the three years ending 31
December 2018 will amount to RMB1,700 million, RMB2,350 million and RMB3,000 million, respectively.

The Company considers that it is in the interest of the Group to enter into the aforesaid transactions with
CRRCG to ensure the stable provision and supply of the products and services of the Company. CRRCG is
familiar with the business needs of the Company and the transactions between the parties, and will therefore
facilitate the internal development of the Group and minimise the associated administrative and transportation
Costs.

CRRCG is the controlling shareholder of the Company, and is thus a connected person of the Company under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Product and Service Mutual Provision Framework Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder will constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules. Since all applicable size test percentage ratios exceed
0.1% but are less than 5% in respect of the relevant continuing connected transactions under the Product and
Service Mutual Provision Framework Agreement, such transactions are therefore subject to annual reporting
and announcement requirements but are exempt from the shareholders’ approval requirement of the Hong
Kong Listing Rules.
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For details of the non-exempt continuing connected transaction, please refer to the continuing connected
transaction announcement dated 29 March 2016 published by the Company on the website of the Stock
Exchange. For details of renewing the above transaction, please refer to the continuing connected transaction
announcement dated 26 April 2018 published by the Company on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Property Leasing Framework Agreement entered into between the Company and CRRCG

On 29 March 2016, the Company and CRRCG entered into the Property Leasing Framework Agreement,
pursuant to which CRRCG and/or its associates lease their lawfully owned properties to the Company and the
Company leases its lawfully owned properties to CRRCG and/or its associates. The agreement has an effective
term from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018. As the agreement will expire on 31 December 2018, in order
to better regulate such continuing connected transactions, the Company and CRRC GROUP renewed the New
Property Leasing Framework Agreement on 26 April 2018. The agreement has an effective term from 1 January
2019 to 31 December 2021.

The Company estimates that under the Property Leasing Framework Agreement, the annual caps for the
amounts to be paid by the Group for leasing of properties from CRRCG and/or its associates for each of the
three years ending 31 December 2018 will amount to RMB300 million, RMB400 million and RMB500 million,
respectively; while the annual caps for the amounts to be paid by CRRCG and/or its associates for leasing of
properties from the Group for the same period will amount to RMB200 million, RMB300 million and RMB400
million, respectively.

The Company considers that it is in the interest of the Group to enter into the aforesaid transactions with
CRRCG to ensure the stable supply and use of the property leasing business of the Company. CRRCG is familiar
with the business needs of the Company and the transactions between the parties, and will therefore minimize
the administrative costs of the Group.

CRRCG is the controlling shareholder of the Company, and is thus a connected person of the Company under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Property Leasing Framework Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder will constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules. Since all applicable size test percentage ratios exceed 0.1% but are less
than 5% in respect of the relevant continuing connected transactions under the Property Leasing Framework
Agreement, such transactions are therefore subject to annual reporting and announcement requirements but
are exempt from the shareholders’ approval requirement of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

For details of the non-exempt continuing connected transaction, please refer to the continuing connected
transaction announcement dated 29 March 2016 published by the Company on the website of the Stock
Exchange. For details of renewing the above transaction, please refer to the continuing connected transaction
announcement dated 26 April 2018 published by the Company on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Financial Services Framework Agreement entered into between the Finance Company and CRRCG

On 29 March 2016, the Finance Company and CRRCG entered into the Financial Services Framework
Agreement, pursuant to which the Finance Company will provide deposit services, loan services and other
financial services to CRRCG. The agreement has an effective term from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018.
As the agreement will expire on 31 December 2018, in order to better regulate such continuing connected
transactions, the Company and CRRC GROUP renewed the New Financial Services Framework Agreement on
26 April 2018. The agreement has an effective term from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021.
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The Company estimates that under the Financial Services Framework Agreement: (i) the daily deposit balance
(including accrued interests) in respect of the provision by the Finance Company of deposit services to
CRRCG and/or its associates for each of the three years ending 31 December 2018 will amount to RMB10,000
million, RMB16,000 million and RMB20,000 million, respectively; (i) the daily lending balance (including
accrued interests) in respect of the provision by the Finance Company of lending services to CRRCG and/or its
associates for each of the three years ending 31 December 2018 will amount to RMB3,000 million, RMB6,000
million and RMB7,500 million, respectively; and (iii) the annual caps for the amounts to be received by the
Finance Company for provision of miscellaneous financial services to CRRCG and/or its associates for each of
the three years ending 31 December 2018 will amount to RMB200 million, RMB300 million and RMB400 million,
respectively.

The Finance Company is relatively familiar with the operations of CRRCG, which is advantageous for the
Company in providing CRRCG with convenient and efficient financial services, and simultaneously allows
the Company to expand its financing channels, enhance its efficiency of fund usage, and minimize its cost of
financing. The rates for deposit and lending are set pursuant to the normal business terms and in the interests
of the Company and its shareholders.

CRRCG is the controlling shareholder of the Company, and is thus a connected person of the Company under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules. The Finance Company is a subsidiary of the Company. Accordingly, the Financial
Services Framework Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder will constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

Since all applicable size test percentage ratios exceed 0.1% but are less than 5% in respect of the provision
of lending services and miscellaneous financial services under the Financial Services Framework Agreement,
the lending services and miscellaneous financial services to be provided by the Finance Company to CRRCG
are therefore subject to the annual reporting and announcement requirements but are exempt from the
shareholders’ approval requirement of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

As the deposit services provided by the Finance Company to CRRCG are on normal commercial terms which
were no less favorable than those offered by independent commercial banks for the provision of comparable
services in the PRC and are for the benefit of the Group, and no security over the assets of the Group is or will be
granted in respect of the provision of such deposit services, the deposit services to be provided by the Finance
Company to CRRCG under the Financial Services Framework Agreement are exempt from all shareholders’
approval, annual reporting and announcement requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Hong Kong Listing
Rules.

For details of the non-exempt continuing connected transaction, please refer to the continuing connected
transaction announcement dated 29 March 2016 published by the Company on the website of the Stock
Exchange. For details of renewing the above transaction, please refer to the continuing connected transaction
announcement dated 26 April 2018 published by the Company on the website of the Stock Exchange.
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4.  The actual transaction amounts of non-exempt continuing connected transactions during the year

The Company confirms that the actual transaction amounts of the above non-exempt continuing connected
transactions did not exceed the relevant caps in 2018. Please refer to the table below for details.
Currency: RMB Unit: million
Actual
Serial Annual cap transaction
number Type of connected transactions for2018 amount for 2018
1. Purchase of products and services under 3,000.00 869.73

the Product and Service Mutual Provision
Framework Agreement with CRRCG
2. Sale of products and provision of services 3,500.00 79147
under the Product and Service Mutual
Provision Framework Agreement with CRRCG

3. Rental payment under the Property Leasing 500.00 76.53
Framework Agreement with CRRCG

4. Rental received under the Property Leasing 400.00 312
Framework Agreement with CRRCG

5. Maximum daily loan balance of the loan 7,500.00 7,142.60

services provided by the Finance Company
under the Finance Services Framework
Agreement between the Finance Company
and CRRCG (accrued interest included)
6. Charges for other financial services provided 400.00 0.15
by the Finance Company under the Financial
Services Framework Agreement between the
Finance Company and CRRCG

5. Annual review of non-exempt continuing connected transactions

The finance and internal auditing units and relevant teams of the Company have reviewed the above non-
exempt continuing connected transactions and related internal control procedures and submitted the results
to the independent non-executive Directors. The Company also provided key information to the independent
non-executive Directors for their review.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have confirmed to the Board that they have
reviewed the above non-exempt continuing connected transactions and are of the opinion that such
transactions are:

(1) inthe ordinary course of business of the Group;
(2)  conducted on normal commercial terms or more favorable terms; and

(3)  conducted on the terms of the relevant transaction agreements (including but not limited to the pricing
policy and mechanism), which are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders of the
Company as a whole.
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The independent non-executive Directors ensure that:

(1) the methods and procedures established by the Company are sufficient to ensure that transactions are
conducted on normal commercial terms and not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its
minority shareholders; and

(2)  the Company has appropriate internal control procedures in place and its internal auditing unit will
review the above continuing connected transactions.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, the listed issuer must engage its auditors to report on
the continuing connected transaction every year. The auditors must provide a letter to the listed issuer’s board
of directors confirming whether anything has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
continuing connected transactions:

(1) have not been approved by the listed issuer’s board of directors;

(2)  were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the listed issuer’s group if the
transactions involve the provision of goods or services by the listed issuer's group;

(3) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreement governing the
transactions; and

(4)  have exceeded the cap.

Pursuant to the above requirement under Rule 14A.56 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, the Board engaged
the auditors of the Company to report on the Group'’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditors have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Hong Kong Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditors' letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

6. Related party transactions

Save as to the above, details of the related party transactions of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2018 are set out in Note 49 to the consolidated financial statements. Except for the related party transactions
between the company and joint ventures and associates set out in Note 49, all related party transactions are
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules. The Company
confirms that the related party transactions have complied with the applicable disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

Non-competition agreements and undertakings

For details of the provision of non-competition agreements and undertakings to the Company by the controlling
shareholder of the Company, please refer to relevant content in the section named “Significant Events - |. Performance
of Undertakings” of this annual report.
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VIL.

Other Disclosable Matters

U}

(m

(1

(V)

v)

(V1)

(Vi

(Vi

(1X)

Principal businesses

The Company is mainly engaged in research and development, design, manufacturing, refurbishment, sales,
leasing and technical services of railway locomotives, EMUs, rapid transit vehicles, engineering machinery, various
electromechanical equipment, electronic equipment and parts, electric products and environmental protection
equipment; information consultancy; industrial investment and management; asset management; export/import
business.

Major customers and suppliers

For details of the major customers and suppliers of the Company, please refer to the section headed "Directors’ Report
- B. Management Discussion and Analysis - Il. Major Operation Results during the Reporting Period” of this annual
report.

Reserves

Details of changes in the reserves of the Company are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity of
this annual report prepared under the IFRSs.

Reserves available for distribution

For details of the reserves of the Company available for distribution, please refer to Note 53 to the financial statements
of this annual report prepared under the IFRSs.

Share capital

For details of the share capital of the Company, please refer to the relevant section headed “Changes in Shares and
Particulars of Shareholders” of this annual report.

Bank loans and other loans

Details of the bank loans and other loans of the Company as at 31 December 2018 are set out in Note 39 to the
financial statements of this annual report prepared under the IFRSs.

Property, plant and equipment

Details of changes in the property, plant and equipment of the Company in 2018 are set out in Note 16 to the financial
statements of this annual report prepared under the IFRSs.

Donations

The total charitable and other donations of the Company amounted to approximately RMB12.334 million during the
reporting period.

Service contracts of Directors and Supervisors

None of the Directors or Supervisors entered into service contract with the Company which is not terminable within
one year without payment of compensation other than normal statutory compensation.
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(X)

(X1)

(X11)

(X11)

(XIV)

(Xv)

(XVI)

Directors and Supervisors’ interests in contracts

The Company did not enter into any contract of significance in which Director(s) or Supervisor(s) of the Company
held, either directly or indirectly, any material interests for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Loans provided to Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management of the Company

The Company did not provide Director(s), Supervisor(s) or other Senior Management with any loans or quasi-loans.

Directors’ interest in businesses competing with the Company

None of the Directors have interests in any business which directly or indirectly competes or may compete with the
Company.

Financial, business or family relationship among members of the Board

None of the members of the Board of the Company had any financial, business, family or other material relationship
with each other.

Management contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of
the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions regarding pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association and the PRC law which oblige
the Company to offer news shares to its existing shareholders on a pro-rata basis.

Employee retirement plan

Details of the employee retirement plan of the Company are set out in Note 40 to the financial statements of this
annual report prepared under the IFRSs.

(XVII) The Company’s environmental policies and compliance

CRRC fully implements Xi Jinping's ecological civilization thought, adheres to the idea that lucid waters and lush
mountains are invaluable assets, unswervingly takes the road of ecological priority and green development, strictly
abides by the national ecological environment protection laws, regulations and standards, constantly strengthens
ecological protection and pollution prevention, and fulfills social responsibility. Some subsidiaries of the Company are
the key pollutant discharging units published by the national ecological environment protection department. The
environmental information of these companies has been made public in accordance with the relevant regulations
and the specific requirements of the local government authorities. For more details, please refer to the websites of
local government.

The main waste water pollutant of CRRC is COD, the main waste gas pollutant is sulfur dioxide, and the hazardous
wastes are mainly HW08, HWO09, HW12 and HW49. Waste water is discharged directly and indirectly upon treatment
and reaching standards. The Company recorded COD emissions of 927 tons. Waste gas pollutant is discharged in an
organized way. The Company recorded sulfur dioxide emissions of 556 tons. The Company recorded hazardous waste
disposal of 16,317 tons, which were disposed by qualified institutions. Main pollutant emission reached the national or
local emission standards. The total discharge of pollutants meets the requirements of the total discharge indicators.
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CRRC effectively treated pollutants and the pollution treatment facilities were in normal operation. CRRC has
established the sewage treatment station. Different treatment processes were adopted for different sewage under
different discharge requirements. The sewage reached the national or local emission standards. Coal-fired boiler
exhaust gas have been desulfurized and dedusted, the coal has been replaced by gas or electricity, meeting the
national or local emission standards. Some enterprises abolished coal-fired boiler and used gases purchased externally
or social heating. Hazardous wastes were stored and managed according to relevant requirements. A qualified unit
was entrusted to implement safe disposal according to the law.

CRRC strengthened environmental risk control from the source and required all companies under the Group to
strictly comply with the Environmental Impact Assessment Law (GRIBFZEFEA) and the requirements of our
environmental protection system of “Three Meantimes” when implementing construction projects. EIA approval shall
be obtained from local government for all construction projects before construction, and ecological protection and
pollution prevention measures shall be implemented. According to Administrative Regulations on Environmental
Protection for Development Projects { 2% 18 B IRIFIREBIZIEHI) we responsively carried out environmental
acceptance works.

CRRC has strengthened its emergency management of environmental emergencies, classified emergency
environmental incidents, formulated and issued the Emergency Countermeasures for Environmental Incidents of
CRRC Corporation Limited (R EIFBRMD AR A RIZREIRIBEFEESTEZE) . Companies under the Group
revised their emergency countermeasures for environmental incidents and carried out environmental emergency
drills, thus the operability of the countermeasures were effectively improved.

CRRC organized its own environmental monitoring department. It also increased the environmental monitoring and
control frequency. Some of the affiliated companies of CRRC has installed online monitoring system for waste water
and waste gas in accordance with the requirements of the local government, to ensure that it is networked with
relevant environmental protection department and also strengthened the management of online monitoring, to
ensure that online monitoring is effectively implemented. Each of the affiliated companies of CRRC has implemented
pollutant monitoring according to its own monitoring plan.

Each of the affiliated companies of CRRC has disclosed relevant environmental information on the website of the
local environmental protection department or its own company website pursuant to the requirements of the local
environmental protection department.

(XVIIl) Relationship with employees, customers and suppliers

(XIX)

For details, please refer to the sections headed “Directors Report - B. Management Discussion and Analysis” and
"Directors, Supervisors, Senior Officers and Staff - Staff of the Parent Company and Principal Subsidiaries” of this annual
report.

Compliance with laws, regulations and rules

The Company is aware of the importance of complying with legal and regulatory requirements. The Company has
established a relatively sophisticated system to ensure persistent compliance with applicable laws, regulations
and rules. More specifically, the legal department of the Company and other relevant departments are primarily
responsible for reviewing whether the Group's operations have complied with the relevant laws and regulations. The
Company has also deployed corresponding departments and sufficient manpower and resources to monitor the
compliance situation at the subsidiary level. For the year ended 31 December 2018, to the best of our knowledge,
the Company has complied with the laws and regulations of the relevant areas in all material respects, including but
not limited to laws and regulations such as the Railway Law of the People’s Republic of China ( { % A R £ HE
HEIFESE) ), the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Production Safety ( (FREI A REFIEZ 24 EXR) ), the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China ( {2E A R £ FBIRIFREE) ) and Regulation
on the Administration of Railway Safety ( (&2 2E M) ), which have great significance or impact on
the operation of the Company in aspects such as rail transit equipment production and safety and environmental
protection etc. The Company is listed on the SSE and the Stock Exchange. For the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Company complied with the listing rules and all applicable laws and regulations of its places of listing.
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As at the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this report, members of the Board include:

Liu Hualong
Chairman, Executive Director

Sun Yongcai
Executive Director, President

Xu Zongxiang
Executive Director

Liu Zhiyong
Non-executive Director

Li Guo'an
Independent non-executive Director

Wu Zhuo
Independent non-executive Director

Sun Patrick
Independent non-executive Director
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I. SHAREHOLDING CHANGES AND REMUNERATION

() Shareholding Changes and Remuneration of Current and Retired Directors, Supervisors and
Senior Management during the Reporting Period

Total
remuneration
Remuneration beforetax
received from received from
Number of Numberof theCompany ~ Weffre expenses the Company ~ Whether receving
shares heldat shares held Changesin during the including basic during the remungration
Commencement Expiration of the beginning attheend  number ofshares Reasonof  reportingperiod  pensioninsurance  reporting period from related partes
Name Positon " Gender ~ Age oftemofoffice temofoffice oftheyear oftheyear forthe year the change (RMB0'000) (RMB 0/000) (RMBO00O)  ofthe Company
LiuHuglong ' Chaiman BrecueDector -~ Mde 56 31Ny 2018 Mgy 201 50000 50000 0 - - - - es
Sun Yonggai Erecutve Diector President~ Male % 3 May 2018 ey 2021 111650 111650 0 - 5% 14 %4 o
1o Zongyiang Erecutive Diector Vale 5 31 May 2018 ey 2001 0 0 0 ] 14 an No
LiuZhiyong Non-executive Direcor Nale ol 3 May 2018 ey 2021 0 0 0 - - - - o
LiGuoan Independent Vale 6 31 May 2018 ey 2001 0 0 0 - 600 - 800 No
noweecuive Dictor
W Zhuo Independent Vale 68 31 May 2018 ey 2001 0 0 0 - 600 - 800 No
noweecuive Dictor
Sun Patick Independent Vale 0 31 May 2018 ey 2001 0 0 0 - 1500 - 1500 No
noweecuive Dictor
WanJun Supenvsor, Chaimn of Vale 5 31 May 2018 ey 2001 0 0 0 - 08 14 9331 No
Supenvisry Comitee
(henfangping Supenisor Vale 5 31 May 2018 ey 2001 0 0 0 - 7% 14 o4 No
QuWei Employee Representative Vale b4 3 May 2018 ey 201 3000 3000 0 - 7602 14 851 o
Supenisor
ThanYanjng Vice Presicent, feme % 1une 2018 ey 2021 50000 5000 0 - 010 14 925 o
ChifFinencial ffcer
Weng Jin Vice Presicent Nale 5% 1une 2018 ey 2021 0 0 0 - 1 14 an o
LouQifang Vice President Vel 5% 1une 2018 30hay 2021 0 0 0 - 5806 14 B No
YuWeiping Vie Pesident Vale 3 1une 2018 ey 201 0 0 0 - 5806 14 105 o
Jie long Secetay o the Board Vel 5 1June 2018 ey 2001 B 738 0 - 1% 14 837 No
(hankaKeung Peter"™*  Fomer Independent Mg 6 28Ny 2015 31 My 2018 0 0 0 - 635 - 635 No
non-executve Diecor
Toul / / / / / 314938 314938 0 / 7087 149 4557

Note 1: The remuneration of Liu Hualong was expensed by CRRCG.

Note 2: Upon the expiry of his term at the first session of the Board on 31 May 2018, Mr. Chan Ka Keung, Peter no longer served as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company.
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Major Work Experiences of the Current Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management for the
Recent Five Years

Directors

Mr. Liu Hualong, born in 1962, a Chinese national with no right of abode overseas, is a holder of bachelor’s degree, MBA
degree, a professor-level senior engineer and a member of the 19th session of the CPC Central Commission for Discipline
Inspection. He serves as the Chairman of the Board, an executive Director and the Party Secretary of the Company, as well as
a chairman of the board and the Party secretary of CRRCG. Mr. Liu served as the deputy general manager, vice chairman and
general manager, deputy Party secretary, chairman and general manager, deputy Party secretary of CNRG Qigihar Railway
Rolling Stock (Group) Co. Ltd,, the deputy general manager, the deputy Party secretary and the secretary to the disciplinary
committee, chairman of the labor union, the Party secretary of CSRG. From December 2007 to September 2011, he was an
executive director, deputy Party secretary and the secretary of the disciplinary committee of CSR. From September 2011 to
October 2012, he served as an executive director, a vice president and a standing member of the Party Committee of CSR.
From October 2012 to May 2015, he served as an executive director, the president and the deputy Party secretary of CSR.
He has served as the vice chairman, executive Director and the deputy Party Secretary of the Company from May 2015 to
December 2016, and the Chairman and the Party Secretary of the Company since December 2016.

Mr. Sun Yongcai, born in 1964, a Chinese national with no right of abode overseas, is a holder of doctoral degree and is a
professor-level senior engineer. He serves as an executive Director, the President and the deputy Party Secretary of the Party
Committee of the Company, and also serves as a Director, general manager and the deputy Party Secretary of the Party
Committee of CRRCG. Mr. Sun once served as a director and deputy general manager, vice chairman and the Party secretary
and deputy general manager of Dalian Locomotive & Rolling Stock Co., Ltd,, the vice chairman and deputy general manager
of Dalian Dali Railway Transportation Equipment Company Limited and the chief engineer of CNR, as well as a standing
member of the Party Committee of CNRG. From December 2010 to May 2015, he served as a vice president and a standing
member of the Party Committee of CNR. He has served as a standing member of the Party Committee of the Company
from May 2015 to September 2017, a Vice President of the Company from June 2015 to May 2017, an executive Director of
the Company since June 2017, the deputy Party Secretary of the Party Committee of the Company since September 2017,
and the President of the Company since October 2017. Mr. Sun has been awarded the “Reform Pioneer” by the Central
Committee of the Communist Party of China and the State Council and is the presider of the development of “Fuxinghao”
high speed train. He is entitled to a special government allowance from the State Council.

Mr. Xu Zongxiang, born in 1963, a Chinese national with no right of abode overseas, is a holder of doctoral degree and is a
professor-level senior engineer. He currently serves as an executive Director and a standing member of the Party Committee
of the Company, and also serves as a standing member of the Party Committee of CRRCG. Mr. Xu served as the deputy head
of Zhuzhou Electric Locomotive Works, the director and general manager, director and general manager and deputy Party
secretary, executive director and general manager and deputy Party secretary of Zhuzhou Locomotive Co., Ltd,, a standing
member of the Party Committee of CSRG, and a deputy general manager of CRRCG. He has served as a vice president
and a standing member of the Party Committee of CSR from October 2012 to May 2015, a standing member of the Party
Committee of the Company since May 2017, and an executive Director of the Company since June 2017.

Mr. Liu Zhiyong, born in 1957, a Chinese national with no right of abode overseas, is a holder of bachelor's degree and a
professional external director for state-owned enterprises. He serves as a non-executive Director of the Company and a full-
time external director of China National Coal Group Corporation (| B/ B 8EJR & B2 &)). Mr. Liu previously served as the
deputy division chief, chief and deputy director of Third Secretary Bureau of the General Office of the State Council (B17%
BTt AEERNZE = F), the deputy party secretary of Liuzhou, Guangxi (seconded for two years), the chief officer and deputy
director of Third Secretary Bureau of the General Office of the State Council, inspector and deputy director of First Secretary
Bureau of the General Office of the State Council (responsible for day-to day business), executive deputy secretary of the
Party Committee of the General Office of the State Council. He has served as a full-time external director of China National
Coal Group since August 2014, and a non- executive director of China Coal Energy Company Limited (7 Bl s IR (0 B
&2 ")) from June 2015 to October 2018. From June 2014 to May 2015, he served as a non-executive director of CSR. Since
May 2015, he has served as a non-executive Director of the Company. He concurrently served as the executive vice president
of the China Poverty-Alleviation Promotion of Volunteer Service since November 2018.
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Mr. Li Guo’an, born in 1952, a Chinese national with no right of abode overseas, is a holder of bachelor's degree and a
research fellow. He serves as an independent non-executive Director of the Company and an external director of China
Baowu Steel Group Corporation Limited. Mr. Li once served as the deputy Party secretary, the deputy Party secretary and
concurrently the secretary of the Party Discipline Inspection Committee of Wuhan Ship Development & Design Institute of
the No. 7 Research Institute of China State Shipbuilding Corporation (FF Bl T %482 7] 55 #TT), assistant to the
dean and concurrently the director of the Science and Technology Division, vice dean, member of the Party Group, vice dean
and deputy secretary of the Party Group of the No. 7 Research Institute of China Shipbuilding Industry Corporation (-7 B3 fi#
fHEE TEE A RFEEFTPR), the deputy general manager and member of the Party Group of China Shipbuilding Industry
Corporation and an external director of Wuhan Iron & Steel (Group) Corporation (.55 (5£E) A &]). From June 2014
to May 2015, he served as an independent non-executive director of CSR. Since May 2015, he has served as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company.

Mr. Wu Zhuo, born in 1950, a Chinese national with no right of abode overseas, is a holder of bachelor's degree and a
research fellow. He serves as an independent non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Wu served as the deputy director
of System Engineering Bureau of the Ministry of Aerospace Industry of China. He held several positions in China Aviation
Industry Corporation (| Bffi -k T %482 7)) including division chief and manager of Research & Production Department,
deputy manager of Human Resources & Training Department, deputy director of Human Resources & Training Bureau and
the Head of General Office. He also served as a deputy general manager and a member of the Party Group, and concurrently
the head of the Party Disciplinary Inspection Division in China Aerospace Science and Technology Corporation and an
external director of Wuhan Iron & Steel (Group) Corporation. From June 2014 to May 2015, he served as an independent non-
executive director of CSR. Since May 2015, he has served as an independent non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Wu
is entitled to a special government allowance from the State Council.

Mr. Sun Patrick, born in 1958, is a citizen of Hong Kong, the PRC and a holder of bachelor’s degree. He serves as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company, an independent non-executive director of China Railway Construction
Corporation Limited, an independent non-executive director of Trinity Limited, an independent non-executive director of
China NT Pharma Group Company Limited, an independent non-executive director of Sihuan Pharmaceutical Holdings
Group Limited and an independent non-executive director of Kunlun Energy Company Limited. Mr. Sun once served as a
president of Hong Kong Region at J.P. Morgan and the head of Hong Kong investment banking department at J.P. Morgan,
an executive director and the president of Value Convergence Holdings Limited, an executive director of SW Kingsway
Capital Holdings Limited, the chairman of the global strategy committee of Financial International Holdings Ltd., an executive
director and the head of investment banking department of Jardine Fleming Holdings Limited, an executive director of
Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited, an independent non-executive director of China Railway Corporation Limited,
an independent non-executive director of China Railway Signal & Communication Corporation Limited, a honorary secretary-
general of the Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies, the vice chairman and a member of the Listing Committee of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange and a member of the SFC Takeovers and Mergers Panel. Mr. Sun is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants of
UK. From February 2012 to May 2015, he served as an independent non-executive director of CNR. Since May 2015, he has
served as an independent non-executive Director of the Company.
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Supervisors

Mr. Wan Jun, born in 1963, a Chinese national with no right of abode overseas, is a holder of bachelor's degree and a
senior administrative officer. He serves as the Chairman of Supervisory Committee and the Deputy Party Secretary of the
Company, as well as the deputy Party secretary and an employee director of CRRCG. He once served as the deputy division
director, the division director, the deputy chief, the inspector and concurrently the deputy chief in the First Secretary Bureau
of the General Office of the State Council, a professional deputy director of the Secrecy Committee of the General Office of
the State Council, the deputy director of the management committee of Tianjin Electric and Technological Development
Zone (seconded for one year), the deputy Party secretary and the secretary to the Discipline Inspection Committee of
China National Machinery Industry Corporation and the deputy Party secretary, the secretary to the Discipline Inspection
Committee and the chairman of the labor union of CNRG. From November 2013 to May 2015, he served as an employee
director, the deputy Party secretary and the secretary to the Discipline Inspection Committee of CNR. He has served as a
Supervisor and the deputy Party secretary of the Company since May 2015, and the Chairman of Supervisory Committee of
the Company since June 2015.

Mr. Chen Fangping, born in 1960, a Chinese national with no right of abode overseas, is a holder of bachelor’s degree and
a senior political officer. He serves as a Supervisor and the General Legal Counsel of the Company and CRRCG. Mr. Chen
once served as the secretary to the Communist Youth League Committee of Tianjin Locomotive & Rolling Stock Machinery
Works, the secretary to the Communist Youth League Committee and the head of the personnel department (HR manager)
of China National Railways Locomotive and Rolling Stock Industrial Corporation, a standing committee member and central
committee member of the Communist Youth League Committee of the National Railways, and the head of the personnel
department (HR Department) and the deputy secretary to the Discipline Inspection Committee of CNRG. He served as a
supervisor and the deputy secretary to the Discipline Inspection Committee of CNR from July 2008 to June 2012, and the
chairman of the supervisory committee and the deputy secretary to the Discipline Inspection Committee of CNR from June
2012 to May 2015. He has served as a Supervisor of the Company since May 2015, and the General Legal Counsel of the
Company since June 2015.

Mr. Qiu Wei, born in 1959, a Chinese national with no right of abode overseas, is a holder of bachelor's degree and a senior
political officer. He serves as the employee representative Supervisor and the Chairman of the Labor Union of the Company
and CRRCG. Mr. Qiu once served as the deputy director of Party Committee Office of China National Railways Locomotive
and Rolling Stock Industrial Corporation, deputy director of the General Affairs Division of the General Office (it X E47 4 &),
the head of the General Office of CSRG, and deputy chairman of CSRG's Labor Union. He successively served as the deputy
director of the Working Committee of Labor Union and the chairman of the Labor Union (appointed in July 2014) of CSR
from January 2008 to May 2015, and the employee representative supervisor of CSR from December 2009 to May 2015. He
has served as the employee representative Supervisor of the Company since May 2015, and the Chairman of the Labor Union
of the Company since June 2015.

Senior Management
Mr. Sun Yongcai, whose major work experience is the same as what stated above.

Ms. Zhan Yanjing, born in 1963, a Chinese national with no right of abode overseas, is a holder of bachelor's degree and
MBA degree, and is also a senior accountant and senior economist. She serves as a Vice President, the Chief Financial Officer
and a standing member of the Party Committee of the Company, as well as a standing member of the Party Committee
of CRRCG. Ms. Zhan once served as a chief economist as well as a director and deputy general manager of Henan Diesel
Engine Plant (7] # 4 #EER) of China Shipbuilding Industry Corporation, a deputy manager of the Securities Department, a
manager of the Finance Department, a deputy chief accountant and a manager of the Finance Department, an assistant to
general manager and a manager of the Financial Planning Department, and an assistant to general manager of Beigi Foton
Motor Co, Ltd. 3t /518 HEEAZ B R A 7)) as well as a chief accountant and a standing member of the Party Committee
of CSRG. From December 2007 to May 2015, she served as a vice president and chief financial officer as well as a standing
member of the Party Committee of CSR. She has served a standing member of the Party Committee of the Company since
May 2015, and a Vice President and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company since June 2015.
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(1

Mr. Wang Jun, born in 1963, a Chinese national with no right of abode overseas, is a holder of bachelor's degree and MBA
degree and is a professor-level senior engineer. He serves as a Vice President and a standing member of the Party Committee
of the Company. Mr. Wang once served as a director and the chief engineer, a director and the general manager and deputy
Party secretary, vice chairman and general manager and deputy Party secretary, chairman and the Party secretary of Sifang
Co,, Ltd. (U7 B 1A A A)), and a standing member of the Party Committee of CSRG. From October 2012 to May 2015, he
served as a vice president and a standing member of the Party Committee of CSR. He has served as a standing member
of the Party Committee of the Company since May 2015, and a Vice President of the Company since June 2015. Mr. Wang
has been selected as a candidate of National Hundred Talents Program (KRB TEAA LR and is a National Young
to Middle-aged Expert with Outstanding Contributions (BIZK A R H BRI B F HZXK). He was also granted the award of
Zhan Tianyou Railway Science and Technology Award (& ARG B RFE T A £E), and is entitled to a special government
allowance from the State Council.

Mr. Lou Qiliang, born in 1963, a Chinese national with no right of abode overseas, is a holder of bachelor's degree and a
senior engineer. He serves as a Vice President and a standing member of the Party Committee of the Company. Mr. Lou once
served as the deputy head, head and deputy Party secretary of Puzhen Co, Ltd. (E$E/A A)), as well as the executive director,
general manager and deputy Party secretary of CSR Nanjing Puzhen Rolling Stock Co., Ltd,, and a standing member of the
Party Committee of CSRG. From October 2012 to May 2015, he served as a vice president and a standing member of the
Party Committee of CSR. He has served as a standing member of the Party Committee of the Company since May 2015, and
a Vice President of the Company since June 2015.

Mr. Yu Weiping, born in 1966, a Chinese national with no right of abode overseas, is a holder of doctoral degree and
a professor-level senior engineer. He serves as a Vice President and a standing member of the Party Committee of the
Company. Mr. Yu once served as a deputy general manager of Changchun Railway Vehicle Co,, Ltd., and the chairman and
the Party secretary, the chairman and general manager and deputy Party secretary, the chairman and deputy Party secretary
of Tangshan Railway Vehicle Co., Ltd,, as well as a standing member of the Party Committee of CNRG. From November
2013 to May 2015, he served as a vice president and a standing member of the Party Committee of CNR. He has served as a
standing member of the Party Committee of the Company since May 2015, and a Vice President of the Company since June
2015.

Mr. Xie Jilong, born in 1966, a Chinese national with no right of abode overseas, is a holder of bachelor’s degree and master
degree, and is a professor-level senior economist. He serves as the Secretary to the Board and joint company secretary of
the Company and a director of China United Insurance ({2555 4R [2). Mr. Xie once served as a chief accountant, deputy
head, head and deputy Party secretary of Changchun Locomotive Factory, a director and general manager and deputy Party
secretary of Changchun Locomotive and Rolling Stock Company Limited, the Party secretary of Tianjin Locomotive & Rolling
Stock Machinery Works, and the vice chairman of Tianjin JL Railway Transportation Equipment Co., Ltd. From August 2008 to
December 2013, he served as the secretary to the board of CNR. From January 2014 to May 2015, he served as the secretary
to the board and joint company secretary of CNR. Since June 2015, he has served as the Secretary to the Board and joint
company secretary of the Company. Mr. Xie is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators
and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. He is also the vice president of the fifth session of
the Council of The Listed Companies Association of Beijing.

Share Incentive Scheme Granted to Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management during the
Reporting Period

During the reporting period, the Company did not grant any share incentives to any of its Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management.
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POSITIONS HELD BY CURRENT AND RETIRED DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

(U]

(In

Positions Held in Shareholder’s Entity

Name of the
shareholder’s Position held in the Commencement Expiration of
Employee’s name entity shareholder’s entity of term of office term of office
Liu Hualong CRRCG Chairman November 2016 —
Director September 2015 —
Sun Yongcai CRRCG Director, general manager September 2017 —
Wan Jun CRRCG Employee representative Director December 2017 —
Chen Fangping CRRCG General legal counsel December 2016 —
Positions Held in Other Entities
Name of Position held in Commencement Expiration of
Employee’s name other entities other entities of term of office term of office
Liu Zhiyong SASAC Professional External Director ~ August 2013 —
China National Coal Professional External Director  August 2014 —
Group Corporation
China Coal Energy Non-executive director June 2015 October 2018
Company Limited
LiGuo'an China Baowu Steel External director October 2016 —
Group Corporation Limited
Sun Patrick China Railway Construction Independent October 2014 —
Corporation Limited non-executive director
Trinity Limited Independent October 2008 —
non-executive director
China NT Pharma Independent March 2010 —
Group Company Limited non-executive director
Sihuan Pharmaceutical Independent October 2010 —
Holdings Group Ltd. non-executive director
China Railway Signal & Independent May 2015 August 2018

Chan Ka Keung, Peter

Xie Jilong

Communication Corporation
Limited

Kunlun Energy Company
Limited

Metallurgical Corporation

of China Ltd.

China Railway Signal &
Communication Corporation
Limited

China United Insurance

non-executive director

Independent
non-executive director
Independent
non-executive director
Independent
non-executive director

Director

February 2016
November 2014

August 2018

September 2016
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Notes:

Q)] Metallurgical Corporation of China Ltd. is a company listed on the SSE (stock code: 601618) and the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1618).

2) China Coal Energy Company Limited is a company listed on the SSE (stock code: 601898) and the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1898).

(3) China Railway Construction Corporation Limited is a company listed on the SSE (stock code: 601186) and the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1186).

4 Trinity Limited is a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 891).

(5) China NT Pharma Group Company Limited is a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1011).

(6) Sihuan Pharmaceutical Holdings Group Ltd. is a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 460).

(7) China Railway Signal & Communication Corporation Limited is a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3969).

(8) Kunlun Energy Company Limited is a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 135).

lll. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Decision-making procedures of the remuneration of
Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management

Determination basis of the remuneration of Directors,
Supervisors and Senior Management

Actual payment of the remuneration of Directors,
Supervisors and Senior Management

Total actual remuneration of all the Directors,
Supervisors and Senior Management at the
end of the reporting period

The Remuneration and Evaluation Committee of the Board submits
proposals to the Board in respect of the remuneration for Directors
and members of the Senior Management. The Board decides the
remuneration, incentives and punishment matters for members of
the management. The general meeting of the Company decides
matters relating to the remuneration for the relevant Directors and
Supervisors.

The Company determined the remuneration of Directors, Supervisors
and Senior Management with reference to the Articles of Association
and relevant requirements.

The Company, pursuant to relevant provisions, paid remunerations
to the Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management, except for Liu
Zhiyong, a non-executive Director, who is concurrently a professional
external director of SASAC and does not receive remuneration from
the Company pursuant to the requirement of SASAC; Li Guo'an
and Wu Zhuo, independent Directors, who received remuneration
pursuant to the adjusted standard approved at the annual general
meeting in accordance with the requirement of SASAC since July
2017; Liu Hualong, Chairman and executive Director, who has
received remuneration from the CRRCG since November 2015.

RMB9,055,700 in aggregate.

During the reporting period, none of the Directors or the Supervisors waived or agreed to waive their respective emoluments.
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IV. CHANGES IN DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY

During the reporting period, upon the expiry of term of the first session of the Board and Supervisory Committee of the Company,
Mr. Chan Ka Keung, Peter no longer served as an independent non-executive Director of the Company.

On 31 May 2018, the Company held the 2017 annual general meeting to elect:

Mr. Liu Hualong, Mr. Sun Yongcai and Mr. Xu Zongxiang as executive directors of the second session of the Board of the Company;
Mr. Liu Zhiyong as a non-executive director; and Mr. Li Guo'an, Mr. Wu Zhuo and Mr. Sun Patrick as independent non-executive
directors.

Wan Jun, Chen Fangping as the representative supervisor of Shareholders of second session of the Supervisory Committee of the
Company, jointly organizing the second session of the Supervisory Committee of the Company with Qiu Wei, the representative
supervisor of employees.

On 31 May 2018, the Company held the first meeting of the second session of the Board to elect:
Mr. Liu Hualong as chairman (legal representative) of the second session of the Board of the Company;

Mr. Liu Hualong, Mr. Liu Zhiyong, Mr. Sun Yongcai, Mr. Xu Zongxiang and Mr. Li Guo'an as members of the Strategy Committee; Mr.
Liu Hualong as chairman and Mr. Liu Zhiyong as vice chairman;

Mr. Li Guo'an, Mr. Liu Hualong, Mr. Sun Yongcai, Mr. Wu Zhuo and Mr. Sun Patrick as members of the Nomination Committee and
Mr. Li Guo'an as chairman;

Mr. Wu Zhuo, Mr. Liu Zhiyong and Mr. Sun Patrick as members of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee and Mr. Wu Zhuo as
chairman;

Mr. Sun Patrick, Mr. Liu Zhiyong and Mr. Li Guo'an as members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and Mr. Sun Patrick as
chairman.

On 31 May 2018, the Company held the first meeting of the second session of the Supervisory Committee to elect Mr. Wan Jun as
chairman of the second session of the Supervisory Committee of the Company.

On 31 May 2018, the Company held the second meeting of the second session of the Board to appoint Mr. Sun Yongcai as
president of the Company.

On 1 June 2018, the Company held the third meeting of the second session of the Board to appoint Ms. Zhan Yanjing as vice
president and chief financial officer; Mr. Wang Jun, Mr. Lou Qiliang and Mr. Yu Weiping as vice presidents of the Company; Mr. Xie
Jilong as secretary to the Board of the Company and joint company secretary.

The above persons shall hold office until the expiry of the term of office of the second session of the Board and the second session
of the Supervisory Committee.
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V.STAFF OF THE PARENT COMPANY AND PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

() Staff Information

Total number of staff with the parent company 222

Total number of staff with principal subsidiaries 168,378
Total number of staff 168,600
Number of employees whose retirement expenses are borne 130,879

by the parent company and principal subsidiaries

By profession

Category of profession Number of each profession
Production personnel 93,071

Technical personnel 32914
Management personnel 30,676

Other personnel 11,939

Total 168,600

By education

Education level Number (person)
Doctors 467

Masters 11,822

University graduates 49,378

Tertiary college graduates 38,508

Secondary school and below 68,425

Total 168,600

(I  Remuneration Policies

In accordance with various policies and guidelines of the state in relation to income distribution and considering the
enterprise production, operation and management needs, the Company formulated and issued a series of management

AVAN

policies, including the Measures on Remuneration Management of Stock Companies (A% 2 B3 BN E I #1%), the
Measures on Performance-based Wage (T3 9E%), the Measures on Remuneration Budges (FHINFEE IEX), the
Measures on Labour Cost Management (A TAXZNE I H#)%), the Administrative Measures on Remuneration Management
of Responsible Persons (¥ 8 & AFHENEIR#EE), the Measures on Business Expenses for Performing Duties of
Responsible Persons (¥ 8 & ABBFBES S HEEHE) and the Guiding Opinions on the Reform of Internal
Distribution System in Enterprises (12 A# 5 EL#l EELE 188 E R), which formed a full remuneration management
system. In terms of total remuneration adjustment, the Company insisted on the basic principle of “efficiency-based wages’,
i.e, the enterprises with high efficiency and benefit set high wage levels, which reflects the fairness of internal distribution; in
terms of management of the remuneration of responsible persons, the remuneration of responsible persons are linked with
the operating performance, which has good guiding and supporting effects on achieving the operation and management
objectives; in terms of internal distribution in enterprises, the Company established a basic salary system based on job
performance wages, to reflect the job value orientation and work achievement orientation of income distribution and

effectively enhance the vitality of employees.
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(1

Personnel Training

According to the Talent Training and Development Plan of Company during the “13th Five-Year", the Company formulated
the 2018 Main Points of Training of CRRC ( {FBIAEE2018F I TIEZ2E) ) to coordinate our annual talent training
and development. In respect of the target for the establishment of talent teams and key tasks for annual talent training,
the Company continued to optimize its training management system, training course system, trainer system and internet
academy platform, enhanced the innovativeness, perspectiveness, pertinence and effectiveness of talent cultivation, sped
up the development of professional managers, international talent and core management (technology, skill) talent teams.
In light of actual operation and management needs, the Company leveraged on high quality domestic and foreign training
resources, systemized design specific training items, well planned plans and created elaborate training programs.

In 2018, the Company organized a total of 82 company-level trainings with over 3,400 participants and focused on organizing
and implementing key training programs, such as training in rotation of the spirits of the 19th national congress of the CPC,
excellent leadership, internationalized talents, core technical talent, core management talent and core skilled talent. In 2018,
there were 471,000 employees who participated in subsidiary-level and workshop-level trainings, of which approximately
69,000 participants were management personnel, approximately 67,000 participants were professional technicians and
335,000 participants were technical personnel. The orderly and thorough implementation of personnel training development
has provided a guarantee of human resources for achieving the strategic goal of “two builds, one develop(B3TiE—125&)"
of the Company.
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EXPLANATION OF RELATED CIRCUMSTANCE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

During the reporting period, the Company carried out corporate governance work in strict compliance with requirements of laws
and regulations such as the Company Law, the Securities Law and the Code of Corporate Governance for Listed Companies as well
as relevant requirements of the SSE and the Stock Exchange and established the modern corporate governance structure featuring
"General Meeting, the Board, the Supervisory Committee and the Management”. Through the establishment of an effective
corporate governance mechanism, corporate governance and operation management continuously improved such that the
corporate governance of the Company is further perfected.

The Company established its corporate governance rules according to the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Hong Kong Listing Rules. In certain aspects, the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are
more stringent than the code provisions set out in the Code. After reviewing the corporate governance documents adopted by
the Company, the Board is of the opinion that the Company's corporate governance is in compliance with all the principles, code
provisions and part of the recommended best practices in the Code.

SHAREHOLDERS AND GENERAL MEETINGS

() Shareholders and general meetings

Safeguarding shareholders’ interests and promoting their values always serve as the Company’s goal of development.
The general meeting is the highest authority of the Company, through which shareholders may exercise their powers.
The Company convened and held general meetings to resolve related matters in strict compliance with relevant laws and
regulations as well as the requirements under the Rules of Procedure for General Meetings of the Company. The Company
ensured that all shareholders, especially minority shareholders, are entitled to their legal interest based on their shareholdings
in the Company and to fully exercise their rights.

(I)  Relationship between the controlling shareholder and the Company

The Company is strictly independent from its controlling shareholder in terms of assets, business, organization, finance and
personnel. The Board, Supervisory Committee and internal departments are able to operate independently. The controlling
shareholder of the Company places stringent constraint on individual behaviors and exercised rights and undertook
obligations as a shareholder pursuant to laws. The Company is not aware of any appropriation of the Company's capital and
assets by the controlling shareholder.
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DIRECTORS AND THE BOARD

U)

()

Directors and the Board

Currently, the Company consists of seven Directors, including three independent non-executive Directors. The Board acts
in the best interests of the Company and shareholders and is responsible for the consideration and approval of business
strategies and material investment and other significant matters of the Company. The main duties of the Board shall also
include consideration and approval of the Company’s regular announcements on results and operating condition. The
convening, holding, voting and other relevant procedures of the Company's Board meetings were executed in strict
compliance with relevant laws and regulations as well as requirements of the Rules of Regular Meetings of the Board and
the Rules of Procedure for the Board of Directors. All Directors are familiar with their rights, obligations and responsibilities
as Directors and are capable of performing their functions with due diligence in a faithful and diligent manner. All Directors
were punctual at Board meetings. They duly considered every resolution proposed at the Board meetings and the general
meetings and gave constructive advice thereof, bringing into full play their decision-making roles in corporate governance as
Directors. The independent Directors of the Company actively participated in corporate governance and raised suggestions
and advice for reform and development of the Company with their knowledge and rich work experiences, facilitating the
Company with optimization of strategy, enhancement of management and improvement of operation.

The Board of the Company has established four special committees hereunder, namely the Strategy Committee, the
Audit and Risk Management Committee, the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee and the Nomination Committee.
During the reporting period, all the committees carried out work in a regular manner, presented work proposals from their
respective professional perspectives independently for discussion and consideration, whereby providing strong support to
the Board.

The Board is mainly responsible for formulating and reviewing the corporate governance policies and practices of the
Company, and authorizing the special committees to perform specific functions of corporate governance. Details of the
Board committees performing corporate governance functions are set out in the section headed “Board committees” in this
chapter. The composition of the Board, biographical details of Directors and relationship between them are detailed in the
chapter headed “Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management and Staff” and the section headed “Report of Directors-Financial,
business or family relationship among members of the Board". Each Director was appointed for a term of three years. Upon
expiry, such term is renewable upon re-election.

In 2018, the Company purchased liability insurance for Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management of the Company to
provide security for the compensation liabilities that may rise during the performance of their duties in accordance with laws.

Convening of the Board meetings during the reporting period

Number of Board meetings convened during the years 12
Of which: the number of on-site meetings 11
Number of meetings held by communication method 0
Number of meetings held on site by means of communication 1
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(1

(v)

Attendance of Directors at the Board meetings and the general meetings

Details of

attendance

at the general

Attendance at the Board meetings meetings

Absent Number of

Required from two attendance

Independent attendance Attendance consecutive atthe

Director during Attendance by Attendance meetings general

Name of Directors or not the year inperson  communication by proxy Absent or not meetings

Liu Hualong No 12 12 0 0 0 No 1

Sun Yongcai No 12 12 0 0 0 No 1

Xu Zongxiang No 12 12 1 0 0 No 1

Liu Zhiyong No 12 12 0 0 0 No 1

Li Guo'an Yes 12 12 0 0 0 No 1

Wu Zhuo Yes 12 12 0 0 0 No 1

Sun Patrick Yes 12 10 0 2 0 No 1
Chan Ka Keung,

Peter e Yes 5 4 0 1 0 No 1

Note: the Board re-election was completed on 31 May 2018. The second session of the Board comprises Liu Hualong, Sun Yongcai, Xu Zongxiang, Liu
Zhiyong, Li Guo'an, Wu Zhuo and Sun Patrick.

Development and refreshment of knowledge and skills by Directors

The Board Office provided comprehensive services and sufficient information for the Directors, so that the Directors can
understand the conditions of the Company in a timely manner. The Board Office delivered to Directors the latest information
and bulletins relating to the business changes and development of the Company and the latest laws, rules and regulations
in relation to their positions and responsibilities. The Board Office also arranged themed trainings and seminars for Directors.
In 2018, pursuant to the requirements under code provision A.6.5 of the Code, Directors of the Company all participated
in continuous professional development activities in relation to their positions and responsibilities, to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills, so as to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Based on the
trainings arranged for the Directors by the Company and the records of learning and trainings submitted by the Directors
personally, the trainings received by each Director in 2018 are as follows:

Trainings
Name of Director (Note)
Executive Directors
Liu Hualong B.C
Sun Yongcai B,C
Xu Zongxiang B.C
Non-executive Directors
Liu Zhiyong ABC
Independent Non-executive Directors
Li Guo'an AB.C
Wu Zhuo AB,C
Sun Patrick B.C
Chan Ka Keung, Peter B.C
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(V)

(V1)

Note:
1. A, Band Cin the above table represent trainings of the following types respectively:
A. Attending trainings on corporate governance organized by regulatory institutes.
B. Attending seminar trainings in aspects such as legal regulation, corporate governance and financial control organized by professional
institutes
C Studying and reading relevant laws and regulations (revised and amended) such as the Hong Kong Listing Rules
2. Upon the expiry of term of the first session of the Board on 31 May 2018, Chan KaKeung, Peter no longer served as an independent non-

executive Director of the Company.

Independent non-executive Directors and their independence

The Board currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors and one non-executive Director. All members
of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee under the Board are independent non-executive Directors. Independent
non-executive Directors represent the majority of the members of the Nomination Committee and the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, and the chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee are all independent nonexecutive Directors.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have extensive expertise and experience, among whom Sun
Patrick is an accounting professional. The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have submitted written
confirmatianons of their independence as required by Rule 3.13 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules. The Company considers that
the independence of each of the independent non-executive Directors has been established. During the reporting period,
the independent non-executive Directors did not raise objections to the relevant matters of the Company.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is the decision-making institution of the Company, who reports to the general meeting and exercises several
powers in accordance with the Articles of Association, mainly including, but not limited to the following: (1) to convene
general meetings and implement resolutions of the general meetings; (2) to decide on the Company’s business plans and
investment plans; (3) to formulate the Company’s annual financial budget plan, final accounts, profit distribution plan and
plan for recovery of losses; (4) to formulate proposals for material acquisition, share repurchase by the Company, or merger,
division, dissolution and transformation of the Company form; (5) to appoint or remove senior management members and,
to decide on their remuneration and award and punishment matters; (6) to formulate the Company’s basic management
system; (7) to decide on the establishment of special committees of the Board and to consider and approve the proposals
proposed by each special committee of the Board; and (8) to manage information disclosure matters of the Company, etc.

(VIl) Board committees

1. Strategy Committee

During the reporting period, the Strategy Committee, in strict compliance with requirements of the Working Rules for
Strategy Committee of the Board of the Company, performed its duties in an independent and objective manner. The
Strategy Committee currently comprises executive Directors Mr. Liu Hualong, Mr. Sun Yongcai and Mr. Xu Zongxiang,
non-executive Director Mr. Liu Zhiyong, and independent non-executive Director Mr. Li Guo'an. Mr. Liu Hualong
serves as the chairman of the committee and Mr. Liu Zhiyong serves as the vice-chairman of the committee. The
Strategy Committee shall be held accountable to the Board and its primary responsibilities are to study and make
recommendations on the long-term development strategies and major investment decisions of the Company, and to
supervise and examine the implementation of the annual business plan and investment plan under the authorization
of the Board.
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During the reporting period, the Strategy Committee of the Board of the Company held three meetings in total,
at which 4 proposals were considered, including, among others, the Proposal on Investment Budget of CRRC
Corporation Limited for 2018. The attendance of each member is as follows:

Number of

attendance/
Number of Attendance
Name of Directors meeting rate
Liu Hualong 3/3 100%
Liu Zhiyong 3/3 100%
Sun Yongcai 3/3 100%
Xu Zongxiang 3/3 100%
LiGuo'an 3/3 100%
Wu Zhuo 2/2 100%

Note:  On 31 May 2018, the Proposal on the Election of Members of the Board Committees of the Second Session of the Board of CRRC
Corporation Limited was considered and approved at the first meeting of the second session of the Board, and Mr. Liu Hualong, Mr. Liu
Zhiyong, Mr. Sun Yongcai, Mr. Xu Zongxiang and Mr. Li Guo'an were elected as the members of Strategy Committee.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

During the reporting period, the Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Board, in strict compliance with
requirements of the Working Rules for Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Board and the Annual
Report Working Procedures for the Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Board, performed its duties in
an independent and objective manner. The Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Board of the Company
was served by Mr. Sun Patrick, Mr. Li Guo'an, who are independent non-executive Directors; and Mr. Liu Zhiyong,
a non-executive Director. Mr. Sun Patrick has extensive professional knowledge and experience in accounting
and are certified public accountants serving as the chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee. The
Audit and Risk Management Committee shall be held accountable to the Board and its primary responsibilities are
to propose the appointment or replacement of external auditors, to supervise and evaluate the work of external
auditors, to review the Company's financial information and its disclosure, to monitor the Company's internal audit
system and its implementation, to review the Company’s internal control and risk management system as well as
communication between internal auditors and external auditors. During the reporting period, the Audit and Risk
Management Committee successfully accomplished the following work: (1) Supervising external audit procedures
and quality. The Audit and Risk Management Committee communicated with auditors for annual audit plan in respect
of the 2017 annual audit arrangement and timetable. Having been debriefed special reports from the accounting
firms, respectively, the committee determined the audit work arrangement of the Company for 2017, (2) Reviewing
the financial information of the Company and the disclosure thereof. The Audit and Risk Management Committee
examined and studied the financial information as disclosed in the Company'’s report and financial statements, and
carefully reviewed the resolutions in relation to the financial report of the Company, (3) Providing guidance to the
Company's internal audit. The Audit and Risk Management Committee considered the proposals submitted by the
audit department and reviewed and approved the internal audit work plan put forward by the Company and gave
guidance and lay down requirements for carrying out internal audit, (4) Reviewing the Company's implementation
of internal control and risk management. The Audit and Risk Management Committee considered the proposals
regarding internal control and risk management submitted by the Company and expressed review opinions on the
internal control audit report of the Company for 2017.
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During the reporting period, the Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Board of the Company held eight
meetings in total, at which 29 proposals were considered and approved, including, among others, the Proposal on
the 2017 Annual Report of CRRC Corporation Limited and the Proposal on the 2018 First Quarterly Report of CRRC
Corporation Limited. The attendance of each member is as follows:

Number of

attendance/
Number of Attendance
Name of Directors meeting rate
Sun Patrick 6/8 75%
Liu Zhiyong 8/8 100%
Li Guo'an 8/8 100%
Wu Zhuo 4/4 100%
Chan Ka Keung, Peter 4/4 100%

Note:  On 31 May 2018, the Proposal on the Election of Members of the Board Committees of the Second Session of the Board of CRRC
Corporation Limited was considered and approved at the first meeting of the second session of the Board, and Mr. Sun Patrick, Mr. Liu
Zhiyong and Mr. Li Guo'an were elected as the members of Audit and Risk Management Committee.

3. Remuneration and Evaluation Committee

During the reporting period, the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee of the Board, in strict compliance with
requirements of the Working Rules for Remuneration and Evaluation Committee of the Board, performed its duties in
an independent and objective manner. The Remuneration and Evaluation Committee of the Board of the Company
comprises independent non-executive Directors Mr. Wu Zhuo and Mr. Sun Patrick and non-executive Director Mr.
Liu Zhiyong. Mr. Wu Zhuo serves as the chairman of the committee. The Remuneration and Evaluation Committee
shall be held accountable to the Board and its primary responsibilities are to submit proposals to the Board on the
Company’s remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and Senior Management and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy; to review the remuneration policies and
schemes for the Directors and Senior Management; to formulate the evaluation criteria for them and to evaluate their
performance of duties to submit proposals to the Board on the formulation of the remuneration packages for certain
executive Directors and Senior Management; to review and monitor the continuing professional development of the
Directors and Senior Management; and to monitor the implementation of the Company’s remuneration system.

During the reporting period, the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee of the Board of the Company held one
meeting in total, at which two proposals were considered and approved, including, among others, the Proposal on
Remuneration to Directors of CRRC Corporation Limited for 2018. The attendance of each member is as follows:

Number of

attendance/

Number of
Name of Directors meeting  Attendance rate
Wu Zhuo 11 100%
Liu Zhiyong 11 100%
Sun Patrick 1/1 100%
Li Guo'an 1/1 100%
Zhang Zhong 1/1 100%

Note:  On 31 May 2018, the Proposal on the Election of Members of the Board Committees of the Second Session of the Board of CRRC
Corporation Limited was considered and approved at the first meeting of the second session of the Board, and Mr. Wu Zhuo, Mr. Liu
Zhiyong and Mr. Sun Patrick were elected as the members of Remuneration and Evaluation Committee.
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Nomination Committee

During the reporting period, the Nomination Committee of the Board, in strict compliance with requirements of
the Working Rules for Nomination Committee of the Board, performed its duties in an independent and objective
manner. The Nomination Committee of the Board of the Company comprises independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Guo'an, Mr. Wu Zhuo and Mr. Sun Patrick and executive Directors Mr. Liu Hualong and Mr. Sun Yongcai. Mr.
Li Guo'an serves as the chairman of the committee. The Nomination Committee is held accountable to the Board
and its primary responsibilities are to formulate the nomination procedures and selection standards of the Directors
and Senior Management and to preliminarily review the eligibility and other qualifications of the candidates for the
Directors and Senior Management. The standards for recommendation on the nomination of the Directors include
suitable professional knowledge and industry experience, personal conduct, integrity and skills and commitment to
devote sufficient time; and to monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and to review and amend the
policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

During the reporting period, the Nomination Committee adopted the Board Diversity Policy. When reviewing the
size and composition of the Board and searching for and recommending candidates for Directors, the Nomination
Committee should take into account relevant factors to achieve the diversity of the Board in accordance with the
Company's business model and specific needs. The Committee may consider the diversity of the Board from various
aspects, including but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service and so forth. Upon consideration of the above factors, the
Nomination Committee shall make a final recommendation to the Board based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

During the reporting period, the Nomination Committee of the Board of the Company held five meetings in
total, at which nine proposals were considered, including, among others, the Proposal on the Assessment of the
Independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors. The attendance of each member is as follows:

Number of

attendance/
Number of Attendance
Name of Directors meeting rate
Li Guo'an 5/5 100%
Liu Hualong 4/5 80%
Sun Yongcai 5/5 100%
Wu Zhuo 5/5 100%
Sun Patrick 3/5 60%

Note:  On 31 May 2018, the Proposal on the Election of Members of the Board Committees of the Second Session of the Board of CRRC
Corporation Limited was considered and approved at the first meeting of the second session of the Board, and Mr. Li Guo'an, Mr. Liu
Hualong, Mr. Sun Yongcai, Mr. Wu Zhuo and Mr. Sun Patrick were elected as the members of Nomination Committee.
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VI.

CHAIRMAN AND PRESIDENT

To ensure the balanced distribution of power and authorization and to avoid excessive concentration of power, the positions of the
chairman and the president are assumed by different persons, so as to improve independence, accountability and responsibility.
The chairman and the president are two distinctly different positions, with clean division of responsibilities as set out in the Articles
of Association.

As the legal representative of the Company, the chairman presides over the operations of the Board, with the aim to ensure that the
Board acts in the best interests of the Company and operates effectively, performs its responsibilities accordingly and has discussion
over various important and appropriate matters so that the Directors have access to accurate, timely and clear data. The president,
on the other hand, leads the management and is responsible for the management of the day-to-day operations of the Company,
including the implementation of the policies adopted by the Board, and reporting to the Board on the Company's overall operation.
The Articles of Association set out in detail the respective responsibilities of the chairman and the president.

On 12 October 2017, having been considered and approved at the 26th meeting of the first session of the Board of the Company,
Mr. Sun Yongcai, the general manager of CRRCG (controlling shareholder of the Company), has been appointed as the president
of the Company. In February 2018, CRRCG has received the letter on the Waiver the Senior Management of CRRC GROUP Co,, Ltd.
From Part-time Job Limit (letter from Listing Department [2018IN0.193) ( (R R EEH PRI EEBERAFAISHEEAE
FEBMR BRI ) (EM3EP[2018]1935%)), according to which it agreed to waive Mr. Sun Yongcai, the Senior Management, from
part time job limit.

The independent Directors of the Company expressed the independent view on the performance status of Mr. Sun Yongcai during
the period of his concurrent post as the general manager of CRRCG (controlling shareholder of the Company), which is as follows:
Mr. Sun Yongcai presided in the production and operation work in the Company, paid close attention to relevant events in relation
to the finance management and business development of the Comapny, implemented the resolutions of the general meeting
and the Board and performed the presidential duties and exercised the presidential power pursuant to the laws and regulations
of the PRC and the requirement from regulatory documents and the Articles of Association of CRRC Corporation Limited and the
authorization form the Board of the Company, which demonstrated that he really performed the due diligent obligation that should
be performed by the president of the Company. Mr. Sun Yongcai strictly observed the relevant commitments such as avoiding
horizontal competition, ensuring compliance of related transaction and guarantying the independence of the Company made by
CRRC GROUP Co,, Ltd.; carried out work with diligence and responsibility and performed the presidential duties of the Company in
priority, and protected the interest of the Company and its minority shareholders.

SUPERVISORS AND THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The Supervisory Committee is the supervisory body of the Company, who reports to the general meeting of the Company and is
responsible for supervising the Company's financial condition and compliance of the performance of duties by Directors and Senior
Management, so as to protect the interests of the Company and shareholders under the laws. The Company has convened and
held meetings of the Supervisory Committee in accordance with the Rules of Procedures for the Supervisory Committee, and taken
effective measures to ensure the Supervisor's rights to be informed. All Supervisors were able to duly discharge their respective
duties and acted in the interests of the shareholders. Besides, they supervised all significant events, financial affairs of the Company
as well as the legal compliance of the performance of duties by the Directors and senior management of the Company.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for reviewing and approving the overall strategies and significant events of the Company. The Board
delegates to the management of the Company to be in charge of the management of the daily operation and strategy
implementation of the Company. The main responsibilities of the management include taking charge of the operation and
management of the Company, organizing the implementation of the resolutions of the Board, and reporting its work to the Board.
The management also organizes the implementation of the annual business and investment plans of the Company. In addition, the
management proposes the annual targets and a development plan of the Company based on the national industry policies and the
demand of markets, and organizes the implementation of the same upon consideration and approval at the Board meetings and
general meetings. The Board gives clear guidelines on the delegation to the management and regularly reviews the responsibilities
delegated to the management and their performance so as to ensure the overall interest of the Group. The management of the
Company submits briefing reports to the Board on a monthly basis, which set out the financial position and significant operating
performance of the Company. Issues such as the significant activities and decisions in the operation and management will also be
reported to the Board or Supervisory Committee by the management.
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VII.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

U)

()

(1)

Convening of an extraordinary general meeting by shareholders

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, shareholders individually or collectively holding more than ten percent (10%) of
the issued shares of the Company with voting rights are entitled to convene an extraordinary general meeting or separate
meeting of classes of shareholders by written request. Feedback on whether agreeing to convene the extraordinary general
meeting or separate meeting of classes of shareholders shall be given by the Board within ten (10) days upon receipt of the
request.

Shareholders proposed to convene the extraordinary general meeting or separate meeting of classes of shareholders by
written request are entitled to propose to the Supervisory Committee for convening the extraordinary general meeting or
separate meeting of classes of shareholders upon disagreement or no feedback on convening the extraordinary general
meeting or separate meeting of classes of shareholders from the Board within ten (10) days upon receipt of the request.
Notice on convening the meeting shall be issued by the Supervisory Committee within five (5) days upon receipt of request
where the committee agrees to convene the meeting. The Supervisory Committee is deemed as not to convene and host
the general meeting if notice on convening the meeting is not issued by the committee within the stipulated period.
Shareholders individually or collectively holding more than ten percent (10%) of the shares of the Company for a consecutive
period of ninety (90) days can convene and host the meeting by themselves.

Putting enquiry to the Board by shareholders

Shareholders can make enquiries to the Board at any time by contacting the Board Office. Shareholders who raise enquiries
shall provide evidence on their interests in the Company’s shares, such as documents of shareholding. Written means such
as email, facsimile and post with sufficient contact details are recommended by the Company for timely and appropriately
handling and recording of the enquiries.

Contact details of the Board Office of the Company are as follows:

Tel:(8610) 5186 2188
Fax:(8610) 6398 4785
Email:crrc@crrcge.cc
Postal address: No.16-5, Central West Fourth Ring Road, Haidian District, Beijing, the PRC

Submission of proposals to the general meetings by shareholders

Shareholders individually or collectively holding more than three percent (3%) of the shares of the Company can submit
additional proposal(s) in writing to the convenor on or before ten (10) days prior to the date of the general meeting.
The additional proposal(s) should be within the terms of reference of the general meeting and with explicit subject and
specific matters to be resolved on. Shareholders can contact the Board Office of the Company for submitting proposal(s)
to the general meeting, the contact details of which are set out in the section headed “Putting enquiry to the Board by
shareholders’.

VIII. SIGNIFICANT CHANGE IN THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

In order to further improve its corporate governance, pursuant to the Company Law of the PRC, the prevailing laws, regulations and
regulatory documents including the relevant regulations of the CSRC and the listing rules of the places where the Company’s shares
are listed, and based on the Company's needs in its actual production and operation, the Board proposed to amend the Articles
of Association (including the amendments to the Rules of Procedure for General Meetings of CRRC Corporation Limited, the Rules
of Procedure for the Board of Directors of CRRC Corporation Limited and the Rules of Procedure for the Supervisory Committee of
CRRC Corporation Limited which are appendices thereto). Please refer to the announcement dated on 28 March 2018 published by
the Company on the websites of the Stock Exchange.
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XI.

XIl.

ESTABLISHMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION ON THE EVALUATION AND INCENTIVE SYSTEM
FOR THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Company conducts annual evaluation on the performance of the Senior Management by focusing on the evaluation and
appraisal made on work performance, personal objective and behavior as well as teamwork. The remuneration of the Senior
Management, including basic salary and performance bonus is determined based on performance evaluations made by the
Company in the year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors confirm that they are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2018, in order to truly and impartially report the financial conditions and business results of the Company, and
undertake relevant responsibilities for preparation of the financial statements of the Company. The Audit and Risk Management
Committee of the Company has reviewed the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018.

With the assistance of the accounting department, the Directors ensure that the financial statements of the Company were
prepared in accordance with relevant laws, regulations and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure that the
financial statements will be published in due course.

The responsibility statement made by the Company’s auditors in respect of the financial statements is set out in the section headed
"Independent Auditors’ Report” of this annual report.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS

The Company has adopted the Management Method Regarding the Shareholding of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management on terms no less exacting than the required standards of securities transaction set out in the Model Code. Relevant
employees who are likely to learn inside information in relation to the securities of the Company are also subject to the rules
required under such document.

As of 31 December 2018, after making specific inquiries with all Directors and Supervisors, the Company confirmed that all Directors
and Supervisors had complied with the relevant codes on securities transactions by Directors and Supervisors as set out in the
Model Code and the Management Method regarding Shareholding of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management of the
Company.

AUDITORS

On 31 May 2018, the Resolution in Relation to the Engagement of Audit Firms of CRRC Corporation Limited for 2018 was considered
and approved at the 2017 annual general meeting. According to the above resolution, the Company appointed Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu as the auditor for 2018 financial statements prepared under the International Financial Reporting Standards; and
engaged Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA LLP as the auditors in respect of financial report prepared under domestic financial
reporting standards and in respect of internal control for 2018.

In 2018, the Company had paid the auditors an aggregate fee (tax inclusive) of RMB28.60 million, which included advance
payments such as travel expenses and communication costs etc. In particular, the audit fees (tax inclusive) paid in respect of
financial statements amounted to RMB22.30 million, audit fees (tax inclusive) paid in respect of internal control amounted to RMB2
million, fees (tax inclusive) paid in respect of interim agree-upon procedures amounted to RMB4.1 million and fees (tax inclusive)
paid in respect of verification of placement and actual use of the proceeds of the Company amounted to RMB0.20 million.
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XII. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for ongoing supervision of the Company’s risk management and internal control and shall ensure that
the risk management and internal control of functional departments and affiliated entities of the Company shall be assessed
at least annually. The Board shall ensure that the risk management and internal control is assessed on sufficiency of resources,
staff qualification and experience, relevant training and relevant budget on an annual basis. The Company has disclosed the
risk management and internal control assessment in compliance with the relevant requirements under the Guidelines on
Comprehensive Risk Management of Enterprises Directly under the Central Government, the Basic Practices of Internal Control of
Enterprises and the Hong Kong Listing Rules, etc.

The Company has established its internal auditing function, and the Board is responsible for supervising the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness through the Audit and Risk Management Committee.
The Audit and Risk Management Committee shall assist the Board in the performance of its supervision of the Company's resources
in finance, operation, compliance, risk management and internal control and financial and internal auditing functions as well as its
role in corporate governance.

The Company has established a clearly defined organization structure with proper authorization, and has strict rules of procedure
and reporting procedures in place. The audit and risk department of the Company assists the Board and the Audit and Risk
Management Committee in the ongoing supervision and improvement of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems. The Board is regularly informed of material risks which may affect the Company’s performance through the Audit
and Risk Management Committee.

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems mentioned above, and is responsible for reviewing
the effectiveness of such systems. The Board further clarifies that the abovementioned systems were established to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide a reasonable but not absolute assurance
against misstatement or loss.

The Company has established appropriate policies and monitoring procedures to ensure that no assets will be used or disposed of
without authorization. The Company maintains reliable financial and accounting records in accordance with relevant accounting
standards and regulatory reporting procedures, and properly identifies major risks which may affect the Company's performance
and reasonably ensures that the level of risk is within the acceptable scope of the Company.

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside information in accordance with the obligation policy and various
supplementary procedures of the Company so that inside information remains confidential until their disclosure is duly approved,
and such information can be published effectively and consistently.
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The risk management and internal control structure of the Company is guided under the following “Three Defense Lines (= &85
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The risk management and internal control department of the Company organizes the functional departments and affiliated entities
of the Company to conduct annual risk assessment, prepare risk assessment report and report to the Audit and Risk Management
Committee annually on a regularly basis. The functional departments and affiliated entities of the Company implement responding
measures in respect of material risks in accordance with their respective responsibilities and report to the risk management and
internal control department of the Company annually. Matters to be assessed include, among other things, risk management
and internal control work scope of operation management, reporting of risk management and internal control work by operation
management to the Board or the Audit and Risk Management Committee, changes in nature and severity of material risks
subsequent to review in the previous year, the Company's abilities to respond to business transformation and changes in external
environment and assessment on material risk management and internal control errors or material risk management and internal
control defects identified during the period.

The audit and risk department of the Company reports to the Audit and Risk Management Committee on a regularly basis,
including annual work plan, important audit report, material risks and responding measures implemented.

The audit and risk department of the Company carries out the work based on risks and problems. The annual work plan of the audit
and risk department of the Company covers the Company’s operation, business and finance and major procedures of its affiliated
entities, and reports the audit findings to the Board and management of the Company. The audit and risk department of the
Company urges relevant entities to rectify the problems identified in the audit process and reports the progress of rectification to
the Audit and Risk Management Committee and the management on a regularly basis.

The audit and risk management department of the Company reports the sufficiency and effectiveness of its monitoring to the
Board, the Audit and Risk Management Committee, chief executive officer and chief finance officer of the Company.

The management of the Company, with assistance of the risk management and internal control department and the internal audit
department, is responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems,
and submitting the report on the effectiveness of risk management and internal control to the Board and the Audit and Risk
Management Committee.
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The Company has adopted various policies and procedures to evaluate and enhance the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems, including requiring the management of the Company to conduct assessment on a regular basis and
control the risks at a level which is acceptable to the Company to ensure that the risk management and internal control systems
operate effectively, which the Company believes will enhance the future corporate governance and improve the risk management
and internal control capacities of the Company.

The Company has integrated risk management and internal control into its daily operations. The functional departments and
affiliated entities of the Company continuously conduct risk assessment, formulate risk management strategies and risk responding
measures, assess residual risk and report risk events and responding measures implemented to the risk management and internal
control department of the Company on a seasonal basis. The risk management and internal control department of the Company
summarizes the possibility and effect of risk events, analyses the effectiveness of risk management and internal control strategies
and responding measures and reports to the management and the Board of the Company on a regular basis.

In 2018, the risk management and internal control department of the Company organized various departments and affiliated
entities to continuously conduct risk management and internal control activities to improve the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control, including but not limited to the following: organized and conducted annual risk assessment and responding
management; organized and conducted annual internal control evaluation; carried out risk management and internal control
consultation in respect of its affiliated entities in order to improve their risk management and internal control capacities; focused
on risk evaluation of significant investment, overseas merger & acquisition and export-related project; prepared and released 11 risk
management and internal control guidelines and guidebooks. The risk management and internal control department submitted
the latest report on risk management and internal control to the Board and the Audit and Risk Management Committee during the
year, and assisted the Board in reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Company.

In 2018, the internal audit department of the Company carried out special inspection and monitoring on the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Company in terms of finance, operation and compliance monitoring and
reported the relevant findings to the management and the Board of the Company.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Board have not identified any risk event which materially affects the
Company's financial condition or operating results and consider that the risk management and internal control systems are
reasonably designed and operated effectively, including there are sufficient resources, staff qualification and experience for
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions as well as sufficient staff training programs and budget.

In addition to monitoring and inspection of the risk management and internal control implemented by the Company, external
auditors also evaluate the sufficiency and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control of the Company as part of its
statutory audit. The Company will adopt the relevant recommendations of external auditors to enhance its risk management and
internal control.

In 2018, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA LLP audited the financial statements and the effectiveness of relevant internal control of
the Company, and issued an audit report with unqualified opinion. Relevant report has been reviewed and approved by the Audit
and Risk Management Committee.



RELEVANT INFORMATION OF CORPORATE BONDS

BASIC INFORMATION OF CORPORATE BONDS

During the reporting period, the Company holds a 2013 five-year corporate bond of CSR Corporation Limited (first tranche), a
2013 ten-year corporate bond of CSR Corporation Limited (first tranche) and a 2016 five-year corporate bond of CRRC Corporation
Limited (first tranche).

The 2013 five-year corporate bond of CSR Corporation Limited (first tranche) was issued by CSR on 22 April 2013 and will expire on
22 April 2018.

The 2013 ten-year corporate bond of CSR Corporation Limited (first tranche) was issued by CSR on 22 April 2013 and will expire on
22 April 2023. The outstanding balance of the bonds is RMB 1,500 million and bears an interest rate of 5.00%. The interest on the
bond will be paid annually and the principal will be repaid in one sum. The bond is listed and traded on the SSE.

The 2016 five-year corporate bond of CRRC Corporation Limited (first tranche) was issued by the Company on 30 August 2016 and
will expire on 30 August 2021. The outstanding balance of the bond is RMB2,000 million and bears an interest rate of 2.95%. The
interest on the bond will be paid annually and the principal will be repaid in one sum. The bond is listed and traded on the SSE.

Interests payment for corporate bonds

On 17 April 2018, CRRC Corporation Limited disclosed the Announcement in relation to Interest Payment and Delisting of 13 CSR
01 Corporate Bond and the Announcement on Interests Payment of 13 CSR 02 Corporate Bond and paid the interests of 13CSR 01
and 13 CSR 02 for the period from 22 April 2017 to 21 April 2018 on 23 April 2018 and paid the principal of 13 CSR 01 on 23 April
2018. On 23 August 2018, CRRC Corporation Limited disclosed the Announcement in relation to Interest Payment of 16 CRRC 01
Corporate Bond and paid the interests of 16 CRRC 01 for the period from 30 August 2017 to 29 August 2018 on 30 August 2018.

ENHANCING BOND CREDIT MECHANISM OF THE COMPANY DURING THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 5 August 2015, with the approval from SASAC of the State Council, CNRG and CSRG signed the Merger Agreement of China
Northern Locomotive & Rolling Stock Industry (Group) Corporation and CSR Group ( (R B4t T # B B8 T 22 M N A B2 B R
BHEENF Z A ). It was agreed that CNRG will merge with CSRG by way of absorption, CSRG will be de-registered, CNRG
will be renamed as “CRRC Group” (Bl AR BB £ [E]/2 ) and all assets, liabilities, businesses, employees, contracts, qualifications and
all other rights and obligations of CSRG will be assumed by CRRCG, the postmerger corporation. On 7 September 2015, the trustee,
China International Capital Corporation Limited (47 B BB <& @b %15 B PR A A)), convened the second meeting of bondholders
of 2013 corporate bond of CSR Corporation Limited (first tranche) in 2015 at meeting room No. 2810 of China International Capital
Corporation Limited at 28th Floor, China World Office 2, 1 Jianguomenwai Avenue, Beijing, P.R. China, where the Proposal on CRRC
Group' s Assumption of CSR Group's Obligation of Guarantee for this Tranche of Bond ( A BIFR B £2 @A B4R B g B 5
B AR ARNEIE SRR EFRFES) ) was considered and approved. On 24 September 2015, CNRG completed the registration
of change of name and changed its name to “CRRC Group (R EIF EE & /A F))". The obligation of CSRG as a guarantor for the
2013 five-year corporate bond of CSR Corporation Limited (first tranche) and the 2013 ten-year corporate bond of CSR Corporation
Limited (first tranche) was assumed by CRRCG.

On 14 December 2017, CRRC Corporation Limited published the Announcement of CRRC Corporation Limited on the Restructuring
and Renaming of Its Controlling Shareholders and Change of Industrial and Commercial Registration Matters Thereof ( {# Bl
BRHABRAFIBERIZERRERNGIE L RABIEELEREEMNQE) ). Subject to the approval of SASAC, CRRCG was
transformed into a wholly state-owned enterprise (B175 %84 /2 &)) from an enterprises owned by the whole people (£ RFTH §l
1), After restructuring, the full name of CRRCG is ‘R BIF B & E B IR A & (CRRC GROUP Co, Ltd.)’", and SASAC shall perform its
duties as an investor on behalf of the State Council. All claims and debts, various professional and special qualifications and licenses
of CRRCG shall be assumed by CRRC GROUP Co,, Ltd.
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1. ACCOUNTING DATA AND FINANCIAL INDICATORS OF THE COMPANY FOR LAST TWO YEARS
AS AT THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
Unit: '000 Currency: RMB
Change
between the period
2017 and same period
Major indicator 2018 (restated) last year
EBITDA 21,729,876 21,010,622 3.42%
Current ratio 1.21 1.26 -3.97%
Quickratio 0.79 0.84 -5.95%
Gearing ratio (%) 58.13 62.18 A decrease of 4.05%
EBITDA of total debt ratio (%) 1046 9.96  Anincrease of 0.50%
Interest coverage multiple 9.27 8.64 7.29%
Cash interest coverage multiple 15.20 16.22 -6.29%
EBITDA interest coverage multiple 13.33 12.50 6.64%
Loan repayment rate (%) 1.00 1.00 -
Interest paid coverage (%) 108.55 100.00  Anincrease of 8.55%
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BANK CREDIT FACILITIES DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

As at 31 December 2018, table below sets forth details on the amount of bank the credit facilities, the utilized amount and the

outstanding credit facilities of the Company:

Name of bank

Amount of
credit facilities

Unit: ‘000 Currency: RMB

Outstanding

Utilized amount credit facilities

Business department of CITIC Bank head office 5,000,000 467,659 4,532,341
Industrial Bank Beijing Branch 3,000,000 — 3,000,000
China Development Bank 12,000,000 — 12,000,000
Everbright Bank of China 3,500,000 — 3,500,000
Bank of Communications Beijing Branch 10,000,000 — 10,000,000
Beijing Rural Commercial Bank 3,500,000 500,000 3,000,000
Bank of Kunlun 1,000,000 — 1,000,000
China Construction Bank Corporation 10,000,000 4,082,192 5,917,808
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China 9,900,000 700,010 9,199,990
Bank of China 20,000,000 3,451,786 16,548,214
The Export-Import Bank of China 18,000,000 — 18,000,000
China Minsheng Bank 20,000,000 6,461,352 13,538,648
Agricultural Bank of China 8,000,000 1,740,000 6,260,000
China Merchants Bank 10,000,000 4,409,099 5,590,901
Societe Generale (China) Limited 100,000 81,151 18,849
Bank of Beijing Beichen Road Sub-branch 7,500,000 — 7,500,000
China Zheshang Bank 5,000,000 — 5,000,000
Hua Xia Bank Co., Ltd. Beijing Branch 4,000,000 — 4,000,000
SPD Bank 4,000,000 — 4,000,000
Total 154,500,000 21,893,249 132,606,751
Unit: '000 Currency: USD
Amount of Outstanding

Name of bank

credit facilities

Utilized amount credit facilities

SCB 245,000 5,055 239,945
DBS 100,000 2,425 97,575
Citibank 224,000 — 224,000
Total 569,000 7,480 561,520
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VI.

EXPLANATION OF THE EXECUTION OF RELEVANT COVENANTS OR UNDERTAKING SET OUT
IN THE PROSPECTUS OF CORPORATE BONDS OF THE COMPANY DURING THE REPORTING
PERIOD

During the reporting period, the Company has paid interest and repaid principal to bondholders in respect of the 2013 five-year
corporate bond of CSR Corporation Limited (first tranche), the 2013 ten-year corporate bond of CSR Corporation Limited (first
tranche) and the 2016 five-year corporate bond of CRRC Corporation Limited (first tranche) in strict compliance with principal
and interest repayment arrangements prescribed in the prospectus, without any breach of the relevant covenants or undertaking
thereto.

SIGNIFICNAT EVENTS OF THE COMPANY AND THEIR IMPACT ON THE OPERATION AND
SOLVENCY OF THE COMPANY

During the reporting period, there was no event which may have any significant impact on the operation and solvency of the
Company.



INVESTOR RELATIONS

We established a platform for communication with investors and smoothed the channels for communication with investors, in order to
communicate effectively with investors, continuously expand the Company's influence in the capital market and increase the Company’s
market value.

In 2018, in order to expand the Company's influence in the capital market, the Company communicated with investors and potential
investors through various channels, such as organizing roadshows and reverse roadshows, participation in the strategic meetings of
securities companies, etc. Firstly, organizing roadshow activities. The Company held three roadshows in total in Hong Kong, Shanghai,
Shenzhen, Guangzhou and Beijing throughout the year. In April, the Company organized the 2017 annual results presentation conference
in Hong Kong, and a total of nearly 100 investors and senior analysts from major financial institutions attended the conference. Secondly,
organizing reverse roadshow activities. In September, the Company invited analysts to conduct reverse roadshow activities, and successively
held analysts' research activities in Qigihar and Changchun to enable investors to understand the restructuring of its freight wagon
business, the development of freight wagon industry, the production of EMUs, urban rail transit vehicle business, etc., and to increase
the investors’ confidence in investing in the Company’s shares. Thirdly, participation in the strategic meetings and forums of securities
companies. The Company participated in the strategic meetings of the securities companies 19 times in total, and communicated with
approximately 150 major companies in one-to-one or one-to-many ways. Lastly, well prepared for crisis management and stabilizing the
share price. For the negative news reported by the media, the Company launched the emergency plan immediately and took responsive
measures of monitoring the development of public opinion, announcing the positive news and communicating with key analysts to
increase the market confidence.

Except for the abovementioned major work, the Company continued to enhance the daily work of investor relationships. Firstly, the
Company organized domestic and foreign financial public relation companies, edited and pushed daily monitoring information from
the media, weekly reports on capital market and analyzed the public events to provide the information support for the members of the
Board, the Supervision Committee and senior management in a timely and accurate way. Secondly, it tracked the share price and analyzed
the structure of shareholders, the movement of shareholdings of substantial shareholders. Thirdly, it continued to update investors’
profiles, established an analyst library of the capital market, especially the analyst library of the companies concerned throughout the
year, conducted daily management and maintenance, and regularly updated the library about investors concerns. Fourthly, it timely
updated the special column of investor relationships at the website of the Company, enabled the investors to keep up with the company
information. Fifthly, it engaged knowledgeable staff to answer the phone from investors, receive their emails, record and answer the
questions in a patient and meticulous way.

The investor relations work focus of the Company is to build a responsible CRRC and enhance the communication with media and
customers. The Company created a brand image of responsible CRRC through targeted poverty alleviation and constantly enhancing
the promotion of social responsibility image. Taking advantage of the public open day of Fans Reception of CRRC (BB #)E#EF )
and the fifth and sixth session of Fans Reception (EE2K 4 £Y) activities, the Company not only brought “Dalian Company (K382 &))", the
core subsidiary of CRRC, into the spotlight, but also introduced the CRRC Times Electric Vehicle to market its new business. Leveraging on
the Shanghai cooperation Qingdao Summit, BRICS summit in Johannesburg, the fifth anniversary of “One Belt One Road”, CRRC strongly
promoted its strategy of “going global” and participation in the constructing of “One Belt One Road”. CRRC took the opportunity of
InnoTrans trade fair, “High-speed train Olympic (22 E238 €)", held in Berlin, to exhibit its creative product to the world. CRRC made active
efforts in the promotion and report of the launch of “Fuxinghao” EMUs in long formation, the running test of centralized power EMUs,
the going off the production line of the 5000th subway in Shanghai, the export of locomotives to Jamaica, the export of urban rail transit
vehicles to Nigeria, and the export of automatic subway trains to Singapore.
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Investor Relations

Over the past year, the Company was accredited with various recognitions in the capital market and successively won 14 important prizes:
(1) "Outstanding Contribution Entrepreneurs” in the 40th Anniversary of Reform and Opening Up by China Securities Golden Bauhinia
Awards 2018, “One Belt One Road Best Practical Listed Company” and “Best Board Secretary of Listed Companies”; (2) “Top 100 Companies
in China" in 18th China Listed Companies Top 100 Forum, “Top 100 Outstanding Entrepreneurs in China”, “Top 100 Outstanding Secretary
to the Board in China’; (3) 4 awards including the 2017 Annual Report of the Company ranking 58th in the 2017 Vision Awards Annual
Report Competition by League of American Communications Professionals (LACP), Gold Medal in the equipment, machinery and
instrument industry team, ranking 60th of Best Annual Report in China in 2017 and Art Design Technique Achievement Award; (4) 3 awards
including the 2017 Annual Report of the Company awarding Gold Medal of printing production in the rail transportation manufacturing
industry, Financial Information Honorary Award and Literary Context Honorary Award in the 2018 MerComm Annual Report Competition;
(5) A class in the evaluation of information disclosure of the listed company of the year in Shanghai Stock Exchange for three consecutive
years.

With effective investor relations management, we promoted positive interaction between the Company and investors, hence building
a stable and high quality investor base, creating an investment philosophy to achieve maximum company interest while increasing the
interest of its shareholders as a whole.



CHANGES IN SHARES AND PARTICULARS OF SHAREHOLDERS

I.  CHANGES IN SHARE CAPITAL

During the reporting period, all the issued shares of the Company were ordinary shares, and there were no changes in the total
number of ordinary shares and share capital structure.

Il.  ISSUE AND LISTING OF SECURITIES

U)

(In

Issue of securities during the reporting period

During the reporting period, there were no securities issued by the company.

Existing internal employee shares

The Company has no internal employee shares.

lll. PARTICULARS OF SHAREHOLDERS AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLER

()  Total number of shareholders
Total number of shareholders of ordinary shares as of the end of the reporting
period (shareholder) 809,715
Total number of shareholders of ordinary shares as of the end of the last month before
the disclosure date of the annual report (shareholder) " 818,013
Note:  As at the end of the reporting period, the Company had 807,296 holders of A Shares and 2,419 holders of H Shares; as at the end of the month
prior to the date of the annual report, the Company has 815,329 holders of A Shares and 2,684 holders of H Shares.
(I)  Shareholdings of the top ten shareholders and the top ten holders of tradeable shares (or holders
of shares not subject to trading moratorium) as of the end of the reporting period
Unit: share
Shareholdings of the top ten shareholders
Shares pledged or frozen
Number of
Number of shares shares subject
held at the end to trading
Change during the of the reporting moratorium Pledged
Name of shareholder (full name) reporting period period  Percentage (%) held or frozen Number  Nature of shareholder
CRRCGe=? -1,061,857,866 14429518023 5028 705,052,878 Nil —  State-owned legal person
HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED'2 -593,850 4359980558 1519 — Unknown —  Overseaslegal person
China Securities Finance

Corporation Limited

(FEEFLBRNERAT) 340451675 858958,326 299 - Unknown —  State-owned legal person
China Reform Investment Co, Ltd.

EFREERRR) 373,149730 373,149730 130 - Unknown —  State-owned legal person
CRRC Financial and Securities -143494,300 329763427 115 — Ni —  State-owned legal person
Central Huijin Asset Management Ltd.

(FRESEEERERRMAAT) 0 304502,100 106 - Unknown —  State-owned legal person
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Changes in Shares and Particulars of Shareholders

Shareholdings of the top ten shareholders

Change during the

Name of shareholder (full name) reporting period

Number of shares
held at the end
of the reporting
period

Percentage (%)

Number of
shares subject
to trading
moratorium
held

Pledged
or frozen

Shares pledged or frozen

Number

Nature of shareholder

Shanghai Xinghan Asset - Industrial

Bank - China Industrial International

Trust Limited
(DERREE-ARRT-
BRETERAT) 0
Bosera Funds - Agricultural Bank

of China - Bosera China Securities

and Financial Assets Management Plan

(BEES-RERT-

BENZLREEEE ) 54811,900
E Fund - Agricultural Bank

of China - E Fund China Securities

and Financial Assets Management Plan

(FHEES-REHT-

PhETEEREETEHE) 54811900
Dacheng Fund — Agricultural Bank

of China — Dacheng China Securities

and Financial Assets Management Plan

(RBES-RERIT-

RKFEEREEEE N2 54811,900
Harvest Fund - Agricultural Bank

of China - Harvest China Securities

and Financial Assets Management Plan

FEEES-RERST-

BETECREAEEENE) 54811900
GF Fund - Agricultural Bank

of China - GF China Securities

and Financial Assets Management Plan

(BRES-RERT-

REMECRAZEESE) 54811,900

235017,626

234,982,900

234,982,900

234982900

234982900

234982,900

0.

oo
&3

082

082

082

082

082

235017,626

Unknown

Unknown

Unknown

Unknown

Unknown

Unknown

State-owned legal person

Unknown

Unknown

Unknown

Unknown

Unknown



Changes in Shares and Particulars of Shareholders

Shareholdings of the top ten shareholders

Change during the
Name of shareholder (full name) reporting period

Number of shares
held at the end
of the reporting
period

Percentage (%)

Number of
shares subject
to trading
moratorium
held

Shares pledged or frozen

Pledged
or frozen

Number

Nature of shareholder

Zhong'ou Asset - Agricultural Bank

of China - Zhongou China

Securities and Financial

Assets Management Plan

(FEES-RERT-

hEhESRAEEEHE) 54811,900
ChinaAMC - Agricultural Bank

of China - ChinaAMC China Securities

and Financial Assets Management Plan

EEES-RERT-

ZEPEOREREEHNE) 54811,900
Yinhua Fund - Agricultural Bank

of China - Yinhua China Securities

and Financial Assets Management Plan

(FEES-REBIT-

REDECRAEEEHE) 54811,900
China Southern Asset Management -

Agricultural Bank of China -

China Southern Asset Management

China Securities and Financial

Assets Management Plan

EHES-RERT-

BAPEEREREEHNE) 54811,900
ICBCCS Fund - Agricultural Bank

of China - ICBCCS China Securities

and Financial Assets Management Plan

(ImiES-REBT-

IRnETEENEEREHE) 54811,900

234982,900

234982,900

234982900

234982,900

234982900

082

082

082

082

082

Unknown

Unknown

Unknown

Unknown

Unknown

Unknown

Unknown

Unknown

Unknown

Unknown
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Changes in Shares and Particulars of Shareholders

Unit: share
Shareholdings of the top ten shareholders not subject to trading moratorium
Number of tradable
shares held not
subject to trading Class and number of shares
Name of shareholders moratorium  Class Number
CRRCGere! 13,724,465145  Ordinary shares denominated in RVMB 13,724,465,145
HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED 2 4,359,980,558  Overseas listed foreign shares 4,359,980,558
China Securities Finance Corporation Limited 858958326  Ordinary shares denominated in RMB 858,958,326
(TEEFERROARAT)
China Reform Investment Co, Ltd. (B#REBER A7) 373,149,730  Ordinary shares denominated in RMB 373,149,730
CRRC Financial and Securities 329,763427  Ordinary shares denominated in RMB 329,763,427
Central Huijin Asset Management Ltd. 304,502,100  Ordinary shares denominated in RMB 304,502,100
(PAESEEERERETAF)
Bosera Funds — Agricultural Bank of China — Bosera 234,982,900  Ordinary shares denominated in RMB 234,982,900
China Securities and Financial Assets Management Plan
(BRES-RERT-BRTESHEEEE )
E Fund — Agricultural Bank of China — E Fund China 234,982,900  Ordinary shares denominated in RMB 234,982,900
Securities and Financial Assets Management Plan
(BHERS-BRERG-FHETECREEEEHE)
Dacheng Fund — Agricultural Bank of China — Dacheng 234,982,900  Ordinary shares denominated in RMB 234,982,900
China Securities and Financial Assets Management Plan
(R EE-RERIT-ANTEEHEEEE )
Harvest Fund — Agricultural Bank of China — Harvest 234,982,900  Ordinary shares denominated in RMB 234,982,900
China Securities and Financial Assets Management Plan
FEES BERT-RETECREEEEME)
GF Fund — Agricultural Bank of China — GF China Securities 234,982,900  Ordinary shares denominated in RMB 234,982,900
and Financial Assets Management Plan
(BRES-RERT-ERTECHEETEHNE)
Zhongou Asset — Agricultural Bank of China — Zhongou China 234,982,900  Ordinary shares denominated in RMB 234,982,900
Securities and Financial Assets Management Plan
(B ES-BERT-HRTESREEER M)
China AMC — Agricultural Bank of China — China AMC China 234,982,900  Ordinary shares denominated in RMB 234,982,900
Securities and Financial Assets Management Plan
FEEES RERTEETECHEETEHNE)
Yinhua Fund — Agricultural Bank of China — Yinhua China 234,982,900  Ordinary shares denominated in RMB 234,982,900
Securities and Financial Assets Management Plan
(RELS-BERT-RETFOREEERHE)
China Southern Asset Management — Agricultural Bank 234,982,900  Ordinary shares denominated in RMB 234,982,900
of China— China Southern Asset Management China Securities
and Financial Assets Management Plan
EAES-BERT-BATESRHEEER M)
ICBCCS Fund — Agricultural Bank of China — ICBCCS China 234,982,900  Ordinary shares denominated in RMB 234,982,900

Securities and Financial Assets Management Plan

(IR BERT-IRRETECREEERHE)

Connections or parties acting in concert among
the aforesaid shareholders

CRRC Financial and Securities is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRRCG. Save for the above, the Company is not aware
of any connections among the other shareholders above, nor aware of any parties acting in concert as defined in the
Administrative Measures on Acquisitions by Listed Companies.

Note 1: During the Reporting Period, CRRC GROUP transferred each 373,085,233 A shares of CRRC held by it to Beijing Chengtong Financial Control

Investment Co,, Ltd. (b 3B &1 E B R A 7)) and China Reform Investment Co., Ltd. (B$T#% & B BR A 7)) respectively. Upon the
completion of such gratuitous transfer, CRRC GROUP directly held 14,745,205,423 A shares of CRRC, representing 51.38% of the total share
capital of the Company. For details of the aforesaid matters, please refer to the “Indicative announcement of CRRC Corporation Limited on
the Gratuitous Transfer of State-owned Shares (7 BIHR B8 i% 17 5 FR A Rl B B A X5 EE I E IR R M A %) and the “Announcement
of CRRC Corporation Limited on Completion of Registration for Gratuitous Transfer of State-owned Shares (F7 B AR B8 f% 19 /& R A &I B B
ARHEEZETABF B LM AE) issued by the Company dated 3 July 2018 and 14 August 2018 respectively. During the Reporting
Period, CRRC GROUP subscribed for ChinaAMC China Securities SOE Structural Adjustment ETFs (ZEE 1 38 R {451 FEETF) and Bosera
China Securities SOE Structural Adjustment ETFs (185 AR 35 R 1> 4518 85 ETF) by 315,687,400 A shares of CRRC. CRRC Financial and Securities,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRRC GROUP, subscribed for ChinaAMC China Securities SOE Structural Adjustment ETFs (GEE R iE R {45
FHFEETF), Bosera China Securities SOE Structural Adjustment ETFs (1855 FR 38 R 1> 451 8 2EETF) and Yinhua China Securities SOE Structural
Adjustment ETFs (3R % /R 75 5 b A58 FHFEETF) by 64,572,000 A shares of CRRC. The procedures of share register for the aforesaid subscriptions
were completed.

Note 2: H shares held by HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED are held on behalf of its various clients.



Changes in Shares and Particulars of Shareholders

(1

Shareholding of the top ten shareholders subject to trading moratorium and their respective terms of trading
moratorium

Unit: share
Trading conditions of the shares subject to trading
moratorium
Number of
Name of shareholders subject shares held subject  Date of listing Additional listed
No. to trading moratorium to trading moratorium  and trading and tradeable shares  Terms of trading moratorium
1 CRRCG 705052878 17 January 2020 705,052,878 36 months after the completion date
of the Non-public Issuance
2 Shanghai Xinghan Asset - Industrial Bank - 235017626 17 January 2020 235017626 36 months after the completion date
China Industrial International Trust Limited of the Non-public Issuance
(DERSAE- RERITAXEARETAERAR)
3 China Development Bank Capital Corporation Ltd. 176263219 17 January 2020 176263219 36 months after the completion dateof
EReBEREARR) the Non-public Issuance
4 Shanghai Zhaoyin Equity Investment 117508813 17 January 2020 117508813 36 months after the completion date
Fund Management Co, Ltd. of the Non-public Issuance
(LERRRER AR ERARAR)
5 China Development Bank Jingcheng (Beijing) 117508813 17 January 2020 117508813 36 months after the completion date
Investment Fund Co, Ltd. of the Non-public Issuance
(BB LR REESBRAR)
6 China Development Bank Siyuan (Beijing) 58,754406 17 January 2020 58754406 36 months after the completion date
Investment Fund Co,, Ltd. of the Non-public Issuance
([ERBE (R REELERAF)
Explanation on the connected or acting Both China Development Bank Jingcheng (Beijing) Investment Fund Co, Ltd. and China Development Bank Siyuan (Beijing) Investment
in concert relationship of the above shareholders Fund Co, Ltd. are corporate PE investment funds and are managed by China Development Bank Investment and Development Fund
Management (Beijing) Co, Ltd, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Development Bank Capital Corporation Limited (EIf% &
BREERR).

Strategic investors or ordinary legal persons who became top ten shareholders due to placing of shares

During the reporting period, there were no strategic investors or ordinary legal persons who became top ten shareholders
due to placing of shares.

Shareholding interests of Directors, Supervisors and Chief Executive

As at 31 December 2018, the following Directors and Supervisors have interests in the A Shares and H Shares of the Company
and relevant details are set out as follows:

Number
Name Position Class of shares of shares
Liu Hualong Chairman, Executive Director A Shares 50,000
Sun Yongcai President, Executive Director A Shares 111,650
Qiu Wei Employee representative Supervisor A Shares 30,000

Save as disclosed in the annual report, as at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors, Supervisors or chief executive of
the Company had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be entered in the register maintained by
the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code by the Directors or Supervisors.
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Changes in Shares and Particulars of Shareholders

(IV) Substantial shareholders’ interests and short positions in the Company

As at 31 December 2018, the persons set out in the table below had an interest or short position in the Company’s shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Percentage of
Hshares or A
shares held in the
total issued H Percentage of total
Number of H shares shares or total share capital
Name of Shareholders Capacity H Shares or A Shares Nature of Interest or A shares held issued A shares of the Company
(%) (%)
CRRC GROUP Co, Ltd. Beneficial owner A Shares Long position 14429518023 5931 5028
Interest of corporation AShares Long position 329763427 136 115
controlled by the
substantial shareholder
BlackRock, Inc. Interest of corporation H Shares Long position 315,085,482 70 110
controlled by the
substantial shareholder
Interest of corporation Short position 20,566,000 047 007
controlled by the
substantial shareholder
Citigroup Inc. Person having a security H Shares Long position 270671316 619 094
interest in shares,
Interest of corporation
controlled by the
substantial shareholder,
Approved lending agent
Interest of corporation H Shares Short position 4825000 01 002
controlled by the
substantial shareholder
Approved lending agent H Shares Shares in lending pool 248,766,328 569 087
JPMorgan Chase & Co. Interest of corporation H Shares Long position 264,952,390 606 092
controlled by the
substantial shareholder,
Investment manager,
Person having a security
interest in shares, Approved
lending agent
Interest of corporation H Shares Short position 27623543 063 010
controlled by the
substantial shareholder,
Investment manager
Approved lending agent H Shares Shares in lending pool 141,806,080 324 049

Notes: Asat 31 December 2018, CRRCG holds 329,763,427 A shares through CRRC Financial and Securities.

Save as disclosed above, as far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2018, no other person had interests and/or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares (as the case may be) of the Company which were required to be recorded
in the register pursuant to section 336 of Part XV of the SFO, or was otherwise a substantial shareholder (as defined in the
Hong Kong Listing Rules) of the Company.
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IV. PARTICULARS OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER AND THE ULTIMATE CONTROLLER

()  Controlling shareholder

1. Legal person

Name:

Legal representative:
Establishment date:
Principal business:

Equity interest in other controlling
and investee companies listed
in the PRC or overseas during
the reporting period:

CRRC GROUP Co, Ltd. (FEIF EEEBRAR)

Liu Hualong

1 July 2002

Research and development, manufacturing, sales, refurbishment and
leasing of locomotives, passenger carriages, freight wagons, MUs, rapid
transit vehicles and key components as well as other businesses that utilize
proprietary rolling stock technologies.

directly holds 10,559,465 shares of Bank Of Guiyang Co. Ltd. (601997) as of
31 December 2018
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Changes in Shares and Particulars of Shareholders

2. Framework of ownership and controlling relationship between the Company and the controlling shareholder
as of the end of the reporting period

CRRC GROUP Co., Ltd.

100 %

CRRC Financial and
Securities
Investment Co., Ltd.

50.28 %

1.15%

CRRC
Corporation Limited



Changes in Shares and Particulars of Shareholders

(I)  Ultimate controller
1. The ultimate controller of the Company is the SASAC of the State Council.

2. Framework of ownership and controlling relationship between the Company and the ultimate controller as of the end
of the reporting period

State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council

100 %
CRRC GROUP Co., Ltd.
100 %
CRRC Financial and
Securities
Investment Co., Lid.
50.28 %
1.15%
CRRC

Corporation Limited

095



Annual Report 2018

CRRC CORPORATION LIMITED

http://www.crrcgc.cc/

096

Changes in Shares and Particulars of Shareholders

VI.

VII.

OTHER CORPORATE SHAREHOLDERS WITH OVER 10% SHAREHOLDINGS
There were no other corporate shareholders holding over 10% shares of the Company as of the end of the reporting period.
SUFFICIENT PUBLIC FLOAT

As of the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this annual report, based on public information and as far as the Directors
are aware, the Directors believe that the Company has sufficient public float which satisfies the minimum public float requirement
under Rule 8.08 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company did not purchase, sell or redeem any of the Company’s securities.



SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

I.  PERFORMANCE OF UNDERTAKINGS

Undertakings by relevant parties of undertakings, such as actual controller, shareholders, related
parties, acquirer and the Company, during or up to the reporting period:

fnot Ifnot
performed  performed
Whether ~ timely, timely,
Whether  timelyand ~ describethe  describe
duration  strictly specific plansin
Background Type Covenantors Undertakings Validity period specified  performed  reasons next steps
Material assets Resolutionof ~ CRRC Non-competition undertaking with Times New Material: on 5 August 2015,CRRC ~ Undertakings dated 5 Yes Yes - -
reorganization same industry isstied the Leter of Undertaking of Non-competition with Zhuzhou Times New  August 2015, term is
felated commitment  competitions Material Technology Co, Ltd. ( (BRELERMERIMHBRRAERE  years commencing from
R ERFHAGEH)D ) in order to resolve the issue of competition between  the date of issuance of
CRRC and Times New Material after the merger between CSR and CNR. The  this letter of undertaking
specific undertakings are as follows: the current operations of CRRC in fields such
as air springs for rail vehicles and rubber-metal parts for rail vehicles compete
with the operations of Times New Material, which is indirectly controlled by CRRC.
Inorder to resolve such competition with Times New Material, in accordance with
relevant laws and regulations, CRRC undertook that it will resolve such issue with
Times New Material within five years from the date of this letter of undertaking in
the manner approved by the regulatory authorities (including but not limited to
asset restructuring, business integration etc).
Resolutionof ~ CRRC Non-competition undertaking with Times Electric: on 5 August 2015, CRRCissued ~ Undertakings dated ~ No Yes - -
same industry the Letter of Undertaking of Non-competition with Zhuzhou CSR Times Electric 5 August 2015, term
competitions Co, Ltd. ((ERELEHNEERRERRABRAAAERINAE s fom the date of

) ) in order to resolve the issue of competition between CRRC and Times
Electric after the merger between CSR and CNR. The specific undertakings are
as follows: the current operations of CRRC in fields such as transmission control
systems, network control systems, traction power supply system, braking system,
track construction machinery, electronic components and vacuum sanitation
system compete with the operations of Times Electric, which is indirectly
controlled by the Company. To safeguard the interests of Times Electric in its
future development, in accordance with relevant laws and regulation, CRRC
undertook that with respect to the operations of CRRC that compete with the
operations of Times Electric: (1) CRRC will grant Times Electric a call option,
pursuant to which Times Electric will be entitled to elect, at its own discretion,
when to request CRRC to sell the competing businesses of CRRC to Times Electric;
(2) CRRC will further grant Times Electric a pre-emptive right, pursuant to which
if CRRC proposes to sell the competing business to an independent third party,
(CRRC shall offer to Times Electric the competing business first on the same terms
and conditions, and the sale to an independent third party may only be effective
after Times Electric refuses to purchase the competing business; (3) the decision
of Times Electric to exercise the aforesaid call option and the preemptive right
shall be made by the independent non-executive directors of Times Electric;
(4) the exercise of the aforesaid call option and the pre-emptive right as well as
other effective methods to resolve this competition matter will be subject to the
applicable regulatory and disclosure requirements and shareholders' approval
at the general meeting in the places of listing of CRRC and Times Electric
respectively; and (5) the non-competition undertaking will be effective from the
date of issuance of this letter of undertaking to the time when Times Electric
is de-fisted or CRRC ceases to be an indirect controlling shareholder of Times
Electric.

issuance of this letter of
undertaking to the time
when Times Electric
is de-listed or CRRC
ceases to be an indirect
controlling shareholder
of Times Electric
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Significant Events

Background

Type

Covenantors

Undertakings

Validity period

Whether
duration
specified

Whether
timely and
strictly
performed

Ifnot
performed
timely,
describe the
specific
reasons

If not
performed
timely,
describe
plansin
next steps

Resolution of
same industry
competitions

Others

(RRCG

(RRCG

Non-competition undertaking with CRRC: CNRG issued the Letter of Undertaking
of Non-competition with CRRC Corporation Limited ( ( BJi\et 5 £ Bk
ERDBERATFEFENAER) ) on 5 August 2015 in order to avoid
competition between CNRG (has completed restructuring and renamed as
(CRRCG) and CRRC after completion of merger of CNRG with CSRG. Pursuant to
the Letter of Undertaking: (1) CRRCG undertook that CRRCG will not and will
through legal procedures, procure its wholly owned and non-wholly owned
subsidiaries to not engage in any businesses which might directly compete with
the current operating businesses of CRRC; (2) subject to the aforesaid undertaking
(1), if CRRCG (including its wholly-owned subsidiaries and non-wholly owned
subsidiaries or other connected entities) provide any products or services that
might be in competition with the principal products or services of CRRC in the
future, CRRCG will agree to grant CRRC preemptive right to acquire the assets or
its entire equity interests in such subsidaries related to such products o services
from CRRCG; (3) subject to the aforesaid undertaking (1), CRRCG may develop
advanced and lucrative projects in the future which fall within the business scope
of CRRC, but it should preferentially transfer any achievement on such projects
to CRRC for its own operation on equal terms of transfer; and (4) CRRCG should
compensate CRRC for its actual losses arising from any failure to comply with the
aforesaid undertakings.

Undertaking to maintain the independence of CRRC: CNRG issued the Letter of
Undertaking to Maintain the Independence of CRRC Corporation Limited ( (B
RRFPERERHERADBUILAHZGELD ) on 5 August 2015 in order
to ensure that CNRG (has completed restructuring and renamed as CRRCG) will
not-interfere with the independence of CRRC after completion of the merger
of CNRG with CSRG. Pursuant to the Letter of Undertaking: CRRCG undertook
to be separate from CRRC in respect of areas such as assets, personnel, finance,
organization and business and will, in strict compliance with the relevant
requirements on the independence of a listed company imposed by the CSRC,
not to use its position as the controlling shareholder to violate the standardized
operation procedures of a listed company to intervene in the operating decisions
of CRRC and to damage the legitimate interests of CRRC and other shareholders.
(CRRCG and other companies under its control undertook not to, by any means,
use the funds of CRRC and companies under its control.

Undertakings dated 5
August 2015, during the
course of performance

Undertakings dated 5
August 2015, during the
course of performance

No

No

Yes



Significant Events

Background Type

Covenantors

Undertakings

Validity period

Whether
duration
specified

Whether
timely and
strictly
performed

If not
performed
timely,
describe the
specific
reasons

Ifnot
performed
timely,
describe
plansin
next steps

Resolution of
connected
transactions

Undertakings in relation Qthers
to the initial
publicissuance

Others

(RRCG

(RRCG

(RRCG

Undertaking for regulating connected transactions with CRRC: in order to regulate
connected transaction entered into between CNRG (which have completed the
transformation and renamed as CRRCG) and CRRC after the merger between
CNRG and CSRG, CNRG issued the Letter of Undertaking to Regulate the
Connected Transactions of CRRC Corporation Limited ( { B3 138 £ Bk
BROARATEBRSHAHL) ) on 5 August 2015, pursuant to which
(CRRCG and other companies controlled by CRRCG will endeavor not to enter into
or reduce the connected transactions with CRRC and other companies in which
it holds a controlling interest. For connected transactions that are inevitable or
reasonable, CRRCG will continue to perform the obligations under the connected
transaction framework agreements entered into between CRRCG and CRRC, and
will comply with the approval procedures and information disclosure obligations
in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations as well as the provisions
under the Articles of Association of CRRC. Prices of the connected transactions
will be determined based on prices of the same or comparable transactions
conducted with other independent third parties.

Undertakings on property ownership ssues: CSR (has completed restructuring
and renamed as CRRC) disclosed in its prospectus that CSR has not yet obtained
proper property ownership certificates for 326 properties with a total gross floor
area of 282,019.03 square meters, representing 7.85% of the total gross floor area
of the property in use of CSR. As for the property which CSR has not yet obtained
property ownership certificates, CSRG has made written undertaking which was
inherited by CRRCG after the merger. Pursuant to the undertaking: for properties
that could not obtain complete property ownership certificates due to reasons
such as incomplete procedures in planning and constructions and, which were
included in the asset injection to CRRC by CRRCG, CRRCG undertook that such
properties satisfy the usage requirements necessary for the production and
operations of CRRC. Moreover, i there is any loss incurred to CRRC due to such
properties, CRRCG shall under take all compensation liabilities and all economic
losses that CRRC incurred.

Undertakings on the state-owned land use certificate without specifying the
fand use terms or termination date: CNR (the relevant matters were inherited by
(CRRC after the merger) disclosed in the prospectus that the land use terms or
termination date were not specified in the state-owned land use certificate for
part of the authorized lands acquired by CNR. As such, CNRG (has completed
restructuring and renamed as CRRC) has made a written undertaking. Pursuant to
the undertaking: CRRCG will compensate the relevant wholly-owned subsidiaries
of CRRC for the loss caused as a result of the state-owned land use certificate not
specifying the land use terms or termination date for the authorized land.

Undertakings dated 5
August 2015, during the
course of performance

Undertakings dated 18
August 2008, during the
course of performance

Undertakings dated
10 December 2009,
during the course of
performance

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes
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Significant Events

fnot Ifnot
performed performed
Whether  timely, timely,
Whether  timelyand ~ describethe  describe
duration  strictly specific plansin
Background Type Covenantors Undertakings Validity period specified  performed  reasons next steps
Undertakings in relation Others Directors, Undertaking to adopt measures of mitigating the potential dilution of retum ~ Undertakings dated 27 No Yes - —
to the refinancing Senior for the current period: the Directors and Senior Management of the Company ~ May 2016, during the

Managementof  have made the following undertakings on 27 May 2016: (1) not to transfer  course of performance

the Company interests to other entities or individuals without consideration or with unfair
consideration nor otherwise damage the Company's interests in any other ways;
(2) to constrain expenses relating to the performance of their duties; (3) not to
use the Company's assets for investments and consumption activities unrelated
to the performance of their duties; (4) that the remuneration system formulated
by the Board or the remuneration committee is in line with implementation
of the remedial measures for the returs by the Company; (5) that the vesting
conditions of share incentives to be formulated by the Company will be in line
with the implementation of the remedial measures for returns by the Company
if the Company were to make such share incentive plans in the future; (6) to
perform the remedial measures for returns formulated by the Company as well as
any commitment made by them for such remedial measures. The Directors and
Senior Management will be liable for indemnifying the Company or the investors
fortheir losses in the event of failure to perform the commitment.

Others (RRCG Undertaking to adopt measures of mitigating the potential dilution of retum for ~ Undertakings dated 27 No Yes - —
the current period: on 27 May 2016, CRRCG committed not to intervene inthe  May 2016, during the
operation and management activities of the Company or unlawfully infringe ~ course of performance
upon the Company's interests.

EXPLANATION OF INTEGRITY OF THE COMPANY AND ITS SHAREHOLDERS AND ACTUAL
CONTROLLERS DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

During the reporting period, the Company, its shareholders and actual controllers enjoyed a reputation of sound integrity. There
was no failure to comply with the effective judgments of the court, outstanding liabilities due with a significant amount or other
circumstances.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME, EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP SCHEME AND OTHER STAFF
INCENTIVES OF THE COMPANY AND THEIR IMPACTS

During the reporting period, the Company has no related share option scheme, employee stock ownership scheme and other staff
incentives.



Significant Events

IV. SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS AND THEIR IMPLEMENTATION

1. Guarantees

Unit:'000  Currency: RMB

Guarantees provided by the Company to external parties (excluding guarantees provided by the Company in favour of its subsidiaries)
Whether the
Relationship Date of Outstanding guaranteeis
between the guarantee Whetherthe ~ Whetherthe ~ amount of providedtoa
quarantorand the Guaranteed  (Dateofsigning ~ Commencement Guarantee guaranteehas ~ guarantee s guarantee  Counter connected party  Connected
Guarantor listed company ~ Guaranteed amount  agreement) date Maturitydate ~ type beenfulfilled ~overdueornot  overdue  guarantee ornot relationship

CRRC Corporation Limited,  CRRC Corporation Wuhu Yunda Rail 5818593 27 Apil 2017 20 June 2017 20June 2047 Joint and several No N — No No -
China-Singapore Suzhou  Limited, its wholly- Transport Construction fibilty quarantee
Industrial Park Municipal  owned subsidaryand and Operation Liited

Public Works Construction —non wholly-owned (BB ERER

Co, L (RHEMIEE  absiday FEZERLA)

EMHARIERRA

RA7), 2 wholly-owned

subsidiary of the Company,

and CRRC China Merchants

(Tianjin) Equity Investment

Fund Management

Colud* (FERE (R

RERAELEEER

37, anon wholly-owned

subsidiaryof the Company

Total quarantee amount provided during the reporting period (excluding quarantees provided by the Company in favour o its subsidiaries) -
Total quarantee balance at the end of the reporting perod (A) (excluding guarantees provided by the Cormpany n favour of s subsidiaries) 5818593

Guarantees provided by the Company and its subsiciares n favour o its subsiciaries
Total quarantee amount provided to the Company's subsidiaries during the reporting period 952783
Total quarantee balance provided to the Company's subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period (3) 48385

Aggregate guarantee amount provided by the Company (including guarantees provided by the Company n favour of ts subsiciaries)
Total quarantee amount (A+B) 50257114
Percentage of total quarantee amount to net assets of the Company (%) 358%
including:
Provision of quarantee to shareholders, ultimate controller and their respective connected persons (C) -
Amount of quarantees directy or indirectly provided in favour of parties with gearing ratio over 70% (0) 19736904
The total amount of quarantees provided which exceeds 50% of the net asset (£) -
Total amount of the three above-stated quarantees (C+D+E) 19736904
Explanation on quarantees undue that might be invalved in any joint and several fiabity /

Bxplanaton on quarantees Percentage of total quarantee amount to net assets of the Company=Total quarantee amount/equity attributable to owners of

the Company. As at 31 December 2018, total quarantee balance was AMB50.257 billon, representing 33.58% of the Company's
net assets. Qut of sich quarantee balance, RMB20183 billion and RMB24.255 billon were provided to the Company's wholly-
owned subsidiaries and non whaolly-owned subsidiaries respectively. Guarantee balance of RMB5.819 bilion was provided to
Wuhu Yunda Rai Transport Construction and Operation Limited. As far as quarantee type is concemed, RMB3 401 billion was
provided for bank acceptance bills, AMB3457 billion was provided for loans and medium-term notes, and RMB43.399 billon was
provided for letters of quarantee, letters of crecit and credit facies etc.
The Company did not provide any quarantees in favour of its controlling shareholders, ultimate controller and thelr related
parties. As at the end of the reporting period, the Company provided quarantee in favour of its wholly-owned subsidiaries with
gearing ratio over 70%. Approval procedures have been complied with at the Board meetings and the general meetings as
required by the Artcles of Associations.
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Significant Events

2.  Purchase of Entrusted Wealth Management
(1) Overall status of entrusted wealth management
Unit:'000  Currency: RMB
Amounts
overdue
Outstanding but not yet
Type Capital source Amounts balance recovered
Corporate wealth
management products Self-owned source 37,306.320 4,385,151 —
Brokerage
financial products Self-owned source — 60,000 —
Other types Self-owned source 4,114,167 2,686,388 —
(2) Individual entrusted wealth management
Unit:'000  Currency: RMB
Future
Entrusted entrusted Amountof
Weath ~ StaringDateof ~ Ending Dateof Method Ftimted Whether Any wealth  provison for
Entrusted Wealth Management ~ Entrusted Wealth ~ Entrusted Wealth of Reward Annualized retums Actual gang Al LegalProcess  management  depreciation
Tustee Management Product Amount ~ Management Management Captalsowrce ~ Usageoffunds ~ Determination retums (ifany) orlosses Tecovery Involved planornot (ifany)
(IMIC Securities Non-principal- 60000 9May 2016 11August 2019 SelfFowned  Fixedincome  Payment of 58% - - - Jes - -
Company Liited quaranteed with fund products dueinterest
floating retums (bonds, and principel
notes, eic)
Everbright Bank Non-principal- 100000 300ctober 018 14January 2019 Selfowned  Fisedincome  Paymentof 374% - 6% 5 yes - -
Zhuzhou Branch quaranteed with fund products due interest
floating retums (bonds, and principal
notes, efc)
Everbright Bank Non-principal- 100000 310ctober 2018 15January 2019 Selfowned  Fixedincome  Payment of 37% - 8 2] ¥es - -
Zhuzhou Branch quaranteed with fund products due interest
floating retums (bonds, and principal
notes, etc)
Industrial and Non-principal- 100000 29 December Wanuary 2019 Selfowned  Fixedincome  Payment of 3% - u u Jes - -
Commercial Bank quaranteed with 018 fund products dueinterest
Tianxin Sub-branch floating retums (oonds, and principal
notes, eic)
Total / o000/ / / / / / / 1321 1321 / / /



Significant Events

V.

VI.

3. Other Material Contracts

During the reporting period, the Company signed a number of sales contracts. For details, please refer to announcements
dated 4 April 2018, 6 July 2018, 9 October 2018, 11 December 2018 and 28 December 2018 published by the Company on
the websites of the SSE and the Stock Exchange.

OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

1.  Particulars of interbank debt financing instruments

On 25 July 2018, the Company issued 2018 First Tranche of Super and Short-term Financing Bills in a total amount of RMB3
billion, which were due and settled on 22 November 2018. On 27 July 2018, the Company issued 2018 Second Tranche of
Super and Short-term Financing Bills in a total amount of RMB3 billion, which were due and settled on 25 October 2018. On
20 August 2018, the Company issued 2018 Third Tranche of Super and Short-term Financing Bills in a total amount of RMB3
billion, which will be due and settled on 16 February 2019. On 30 August 2018, the Company issued 2018 Fourth and Fifth
Tranche of Super and Short-term Financing Bills in a total amount of RMB1.5 billion and RMB1.5 billion respectively, which
were due and settled on 28 November 2018. On 26 December 2018, the Company issued the first tranche of asset-backed
notes for 2018, of which RMB2.925 billion represented senior tranche and RMB154 million represented subordinated tranche.
The notes will mature on 26 December 2021.

2. Compared with the previous accounting period, the circumstances, reasons and their impacts of
changes in accounting policies, accounting estimates and audit method

According to the relevant provisions of IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments, IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers and
the related Amendments and other IFRSs issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, the Company and its
subsidiaries have implemented the above-mentioned amendments and interpretations of IFRSs and adjusted the relevant
contents of the accounting policies since 1 January 2018. For details, please refer to Note 3 “Principal Accounting Policies” to
the consolidated financial statements.

INFORMATION ON THE CONVERTIBLE CORPORATE BONDS

On 5 February 2016, the Company issued H Share convertible bonds in an aggregate principal amount of US$600,000,000 (the
"Convertible Bonds" or “Bonds"). The Convertible Bonds are due on 5 February 2021 with a par value of US$250,000 each and are
issued at 100% of its par value with zero coupon. The initial conversion price of the Convertible Bonds is HK$9.65 per H Share, and
the adjusted conversion price is HK$9.15 per H Share. Proceeds from the issuance of the Bonds will be used to satisfy the production
and international operation needs of the Company, including but not limited to adjusting its debt structure, increasing the capital
contribution to its subsidiaries, replenishing working capital and project investments etc., which may be utilised at sole discretion
of the Company both inside and outside of the PRC according to actual circumstances. For the actual use of the Convertible Bonds,
please refer to “Report of Directors - B. Management Discussion and Analysis - Il. Major operation results during the reporting period
- (VI) Use of Proceeds” of the report.

On 5 February 2019, the holders of H Share Convertible Bonds redeemed the Convertible Bonds with an aggregate principal
amount of US$240,000,000 pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Convertible Bonds. Upon the completion of
abovementioned redemption, the H Share Convertible Bonds of an aggregate principal amount of US$360,000,000 remained
outstanding, representing 60% of the total principal amount of the Bonds originally issued. According to the adjusted conversion
price of HK$9.15 per H share, the maximum number of H Shares that the Company can issue will be 306,499,672 H Shares if the
Bonds are fully converted.

For details of the Convertible Bonds, please refer to the relevant announcements dated 26 January 2016, 5 February 2016, 7 March
2016, 27 June 2016, 29 June 2017, 25 August 2017, 12 June 2018 and 8 February 2019 published by the Company on the websites
of SSE and the Stock Exchange.
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Significant Events

U)

(In

Dilution Effect of the Convertible Bonds on Shares

As at 31 December 2018, the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Bonds was US$600,000,000. Based on the
adjusted conversion price of HK$9.15 per H Share, the maximum number of H Shares issuable by the Company upon full
conversion of the Convertible Bonds will be 510,832,786 H Shares. The following table sets out the shareholding structure of
the Company upon full conversion of the Convertible Bonds with reference to the shareholding structure of the Company as
at 31 December 2018 and assuming no further issuance of Shares by the Company:

Percentage of issued share
capital enlarged by the issuance

Name of Shareholders Number of Shares of Conversion Shares (%)
CRRCG and its associateste 14,759,281,450 A Shares 50.53
Public Shareholders:
Subscribers of the Bonds 510,832,786 H Shares 1.75
Other public Shareholders 4,371,066,040 H Shares 14.96
9,568,516,598 A Shares 32.76
Issued share capital enlarged 29,209,696,874 Shares 100.00

by the issuance of Conversion Shares

Note:

CRRCG holds 329,763,427 A Shares through CRRC Financial and Securities. An analysis of the impact on the earnings per share if the Convertible
Bonds were fully converted into Shares of the Company as at 31 December 2018 is set out in Note 15 to the financial statements in this annual
report.

Principal Terms of Convertible Bonds

The principal terms of the Convertible Bonds are as follows:

1.

Conversion Right

The holders of the Convertible Bonds may covert the Convertible Bonds to Shares of the Company at the applicable
conversion price at any time during the conversion period between 17 March 2016 and 26 January 2021. The
bondholders may exercise the conversion right attached to the Convertible Bonds at their option at any time (1)
during the conversion period; or (2) no later than 10 days prior to the designated redemption date provided that such
bonds are required to be redeemed by the Company prior to the maturity date. No conversion right may be exercised
in respect of the Bonds where the bondholder shall have exercised its rights under the terms and conditions of the
Bonds within the restricted conversion period (both days inclusive).

The initial conversion price of the Convertible Bonds is HK$9.65 per share which is adjusted to HK$9.50 per H share
since 28 June 2016 as a result of the distribution of 2015 cash dividend, and further adjusted to HK$9.29 per H share
since 30 June 2017 as a result of the distribution of 2016 cash dividend. The Company distributed a cash dividend
of RMBQ.15 per share (tax inclusive) to all shareholders pursuant to the 2017 profit distribution plan considered and
approved at the general meeting held on 31 May 2018. The conversion price of the Convertible Bonds was adjusted
to HKS$9.15 per H share from the 2017 adjusted conversion price of HK$9.29 per H share pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the Bonds with effect from 13 June 2018. The number of shares that may be converted is determined by
the principal amount of the Bonds divided by the conversion price of the Bonds at the time of conversion. The fixed
exchange rate of US dollar against HK dollar is HK$7.7902 to US$1.00.



Significant Events

2.

Redemption Option

m

Redemption at maturity

Unless previously redeemed, converted or purchased and cancelled, the Company will redeem all the
outstanding Convertible Bonds at 100% of the outstanding principal amount on the maturity date.

Conditional redemption

Based on specific conditions, the Company may, having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice of
redemption to the trustee, bondholders and principal agents, redeem all the outstanding Convertible Bonds at
100% of their outstanding principal amount as at the relevant redemption date:

a. at any time after 5 February 2019 and prior to the maturity date, no such redemption may be made
unless the closing price of an H share translated into US dollars at the applicable prevailing rate, for
any 20 Stock Exchange business days within a period of 30 consecutive business days (the last of such
Stock Exchange business day shall occur not more than 10 business days prior to the date upon which
notice of such redemption is given), was at least 130% of the then conversion price (translated into US
dollars at the fixed exchange rate) for each of such 20 Stock Exchange business days. If there occurs an
event giving rise to a change in the conversion price during any of such period of 30 consecutive Stock
Exchange business days, appropriate adjustments for the relevant days approved by an independent
investment bank shall be made for the purpose of calculating the closing price of the H shares for such
days; or

b. if the aggregate principal of the Convertible Bonds that have not been redeemed or converted is less
than 10% of the aggregate principal originally issued prior to the date upon which such notice is given.

Redemption at the option of the bondholders

The holders of the Convertible Bonds by giving a notice of not less than 30 nor more than 60 days before
redemption option date (i.e. 5 February 2019), the issuer will have the right, at the option of the holders of the
Convertible Bonds, require the Company to redeem all or some of that holders’ Convertible Bonds at 100% of
their outstanding principal amount on the redemption option date.

(1)  Accounting for the Convertible Bonds

The Convertible Bonds are comprised of debt component and derivative component with redemption option, conversion
option and put-back option.

M

Debt component was initially recognized at fair value amounting to approximately RMB3,488,045,000. It was
subsequently measured by using effective interest method, and was measured at amortized cost by applying an
effective interest rate of 2.53% on master debt contract after considering the effect of the underwriting fees and other
issue costs. During the current period, the interest expenses of the debt component of the Convertible Bonds, were
recognized as finance cost amounted to RMB93,851,000 by applying an effective interest rate, and the corresponding
exchange loss of RMB186,206,000 was charged to current profit or loss.

Derivative component was initially recognized and subsequently measured at fair value, relevant transaction costs
were charged to current profit or loss and the gain or loss on fair value change were changed to the current profit or

loss.

Underwriting fees and other issue costs relating to the Convertible Bonds were allocated in proportion to the fair values
of debt component and derivative component. Underwriting fees and other issue costs amounting to approximately
RMB28,745,000 relating to the debt component were included in the initial carrying amount of the debt component and
amortized over the remaining period of the bonds using the effective interest method. Underwriting fees and other issue
costs amounting to approximately RMB3,550,000 relating to derivative component were charged to finance costs during
the issuance period directly. The gain on fair value change of derivative component of the Convertible Bonds amounted to
RMB251,412,000 and the corresponding exchange gain of RMB11,555,000 were charged to current profit or loss.
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VII.

VIII.

The movements of the debt component and derivative component of the Convertible Bonds for the period are set out

below:
Unit:'000  Currency: RMB
Derivative

Debt component component Total
1 January 2018 3,630,772 511,756 4,142,528
Accrued interest during the period 93,851 — 93,851
Exchange gains or losses 186,206 11,555 197,761
Gains or losses on changes in fair value — -251,412 -251,412
31 December 2018 3,910,829 271,899 4,182,728

(IV) Others

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Convertible Bonds, the implied rate of return of the Convertible Bonds is nil.

FULFILLMENT OF SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

For details of the fulfilment of social responsibility by the Group during the reporting period, please see the 2018 Social
Responsibility Report of CRRC Corporation Limited disclosed by the Company on the websites of the SSE and the Stock Exchange at
the same date.

OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

(I Redemption and cancellation of H Share convertible bonds

On 5 February 2019, the holders of H Share Convertible Bonds redeemed the convertible bonds with an aggregate principal
amount of US$240,000,000 pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Convertible Bonds. Upon the completion of
abovementioned redemption, the H Share Convertible Bonds of an aggregate principal amount of US$360,000,000 remained
outstanding, representing 60% of the total principal amount of the Bonds originally issued. For details, please refer to the
announcement dated 8 February 2019 published by the company on the SSE and the Stock Exchange.

(I Profit Distribution of Ordinary Shares

On 28 March 2019, the Company held the ninth meeting of the second session of the Board, at which the 2018 Proposal for
Profit Distribution Plan of CRRC Corporation Limited” was considered and approved, pursuant to which the Company would
distribute a cash dividend of RMBO0.15 per share (tax inclusive) to all shareholders based on the 28,698,864,088 shares in the
total share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2018. The profit distribution plan shall be considered and approved by
the 2018 annual general meeting of the Company.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT

Deloitte =

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CRRC CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CRRC Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 111 to 276, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

107



Annual Report 2018

CRRC CORPORATION LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

108

Key audit matter
Matters Pertaining to Overseas Operations
Impairment of goodwill

We identified the impairment of goodwill as a key audit matter
due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, combined with the significant degree of
judgment by management associated with the determination
of the recoverable amount of the cash generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated in the annual impairment test.

Referring to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements as
one of the significant accounting judgements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty and note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has an aggregate carrying value of
goodwill of RMB713,042,000 as at 31 December 2018.

Management determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated, which is the higher of the value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal. Estimating the value in use or determining
fair value less costs of disposal by using discounted cash flow
projections requires management to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units based
on key assumptions such as long-term growth rates, revenue
growth rates, gross margin, and also to choose suitable discount
rates in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
These are all subject to managements estimates and judgements.

Overseas supply of locomotives

We identified the matter described in note 54(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements regarding media reports
related to a train operator's procurement for the supply of
locomotives as a key audit matter due to the judgments involved
in evaluating the potential impacts of that matter on the Group
and the consolidated financial statements. The conclusions of
management with respect to this matter are set out in note 54(ii).

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to impairment of goodwill included:

. Testing the key internal controls relating to management'’s
assessment of the impairment of goodwiill;

Evaluating the appropriateness of the methodologies
in determining the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated in
the impairment test;

. Testing the underlying data used by the Group in
determining the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated
in the impairment test by involving the internal
valuation specialists to evaluate the appropriateness of
management's key assumptions and judgements in the
impairment test; and

. Verifying the mathematical accuracy on the calculation of
the recoverable amount of the cash generating units to
which goodwill has been allocated.

Our procedures in respect of this matter involved evaluating its
impact including by:

. Obtaining an understanding of, and undertaking audit
procedures to assess, management’s actions and
considerations in relation to the potential impact on the
Group of this matter and the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements;

. Designing and performing audit procedures to obtain
audit evidence to support our conclusions including
reviewing advice and analysis respectively obtained and
prepared by the Group; and

. Evaluating the appropriateness of the related disclosures
made in note 54(ii) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the

annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
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. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.,

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Lam Kwok Yan.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT ORLOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2018

NOTES 2018 2017
RMB'000 RMB'000
(Restated)
Revenue 5 214,521,647 207,044,257
Cost of sales and services (168,459,287) (161,380,253)
Gross profit 46,062,360 45,664,004
Other income and gains and losses 6 6,536,147 5175613
Impairment losses, net of reversal 7 (1,630,275) —
Loss from derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost (416,186) (77,153)
Distribution and selling expenses (7,745,841) (7,218,094)
Administrative expenses (14,274,711) (14,907,929)
Research and development expenses (10,896,916) (9,977,454)
Other expenses 8 (1,248,388) (2,399,452)
Finance costs 9 (1,602,132) (1,400,593)
Share of profits of:
Joint ventures 168,517 124,498
Associates 389,797 401,743
Profit before taxation 10 15,342,372 15,385,183
Income tax expense 13 (2,343,865) (2,387,765)
Profit for the year 12,998,507 12,997,418
Other comprehensive (expense) income, net of income tax
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Re-measurement of retirement benefit pension plans 40 (77,670) 234,759
Investments in equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (437,167) —
Income tax relating to items that may not be reclassified subsequently 115,734 —
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Net gain on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets — 56,474
Debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 51,798 —
Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified to profit or loss subsequently (3,336) (46,425)
Share of other comprehensive expense of associates (56,699) (18,832)
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 169,809 (139,201)
Other comprehensive (expense) income for the year, net of income tax (237,531) 86,775

Total comprehensive income for the year 12,760,976 13,084,193
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NOTE 2018 2017
RMB'000 RMB'000
(Restated)
Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 11,305,044 10,791,348
Non-controlling interests 1,693,463 2,206,070
12,998,507 12,997,418
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 11,054,646 10,859,665
Non-controlling interests 1,706,330 2,224,528
12,760,976 13,084,193
Earnings per share (RMB) 15
- Basic 0.39 0.38
- Diluted 0.39 037




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 December 2018

31 December 31 December
NOTES 2018 2017
RMB'000 RMB'000
(Restated)
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 16 65,488,942 65,919,441
Investment properties 17 1,142,945 1,018,722
Prepaid lease payments 18 13,463,512 14,677,729
Goodwill 19 713,042 1,242,487
Other intangible assets 20 3,222,972 2,944,534
Interests in joint ventures 21 2,242,304 1,449,853
Interests in associates 22 11,523,488 9,763,657
Loans and advances to customers 1,880,911 192,693
Available-for-sale investments 23 = 2,805,856
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 598,551 —
Held-to-maturity investment 24 = 1,429,188
Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income 25 2,252,423 —
Contract assets 26 8,923,932 —
Debt investments at amortised cost 27 1,622,252 —
Deferred tax assets 28 3,644,579 3,697,406
Other non-current assets 29 12,935,258 14,154,580
129,655,111 119,296,146
Current assets
Prepaid lease payments 18 355,811 406,301
Inventories 30 55,121,500 55,104,940
Available-for-sale investments 23 = 451,497
Held-to-maturity investment - current portion 24 — 229,970
Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income 27 5,277,641 —
Debt investments at amortised cost 27 880,525 —
Trade receivables 31 64,205,603 77,674,531
Contract assets 26 14,657,889 —
Bills receivable 32 15,475,106 27,071,265
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 33 26,133,479 31,179,480
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7,246,736 2,569,294
Amounts due from customers for contract work 34 — 129,894
Tax recoverable 336,287 138,421
Pledged and restricted bank deposits 35 5,027,666 4,622,263
Cash and bank balances 35 33,143,342 56,280,024
227,861,585 255,857,880
Assets classified as held for sale 6,354 52,443
227,867,939 255,910,323
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31 December

31 December

NOTES 2018 2017
RMB'000 RMB'000
(Restated)
Current liabilities
Trade payables 36 99,189,987 104,357,254
Bills payable 37 21,978,720 23,291,689
Other payables and accruals 38 17,997,991 34,072,662
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss — 225,240
Borrowings - due within one year 39 16,293,114 34,043,108
Retirement benefit obligations 40 259,547 288,139
Tax payable 560,000 1,188,521
Due to customers 2,795,282 3,469,987
Long-term payables - current portion 22,524 63,589
Provision for warranties 41 2,045,696 1,818,715
Contract liabilities 42 22,335,899 —
Deferred income 43 689,948 656,662
Convertible bonds - debt component 44 3,910,829 —
Convertible bonds - derivative component 44 271,899 —
188,351,436 203,475,566
Net current assets 39,516,503 52,434,757
Total assets less current liabilities 169,171,614 171,730,903
Capital and reserves
Share capital 45 28,698,864 28,698,864
Reserves 99,758,831 92,885,067
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 128,457,695 121,583,931
Non-controlling interests 21,226,932 20,335,691
Total equity 149,684,627 141,919,622




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 December 2018

31 December

31 December

NOTES 2018 2017
RMB'000 RMB'000
(Restated)

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings - due after one year 39 4,380,011 9,954,710
Long-term payables 279,178 294,296
Retirement benefit obligations 40 3,599,049 3,718,519
Provision for warranties 41 4,597,016 4,570,492
Deferred income 43 5,503,288 5,756,605
Deferred tax liabilities 28 158,546 175,882
Contract liabilities 42 90,569 —
Convertible bonds - debt component 44 = 3,630,772
Convertible bonds - derivative component 44 = 511,756
Other non-current liabilities 879,330 1,198,249
19,486,987 29,811,281
Total equity and non-current liabilities 169,171,614 171,730,903

The consolidated financial statements on pages 111 to 276 are approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March

2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

Liu Hualong
DIRECTOR

Sun Yongcai
DIRECTOR
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Retirement
benefitobligations Statutory General Non-
Share Capital Revaluation  re-measurement surplus Specil risk Translation Retained controlling
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve eamings Total interests Total equity
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
(Notei) (Noteii) (Noteiii) (Noteiv) (Notev)
£t31 December 2017 28,698,864 40,636,666 28119 (260,029) 2821562 49957 551,265 (203,808) 40035995 121558591 0310812 141,869,403
Aad: Efect of usiness combination under common control - 51,000 - - - - - = (25,660) 25340 879 50219
Adjustrents see note ) = - (357430) - - - - - 545,155 187,725 176498 364203
At 1 lanuary 2018 frestated) 28,698,864 40,687,666 (12931) (260,029) 2821562 49957 551,265 (203,808) 49555490 121,771,656 0512189 14283845
Profitforthe year = = = = = = = = 11,305,044 11,305,044 1,693,463 12,99%,507
Other comprehensive expense]income for the year.
Equityinstrumentsat e value thiough
other comprehensiveincome - - (321,365) - - - - - - (321365) (68) (321,4%3)
Debt nstruments measured at far value
through other comprehensive income = = 45481 = = = = = = 45481 2975 48462
Share of other comprehensive expense of
associates/oint ventures = = (56,699) = = = = = = (56,699) = (56,699)
Re-measurement loss on etrement benefitobligations = = = (73849) = = = = = (73849) (3821) (17,670)
Exchange diferences arsing on tanslaton offoreign opertions - - - - - - - 156,028 - 156,028 13,781 169,809
Total comprehensive fexpense) income for the year = = (33251) (73,849) = = = 156,028 11,305,044 11,054,646 1,706,330 12760976
Acquistion of a subsiciary under common controlin 2018 = (22761) = = = = = = = (22761) = (22761)
Disposal ofsubsiciries = = = = = = = = = = (90,073) (90,073)
Acquistion of a subsidiary — — - - - - - - - - 141480 141480
Acquistion of on-controling nterests = (59521) = = = = = = (4819) (64340) (110810) (175,150)
Deemed dsposalof non-controllng nterets = = = = = = = = = = 19,189 19,189
Captal contibution rom nor-controling shareholders — 6771 - - - - - - - 671 138948 14519
Dividends deckred to non-controling
hareholders of subsicaes = = = = = = = = = = (1,083,050) (1,083,050)
Dividends distrbuted — — - - - - - - (4:304,830) (4:304,830) = 4304830)
Trensfer upon disposal of equityinstruments
atfarvelue through other comprehensive income = = (23200) = = = = = B.202 = = =
Appropriation of statutory surplus resenve = = = = 458,430 = = = (458,430) = = =
Appropriation of specil reserves = = = = = 577432 = = = 57143 30516 607,948
Utlistion ofspecial reserves = = = = = (577432) = = = (57743 (30,516) (607948)
Others = 16,553 = = = = = = = 16,553 1an) 9,282
At31 December 2018 28,698,864 40,628,708 (485,090) (333,878) 321999 49957 551,265 (47,780) 56115657 128,457,695 N6952 988461




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Hittibutable o owners of the Company

Avalgble-for- sle Retirement
nvestrents — benefitobigatons Satutory Generel Nor-
Share Capital evagtion  remeasurement surplus Special fsk Translaion Retained controling
capial Tesene fesene fesene fesene Tesene Tesene fesene eamings Total intersts Totalequiy
RMBO0D RABO0D RABOWD RMBO0D RMBO0D RMBO00 RBO0 RBO0 RBO0 RB00 RB00 AB00
(Notei] (Noteil (Noteii) (Noteiv) (Notev)

At lanuary 2017 188758 30188763 13565 [74615) 13807 %7 551265 (65072) 4811955 104860470 18955,106 1381576
Ada: Effct o business combination under common control 51000 (18432 3254 31803 64351
At January 2017 (restated) 1128678 30239763 BI65 (¢74615) 23807 49957 551,265 (65072) 4793503 11485018 18986509 13879907
Profitfor the year festated) - - - - - - - - 10791348 10791348 2206070 12097418

Other comprehensive income (expense or the year:
Change infair value of avalable-forsale investments, net of tax - - 1129 - - - - - - 1129 (150 10049
Share of other comprehensive expense of associates - - (1883) - - - - - - (18832 - (1883)
Re-measurement gains on retrement benefit obligations - - - 214586 - - - - - 214586 JINE) B4T%9
Exchange diferences arsing on tanslaton offoreign apetions - - - - - - - (13873) - (138736) (45) (139201)
Total comprehensive (expense] income forthe year restated) - - (753) 21458 - - - (13873) 10791348 10859665 258 13084193
Nor-public ssuance of A shares note vi) 1410106 105898% - - - - - - - 12000000 - 12000000
Shareissuance expenses - (65,8%) - - - - - - - 6589) - 658%)
Acquistion of 3 subsicary under common controlin 2017 - (5368 - - - - - - - (5.388) (4%8) (1035)
Acquistion of a subsiciary - - - - - - - - - - 1126 1126
Disposal ofsubsiciries - - - - - - - - - - (280648) (280648)
Acquistion of orcontollng interests - 8133) - - - - - - - (813%) (4g813) (130149
Deemed disposalof non-controllng interests - 1068 - - - - - - - 1068 (10628) -
Captal contibution rom non-controling shareholders - - - - - - - - - - 313 313%
Dividends dectred to non-controling shareholders ofsubsicaries - - - - - - - - - - (139372 (139372
Dividendsdisrbuted - - - - - - - - (6026761) (6026761) - (6026761)
Appropriaion ofstatutory surplus resenve - - - - 547755 - - - (547759) - - -
Hppropriaton of specal reserves - - - - - 602216 - - (602216) - - -
Utlsaton of special eserves - - - - - (602216) - - 602216 - - -
(thers - - - - - - - - - - (40578) (40578)
At31 December 2017 estated) 1869864 887666 119 (26009) 281562 49957 551,265 (203808) 49003 121583931 1033560 141919622
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Note i

Note ii:

Note iii:

Note iv:

Note v:

Note vi:

The balance of capital reserve mainly comprises the capital contribution by equity participants, certain items dealt with directly in the capital reserve of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) in the Company's consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with the
relevant accounting standards of the People’s Republic of China ("PRC"), and reserve generated from the acquisitions of subsidiaries under common control.

According to relevant laws and regulations of the PRC, an entity established under the PRC Company Law is required to make an appropriation at 10 percent
of the profit for the year as shown in the PRC statutory financial statements, prepared in accordance with the PRC accounting standards, to the statutory
surplus reserve fund until the balance reaches 50 percent of the registered capital of that entity. The reserve appropriated can only be used to make up losses
or to increase the registered capital of that entity and is not distributable.

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC, the Group is required to transfer safety production funds at fixed rates based on production volume to a
specific reserve account. The safety production funds could be utilised when expenses or capital expenditures on safety measures occur. The amount of
safety production funds utilised would be transferred from the specific reserve account to retained earnings.

According to the relevant provisions of the Ministry of Finance, CRRC Finance Co., Ltd (‘Finance Company"), a subsidiary of the Company, is required to make
an appropriation of general risk reserve from net profit as profit distribution, the balance of general risk reserve should not be less than 1.5 percent of risk
assets at the end of the reporting period. According to the resolution of the board of directors, Finance Company made a provision for general risk reserve
amounting to RMB nil during the year ended 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: nil).

It includes statutory surplus reserve provided by subsidiaries amounting to RMB15,258,173,000 as at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017:
RMB11,558,974,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company completed the non-public offering of 1,410,106,000 A shares with par value of RMB1.00 each,
and the issue price was RMB8.51 per share, which was approved by the China Securities Regulatory Commission (“CSRC") through Zheng Jian Xu Ke
[2016] No. 3203. The net amount of proceeds from the non-public offering of A shares was RMB11,934,105,000, including share capital which increased by
RMB1,410,106,000, and capital reserve which increased by RMB10,523,999,000.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
(Restated)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation 15,342,372 15,385,183
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5,602,616 5,401,879
Depreciation of items of investment properties 30,080 31,371
Depreciation of items of other non-current assets 81,968 67,280
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 364,230 361,746
Amortisation of other intangible assets 531,635 633,924
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 83,857 45,300
(Gain)/loss on disposal of other intangible assets (792) 3,982
Gain on disposal of prepaid lease payments (1,023,844) (923,192)
Provision against obsolete inventories 253,448 402,981
Impairment of property, plants and equipment 238,976 80414
Impairment of non-current assets classified as held for sale = 6,188
Impairment of other intangible assets 84,742 13,186
Impairment of available-for-sale investments — 50,025
Impairment of trade receivables 531,622 1,077,304
Impairment of bills receivables 62,489 —
Impairment of debt investment at amortised cost 600 —
Impairment of contract assets (50,014) —
Reversal of impairment of prepayments, deposits and other receivables 42,369 6,497
Impairment of loans and advances to customers 53,927 43,404
Impairment of other non-current assets 1,131,343 1,073,944
Impairment of goodwill 529,921 20,724
Interest income (591,127) (422,600)
Dividend income (53,463) (84,562)
Finance costs 1,602,132 1,400,593
Share of profits of associates and joint ventures (558,314) (526,241)
Fair value changes on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (168,182) 330,511
Fair value changes on on convertible bonds (251,412) 166,960
Gain on disposal of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (187,442) (51,684)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investment = (113,044)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (1,453,894) (1,809,155)
Investment income from corporate wealth management products (166,421) (52,902)
Investment income from held-to-maturity investment = (52,859)
Investment income from debt investment (88,327) —
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2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000

(Restated)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 21,975,095 22,567,157
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 63,701 (1,488,518)
Increase in trade receivables, bills receivable and prepayments, deposits and other receivables (20,283,349) (21,955,405)
Increase in pledged bank deposits (457,667) (276,375)
Increase in trade payables, bills payable and other payables and accruals 2,864,145 20,761,358
Decrease in retirement benefit obligations (595,771) (359,401)
Increase in provision for warranties 256,181 216,683
Increase in other non-current assets (4,940,269) (313,744)
Increase in contract liabilities 22,236,091 —
Decrease in contract assets 293,944 —
Cash generated from operations 21,412,101 19,151,755
Interest received 486,423 299,958
Income tax paid (3,029,180) (3,267,369)
Net cash generated from operating activities 18,869,344 16,184,344




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

NOTES 2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
(Restated)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment and deposits
paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (7,630,132) (7,882,712)
Addition to prepaid lease payments (565,957) (509,886)
Purchases of other intangible assets and deposits paid for other intangible assets (906,122) (302,586)
Purchases of interests in associates (1,209,821) (165,892)
Purchases of interests in joint ventures (567,960) —
Purchases of available-for-sale investments = (1,277,981)
Purchases of held-to-maturity investment — (756,784)
Purchases of corporate wealth management products — (4,250,000)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (38,173,278) (14,153,811)
Redemption/(purchases) of senior notes 72,756 (208,110)
Purchases of debt investment (205,896) —
Dividends received from a joint venture and associates 79,551 213,184
Dividends received from available-for-sale investments — 91,510
Dividends received from equity instruments at fair
value through other comprehensive income 51,691 —
Investment income from held-to-maturity investment = 52,859
Investment income from debt investment at amortised cost 88,327 —
Acquisitions of subsidiaries 46 (222,045) (14,820)
Proceeds from disposal of prepaid land lease payments 902,290 473,631
Proceeds from disposal of items of investment properties 3,736 18,633
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 487,002 458,888
Receipt from a former subsidiary 2,192,600 —
Proceeds from disposal of interests of associates and joint venture 67,001 3915
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale investments = 416,590
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 47 563,752 1,639,115
Deposit paid for investment (2,430,000) —
Proceeds from disposal of other intangible assets = 43,168
Interest income from non-pledged deposits with original
maturity of three months or more when acquired 240,675 104,403
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets/liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss 36,619,029 12,370,506
Proceeds from disposal of corporate wealth management products — 5,777,757
Proceeds from disposal of senior notes — 211,972
Withdrawal of non-pledged deposits with original maturity
of three months or more when acquired 17,101,869 18,571,521
Placement of non-pledged deposits with original maturity
of three months or more when acquired (11,380,636) (14,126,316)
Paid to non-controlling interests on liquidation of a subsidiary — (16,700)
Proceeds from disposal of debt investment at amortised cost 116,440 —
Proceeds from disposal of equity instruments 72,011 —
Advance receipt from disposal of a subsidiary 299,793 —
Government grants received = 242,965
Net cash used in investing activities (4,333,324) (2,974,981)
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NOTE 2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
(Restated)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of borrowings (51,031,342) (88,862,820)
Purchase of non-controlling interests (175,149) (93,619)
Distribution to shareholders (4,304,830) (6,026,761)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (911,731) (716,282)
Interest paid (1,541,868) (1,442,666)
Interest paid for bills discounted and trade receivables derecognised — (131,106)
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings 25,868,678 91,926,294
Acquisition of a subsidiary under common control (22,761) (10,356)
Bonds issue expense (4,000) (2,738)
Capital contributions from non-controlling shareholders 145,719 223,135
Net proceeds from issue of A shares = 11,938,409
Cost for issue of A shares (5,970) —
Placement of pledged time deposit for obtaining financing — (60,099)
Withdrawal of pledged time deposit for obtaining financing — 8,000
Payments from non-controlling shareholders 19,189 —
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (31,964,065) 6,749,391
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 12,596 (310,358)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 47,705,543 28,057,147
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (17,415,449) 19,648,396
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 35 30,290,094 47,705,543




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

CSR Corporation Limited (“CSR") was incorporated in the PRC on 28 December 2007 as a joint stock company with limited liability
under the Company Law of the PRC. CSR's A shares were listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (the “SSE") on 18 August 2008 and
CSR's H shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "HKSE") on 21 August 2008.

China CNR Corporation Limited ("CNR") was incorporated in the PRC on 26 June 2008 as a joint stock company with limited liability
under the Company Law of the PRC. CNR made an initial public offering of A shares which were listed on the SSE on 29 December
2009. H shares of CNR were listed on the Main Board of the HKSE on 22 May 2014.

CSR and CNR published a joint announcement on 30 December 2014, announcing that the two companies entered into a merger
agreement with respect to a merger proposal (2015 Business Combination”). CSR and CNR would merge by CSR issuing, on
the basis of a single exchange ratio, CSR A shares and CSR H shares to holders of CNR A shares and CNR H shares respectively in
exchange for all of the issued shares of CNR. The exchange ratio was 1:1.10, meaning that each CNR A share should be exchanged
for 1.10 CSR A shares to be issued by CSR and that each CNR H share should be exchanged for 1.10 CSR H shares to be issued
by CSR. As all of the conditions of the above agreement as specified in the merger agreement had been satisfied, the merger
agreement became effective on 28 May 2015. CNR A shares were deregistered from the SSE and CNR H shares were deregistered
from the Main Board of HKSE. After the completion of the merger, CSR assumed all the assets, liabilities and business of CNR and
CNR was deregistered according to law.

On 1 June 2015, the name of CSR was changed from“CSR Corporation Limited"to"CRRC Corporation Limited{CRRC"or the"Company/.

In 2015, the respective holding companies of CSR and CNR, namely CSR Group (formerly China South Locomotive and Rolling Stock
Industry (Group) Corporation) and China Northern Locomotive & Rolling Stock Industry (Group) Corporation, had merged as CRRC
Group ("CRRCG") following the merger between CSR and CNR.

In 2017, the Company completed the non-public offering of 1,410,106,000 A shares with par value RMB1.00 each at an issue price of
RMB8.51 per share. Upon completion, the total number of shares of the Company increased to 28,698,864,000 shares.

The address of the Company's registered office is No.16 Central West Fourth Ring Road, Haidian District, Beijing, the PRC.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are principally engaged in the research and development, design,
manufacture, refurbishment and service of locomotives (including multiple units), metro cars, engineering machinery, mechanical
and electric equipment, electronic equipment, environmental protection equipment and related components products, as well
as sales, technical services and equipment leasing of related products; imports and exports; industrial investment of the above
businesses; assets management; information consultation, etc.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs")

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to IFRSs for the first time in the current year.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the related Amendments
IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions
Amendments to IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to IAS 28 As part of the Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014 - 2016 Cycle
Amendments to IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group's financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Impacts of application of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has applied IFRS 15 for the first time in the current year. IFRS 15 superseded IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction
Contracts and the related interpretations.

The Group has applied IFRS 15 retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying this Standard recognised at the date
of initial application, 1 January 2018. Any difference at the date of initial application is recognised in the opening retained earnings
(or other components of equity, as appropriate) and comparative information has not been restated. Furthermore, in accordance
with the transition provisions in IFRS 15, the Group has elected to apply the Standard retrospectively only to contracts that are not
completed at 1 January 2018 and has used the practical expedient for all contract modifications that occurred before the date of
initial application, the aggregate effect of all of the modifications was reflected at the date of initial application. Accordingly, certain
comparative information may not be comparable as comparative information was prepared under IAS 18 Revenue and IAS 11
Construction Contracts and the related interpretations.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:
Revenue from rail transportation products and their extent products
Revenue from rail transportation products’ extent services

Information about the Group's performance obligations and the accounting policies resulting from application of IFRS 15 are
disclosed in notes 5 and 3 respectively.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

Impacts of application of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of IFRS 15

The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at 1 January
2018. Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been included.

Carrying
amounts under
Carrying IFRS 15 at
amounts at 31 1 January
December 2017 Adjustments 2018*
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Restated)
Non-current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 65,919,441 (259,577) 65,659,864
Other non -current assets 14,154,580 (1,974,189) 12,180,391
Contract assets — 2,028,175 2,028,175
Current Assets
Amounts due from customers for contract work 129,894 (129,894) —
Contract assets — 10,805,822 10,805,822
Trade receivables 77,674,531 (10,619,317) 67,055,214
Inventories 55,104,940 225,562 55,330,502
Capital and Reserves
Reserves 92,885,067 116,519 93,001,586
Non-controlling interests 20,335,691 178,093 20,513,784
Current Liabilities
Trade payables 104,357,254 9,352 104,366,606
Contract liabilities — 18,303,411 18,303,411
Other payables and accruals 34,072,662 (18,318,625) 15,754,037
Non-current liabilities
Other non-current liabilities 1,198,249 (141,357) 1,056,892
Deferred tax liabilities 175,882 17,204 193,086
Deferred income 5,756,605 (88,015) 5,668,590

* The amounts in this column are before the adjustments from the application of IFRS 9.

125



Annual Report 2018

CRRC CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

126

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

Impacts of application of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of IFRS 15 (continued)

Note: In accordance with IFRS15, the Group recognises the obligation of transferring goods or services to customers for which the
Group has received consideration from customers as contract liabilities, and the right to collect consideration for goods that have
been transferred to customers, which depends on factors other than the passage of time, as contract assets.

Upon the application of IFRS 15, revenue from mould sales is recognised when the customer obtains control over the goods or
services. Entrance fees, the so-called nomination fees paid by the Group, are considered as consideration paid to a customer and
are recognised over the duration of the contract as reduction of the revenue.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

Impacts of application of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of IFRS 15 (continued)

The following tables summarise the impacts of applying IFRS 15 on the Group's consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2018 and its consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the current year for each
of the line items affected. Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been included.

Impact on the consolidated statement of financial position

Amounts without
application of

As reported Adjustments IFRS 15
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 65,488,942 250,376 65,739,318
Other non-current assets 12,935,258 3,325,972 16,261,230
Contract assets 8,923,932 (8,923,932) —
Current Assets
Inventories 55,121,500 (203,111) 54,918,389
Contract assets 14,657,889 (14,657,889) —
Trade receivables 64,205,603 19,545,288 83,750,891
Prepayments deposits and other receivables 26,133,479 141,196 26,274,675
Amounts due from customers
for contract work — 111,782 111,782
Capital and Reserves
Reserves 99,758,831 (122,303) 99,636,528
Non-controlling interests 21,226,932 (186,637) 21,040,295
Current Liabilities
Trade payables 99,189,987 (2,692) 99,187,295
Contract liabilities 22,335,899 (22,335,899) —
Other payables and accruals 17,997,991 21,962,071 39,960,062
Non-current liabilities
Other non-current liabilities 879,330 203,860 1,083,190
Deferred tax liabilities 158,546 (13,654) 144,892
Deferred income 5,503,288 84,936 5,588,224
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

Impacts of application of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of IFRS 15 (continued)

Impact on the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income

Amounts without
application of

As reported Adjustments IFRS 15

RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000

Revenue 214,521,647 (86,147) 214,435,500
Cost of sales (168,459,287) 78,345 (168,380,942)
Distribution and selling expenses (7,745,841) (6,332) (7,752,173)
Profit before tax 15,342,372 (14,134) 15,328,238
Other comprehensive expense for the year, net of income tax (237,531) (194) (237,725)

Impacts of application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related amendments

In the current year, the Group has applied IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, and the related consequential amendments to other IFRSs.
IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for 1) the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, 2) expected
credit losses ("ECL") for financial assets and other items (for example, contract assets, lease receivables and financial guarantee
contracts) and 3) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied IFRS 9 in accordance with the transition provisions set out in IFRS 9. i.e. applied the classification and
measurement requirements (including impairment) retrospectively to instruments that have not been derecognised as at 1 January
2018 (date of initial application) and has not applied the requirements to instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1
January 2018. The difference between carrying amounts as at 31 December 2017 and the carrying amounts as at 1 January 2018 are
recognised in the opening retained earnings and other components of equity, without restating comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be comparable as comparative information was prepared under IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Accounting policies resulting from application of IFRS 9 are disclosed in note 3.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

Impacts of application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related amendments (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of IFRS 9 (continued)

(@

Available-for-sale ("AFS’) investments

From AFS equity investments to FVTOCI

The Group elected to present in other comprehensive income (“OCI") for the fair value changes of part of its equity
investments previously classified as available-for-sale, which are not held for trading and not expected to be sold in the
foreseeable future. As a result, at the date of initial application of IFRS 9, RMB2,174,102,000 were reclassified from available-
for-sale investments to equity instruments at FVTOCI, part of which related to unquoted equity investments previously
measured at cost less impairment under IAS 39. The fair value gains relating to those unquoted equity investments
previously carried at cost less impairment were adjusted to equity instruments at FVTOCI as at 1 January 2018, with the
impact on revaluation reserve, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities. The impairment losses previously recognised

were transferred from retained earnings to ravaluation reserve as at 1 January 2018.

From AFS equity investments to FVTPL

At the date of initial application of IFRS 9, the Group's equity investments of RMB25,801,000 were reclassified to financial
assets at FVTPL under current assets. The fair value gains accumulated in revaluation reserve relating to those investments

previously carried at fair value were transferred from revaluation reserve to retained earnings.

At the date of initial application of IFRS 9, the Group's debt investments of RMB605,953,000 were reclassified to financial
assets at FVTPL under non-current assets. The fair value losses accumulated in revaluation reserve relating to those

investments previously carried at fair value were transferred from revaluation reserve to retained earnings.

At the date of initial application of IFRS 9, unlisted investments with a fair value of RMB 451,497,000 were reclassified to
financial assets at FVTPL under current assets, as the contractual cash flows of these investments do not meet the IFRS 9
criteria as solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. Related fair value gains were

transferred from revaluation reserve to retained earnings as at 1 January 2018.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

Impacts of application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related amendments (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of IFRS 9 (continued)

)

()

@

Held-to-maturity investments

Listed bonds previously classified as held-to-maturity investments are reclassified as debt investment at amortised cost upon
application of IFRS 9. The Group intends to hold the assets to maturity to collect contractual cash flows which consist solely
of payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at FVIPL and/or designated at FVTPL

At the date of initial application, the Group no longer applied designation as measured at FVTPL for private equity funds
investment which are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, as these financial assets are
mandatorily to be measured at FVTPL under IFRS 9.

Remaining investments at FVTPL under IAS 39 are financial assets held for trading and derivatives which are required to
be classified as FVTPL under IFRS 9. There was no impact on the amounts recognised in relation to these assets from the
application of IFRS 9.

Loans and receivables

At the date of initial application of IFRS 9, certain of the Group's trade and bills receivables were considered as within the
business model of holding to collect contractual cash flows and to sell, and were reclassified to debt instruments at FVTOCI.
The related fair value losses were adjusted to debt instruments at FVTOCI, with impact on deferred tax assets, revaluation

reserve and non-controlling interests as at 1 January 2018.

Remaining amount previously classified as loans and receivables were measured at amortised cost upon application of IFRS
9. The Group intends to hold the assets to maturity to collect contractual cash flows and these cash flows consist solely of

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (continued)

Impacts of application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related amendments (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of IFRS 9 (continued)

(e)

Impairment under ECL mode/l

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all contract assets, trade
receivables, measured at amortised cost and lease receivables. To measure the ECL, contract assets and trade receivables,
measured at amortised cost have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics. The contract assets have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group has therefore
concluded that the expected loss rates for the trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the
contract assets.

Loss allowances for other financial assets at amortised cost mainly comprised of long-term receivables (excluding lease
receivables), other receivables, bills receivables, pledged and restricted bank deposits, bank balances, loans and advances to
customers, and debt investments at amortised costs are measured on 12m ECL basis, or lifetime to “ECL" basis, depends on
whether there has been significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

As at 1 January 2018, no material additional credit loss allowance has been recognised.

All'loss allowances for items subject to ECL model as at 31 December 2017 are reconciled to the opening loss allowance as at
1 January 2018 as follows:

Deposits Other Loans and

Trade and other  non-current advances Contract Long-term
receivables receivables assets to customers assets receivables
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

At 31 December 2017
—1AS 39 (Restated) 5,168,787 574,101 3,304 45,790 — 1,878,485
Reclassification (238,824) — — — 238,824 —
At 1 January 2018 4,929,963 574,101 3,304 45,790 238,824 1,878,485
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but not yet effective:

New or revised standards and interpretations that have been issued but not yet effective

IFRS 16 Leases'

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments'

Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business*

Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation’
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material®

Amendments to IAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement’
Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures'
Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
: Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning

on or after 1 January 2020

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Except for the new IFRSs mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors
and lessees. IFRS 16 will supersede IAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

IFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer. In addition,
IFRS 16 requires sales and leaseback transactions to be determined based on the requirements of IFRS 15 as to whether the
transfer of the relevant asset should be accounted for as a sale. IFRS 16 also includes requirements relating to subleases and lease
modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low

value assets.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially
measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted
for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification of cash flows,
the Group currently presents upfront prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands for own use
and those classified as investment properties while other operating lease payments are presented as operating cash flows. Upon
application of IFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest portion which will
be presented as financing cash flows by the Group, upfront prepaid lease payment will continue to be presented as investing or
operating cash flows in accordance to the nature, as appropriate.

Under IAS 17, the Group has already recognised an asset and a related finance lease liability for finance lease arrangement and
prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group is a lessee. The application of IFRS 16 may result in potential changes
in classification of these assets depending on whether the Group presents right-of-use assets separately or within the same line
item at which the corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable to lessor, IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting
requirements in IAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 16.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of RMB704,692,000 as disclosed in note
48(a)(ii). A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon application of IFRS 16,
the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low
value or short-term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental deposits paid of RMB125,130,000 and refundable rental deposits
received of RMB155,605,000 as rights and obligations under leases to which IAS 17 applies. Based on the definition of lease
payments under IFRS 16, such deposits are not payments relating to the right to use the underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying
amounts of such deposits may be adjusted to amortised cost. Adjustments to refundable rental deposits paid would be considered
as additional lease payments and included in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets. Adjustments to refundable rental deposits
received would be considered as advance lease payments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (‘CO").

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except
for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within
the scope of IAS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable

value in IAS 2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by
using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and

best use.

For financial instruments which are transferred at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that the results of the valuation technique equal
the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to
which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in
its entirety, which are described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at
the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

has power over the investee;
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control
of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date
when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with
the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according to the Group's and the non-controlling interests' proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration

paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9/IAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition

of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business combination under common control, are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and

Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that standard.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after reassessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that is qualified as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the “measurement period” (which

cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period
adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or
loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to
its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive income (as
appropriate). Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income and measured under IFRS 9/IAS 39 would be accounted for on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are
adjusted retrospectively during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised at that date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Merger accounting for business combination involving entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements items of the combining businesses in which the
common control combination occurs as if they had been combined from the date when the combining businesses first came
under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining businesses are consolidated using the existing book values from the controlling party’s perspective.
No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or bargain purchase gain at the time of common control combination.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income includes the results of each of the combining
businesses from the earliest date presented or since the date when the combining businesses first came under the common
control, where this is a shorter period.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial statements are presented as if the businesses had been combined at the
end of the previous reporting period or when they first came under common control, whichever is shorter.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the

goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually,
or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the
other assets of the unit on a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating
units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the cash-generating unit within the group of cash- generating units,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group
disposes of an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash- generating unit within a group of cash-generating units),
the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-generating unit)
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisitions of associates and joint ventures are described below.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets
of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when

decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of the associate or joint venture other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's
share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost
of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and
fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss and is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill which forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

When the group ceases to have significant influence over an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as
a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group
retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of IFRS 9/
IAS 39, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of the
gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate
or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal or
partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes

in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Service concession arrangements

The Group has entered into service concession arrangements with the various governing bodies or agencies of the government
of the PRC (the “grantors”) to build and operate waste water treatment plants. Under the concession arrangements, the Group
will construct and/or operate the plants for a concession period of between 20 and 30 years and transfer the plants to the
grantors at the end of the concession periods. Such concession arrangements fall within the scope of IFRIC 12 Service Concession
Arrangements, and are accounted for as follows:

Financial asset - service concession receivables

The Group recognises a service concession receivable if it has an unconditional contractual right under the service concession
arrangements to receive a fixed or determinable amount of payments during the concession period irrespective of the usage of the
plants. The transaction price allocated to the performance obligation for construction services is classified as contract assets during
the construction period and transferred to service concession receivables upon completion of the construction. Subsequent to

initial recognition, the service concession receivable is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the asset (or disposal group) is
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such asset (or
disposal group) and its sale is highly probable. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify
for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell, except for financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9/IAS 39 which continue to be measured in
accordance with the accounting policies as set out in respective sections.

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application of IFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in
note 2)

Under IFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods

or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group

performs;
. the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application of IFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in
note 2) (continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with IFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents
the Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to each performance

obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis, except for the allocation of discounts and variable consideration.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service underlying each performance obligation is determined at contract
inception. It represents the price at which the Group would sell a promised good or service separately to a customer. If a stand-
alone selling price is not directly observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate techniques such that the transaction price
ultimately allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured based on input method, which is to recognise
revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation, that best depict the Group's performance in transferring control of goods
or services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application of IFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in
note 2) (continued)

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of
money if the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a significant financing
component. A significant financing component may exist regardless of whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated in the
contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for
those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by another party.
In this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service provided by another party before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.
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Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer

returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured: when it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's activities, as described below.

(@) Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards
of ownership of the goods and retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can
be measured reliably;

(b)  The Group's accounting policy for the recognition of revenue from the rendering of services is described in the accounting
policy for Contracts for services below;

(0 The Group's accounting policy for the recognition of revenue from operating service provided under service concession

arrangements is recognised when services are provided.

(d)  The Group's accounting policy for the recognition of revenue from construction services is described in the accounting
policy for construction contracts below;

(e)  The Group's accounting policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described in the accounting policy for
leasing below;

) Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition; and

(g)  Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.

Contracts for services (prior to 1 January 2018)

Contract revenue on the rendering of services comprises the agreed contract amount. Costs of rendering services comprise labour
and other costs of personnel directly engaged in providing the services and attributable overheads.

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised based on the percentage of completion of the transaction, provided that
the revenue, the costs incurred and the estimated costs to completion can be measured reliably. The percentage of completion is
established by reference to the costs incurred to date as compared to the total costs to be incurred under the transaction. Where
the outcome of a contract cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent that the expenses incurred are
eligible to be recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Construction contracts (prior to 1 January 2018)

Construction contracts are contracts specifically negotiated with a customer for the construction of an asset or a group of assets,
where the customer is able to specify the major structural elements of the design.

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, measured based on the proportion of contract costs
incurred for work performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs, except where this would not be representative of
the stage of completion. Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that the amount can
be measured reliably and its receipt is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of
contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they

are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

When a contract covers a number of assets, the construction of each asset is treated as a separate contract when separate proposals
have been submitted for each asset, each asset has been separately negotiated and the costs and revenues of each asset can be
separately identified. A group of contracts, performed concurrently or in a continuous sequence, is treated as a single construction
contract when the contracts were negotiated as a single package and they are so closely inter-related that they constitute a single
project with an overall profit margin.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown
as amounts due from customers for contract work. For contracts where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as the amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are included in the consolidated statement of financial position, as a liability,
under “Other payables and accruals”. Amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid by the customer are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position under “Trade receivables”.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leasing

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the lessee, other than legal title, are accounted
for as finance leases. Where the Group is the lessee, at the inception of a finance lease, the leased assets are recognised at their fair
value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Assets held under finance leases are included in property,
plant and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance
costs of such leases are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income so as to provide a
constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated over
their estimated useful lives.

Where the Group is the lessor, amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of
Group's net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic
rate of return on the Group's net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Leases that do not transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the lessee are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessor, the rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset, such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Where the Group
is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Renminbi “RMB") using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as
expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful
lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they

become receivable.
The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the difference
between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered services
entitling them to the contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method,
with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each annual reporting period. Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains
and losses, the effect of the changes to the asset ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected
immediately in the consolidated statement of financial position with a charge or credit recognised in other comprehensive income
in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive income will not be reclassified to profit or
loss. Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying the
discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:
service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments and settlements);
. net interest expense or income; and

remeasurement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits (continued)

The Group presents the first two components of defined benefit costs in profit or loss in the line item of administrative expenses

and finance costs respectively. Curtailment gains and losses are accounted for as past service costs.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position represents the actual deficit or
surplus in the Group's defined benefit retirement benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present

value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the
termination benefit and when the entity recognises any related restructuring costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another IFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated future
cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Any
changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that another IFRS requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.
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Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss because of items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of property,
plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates
them accordingly.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment (except for
freehold land and construction in progress) to its residual value over its estimated useful life.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful lives and after
taking into account of their estimated residual values using the straight-line method.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the

investment properties under construction.

Investment property is transferred to owner-occupied property when there is a change in use as evidenced by the commencement
of owner occupation. Owner-occupied property is transferred to investment property when there is a change in use as evidenced
by end of owner-occupation.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or
no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is
recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
. the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
. how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and

the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date
when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be
recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.

153



Annual Report 2018

CRRC CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

154

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect
of goodwill above)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of tangible and intangible assets are estimated individually, when it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash- generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A

reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on specific identification,
first-in, first-out, or weighted average methods depending on business types and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable

that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where

the effect of the time value of money is material).

Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations derived from the relevant legislation are recognised at the date of
recognition of revenue from the sale of the relevant products, at the management's best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the Group's present obligation.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15 since 1 January 2018. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at

fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which is derived from the Group's ordinary course of business is presented as revenue.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon application of IFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:
. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and
selling; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in OCl if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon application of IFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2)

(continued)

U]

(i)

(iii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised
cost and debt instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit- impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from
the beginning of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.

Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI as a result of interest income
calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes in the carrying amount
of these debt instruments are recognised in OCl and accumulated under the heading of revaluation reserve. Impairment
allowances are recognised in profit or loss with corresponding adjustment to OCl without reducing the carrying amounts of
these debt instruments. The amounts that are recognised in profit or loss are the same as the amounts that would have been
recognised in profit or loss if these debt instruments had been measured at amortised cost. When these debt instruments
are derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in OCl and accumulated in the revaluation reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, and will
be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are

included in “other income” in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon application of IFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(continued)

(iv)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss.The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in “other gains and losses”.

Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with transitions in accordance with note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets at amortised cost, debt instruments at FVTOCI, contract assets,
lease receivables, loan commitment and financial guarantee contracts which are subject to impairment under IFRS 9. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions
at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables contract assets and lease receivables, The ECL on these assets are
assessed individually for debtors with significant balances or credit impaired and/or collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

U]

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument'’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;
. significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the

credit default swap prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default, i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument
to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood
definitions.

For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a loan
commitment, the Group considers changes in the risk of a default occurring on the loan to which a loan commitment relates;
for financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the
contract.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

U]

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit

risk.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit- impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

() thelender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having

granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition

event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial

recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in
accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the expected losses is the present value of the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive
from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For undrawn loan commitments, the ECL is the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group if the holder of the loan commitments draws down the loan, and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive if the loan is drawn down.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts or loan commitments for which the effective interest rate cannot be determined,
the Group will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks that
are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting the discount rate
instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet
be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the below basis:

. Nature of financial instruments;

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.

161



Annual Report 2018

CRRC CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

162

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance
determined in accordance with IFRS 9; and the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amount of
income recognised over the guarantee period.

For undrawn loan commitments, the loss allowances are the present value of the difference between:
(@)  the contractual cash flows that are due to the Group if the holder of the loan commitment draws down the loan; and
(b)  the cash flows that the Group expects to receive if the loan is drawn down.

Except for investments in debt instruments/receivables that are measured at FVTOCI, loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts, the Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables, other receivables, long term receivables and
contract assets. where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account. For investments in
debt instruments/receivables that are measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in OCl and accumulated in the
revaluation reserve without reducing the carrying amount of these debt instruments/receivables.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (before application of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets at FVTPL, held-to-maturity investments, AFS
financial assets and loans and receivables. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (before application of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018) (continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is (i) held for trading; or (ii) it is designated as at FVTPL; or (iii)

contingent consideration that may be received by an acquirer as part of a business combination.
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.
A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise;
or

. the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

. it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 permits the entire combined contract
to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the'other
income and gains and losses’ line item. Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 50.3.

Held-to-maturity investment

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates
that are quoted in an active market and that the Group has positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Subsequent to initial
recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as (a) loans and
receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at FVTPL.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are classified as AFS financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period except for unquoted equity investments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured. Changes in the carrying
amount of AFS debt instruments relating to interest income calculated using the effective interest method and changes in foreign
exchange rates are recognised in profit or loss. Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the
Group's right to receive the dividends is established. Other changes in the carrying amount of AFS financial assets are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve. When the
investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the available-for-

sale investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of each reporting period (see the accounting policy

in respect of impairment loss on financial assets below).

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade receivables, bill receivables, other receivables, loans
and advances to customers, senior notes, long-term receivables, cash and bank balances as well as pledged and restricted bank
deposits) are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition of

interest would be immaterial.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial
assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered to be

objective evidence of impairment.
For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:
significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
. breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or
. disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets are assessed for impairment on a collective basis even if
they were assessed not to be impaired individually. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group's past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period of around three months to six months, as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions

that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets that are carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, other receivables and long-term receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. When a trade or other receivable or long-term receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes
in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018) (continued)

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and
the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit or
loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve. In respect of AFS debt securities, impairment losses are
subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the
Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum

of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as at FVTOCI upon application of IFRS 9, the cumulative gain or
loss previously accumulated in the revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition/initial application to
measure at FVTOCI upon application of IFRS 9, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the revaluation reserve is not
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.

On derecognition of an AFS financial asset, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the revaluation reserve is

reclassified to profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liabilities is (i) held for trading; or (ii) it is designated as at FVTPL; or (iii)
contingent consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations

applies.
A financial liability is classified as for trading if:
it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term;or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instrument that the Group manages together and has a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking, or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial liability at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any interest paid on the financial liabilities and is included in the ‘other
income and gains and losses’ line item.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including borrowings, trade payables, bills payable, other payables, long-term payables and due to customers)
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Convertible Bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain both debt and multiple embedded derivatives (including conversion option
that will be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Group's own equity instruments and redemption options) are classified separately into respective items on initial recognition.
Multiple embedded derivatives are generally treated as a single compound embedded derivative unless those derivatives relate
to different risk exposures and are readily separable and independent of each other. At the date of issue, both the debt and the
derivative components are recognised at fair value.

In subsequent periods, the debt component of the convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The derivative component is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible bonds are allocated to the debt and derivative components in
proportion to their relative fair values. Transaction costs relating to the derivative component is charged to profit or loss
immediately. Transaction costs relating to the debt component are included in the carrying amount of the debt portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible bonds using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Embedded derivatives (under IFRS 9 since 1 January 2018)

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain financial asset hosts within the scope of IFRS 9 are not separated. The entire

hybrid contract is classified and subsequently measured in its entirety as either amortised cost or fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are not financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9 are treated as
separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of
the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

Embedded derivatives (before application of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition of
a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
measured at FVTPL.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVTPL, are
subsequently measured at the higher of:

the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IFRS 9 (since 1 January 2018)/IAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (before application of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018); and

the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months

from the date of acquisition.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The
estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, which may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated, which is the higher of the value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal. Estimating the value in use or determining fair value less costs of disposal by using discounted cash flow
projections requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units based on
key assumptions, such as long-term growth rates, revenue growth rates, gross margin, and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2018 was
RMB713,042,000 (31 December 2017: RMB1,242,487,000). More details are provided in note 19.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables, other receivables and contract assets

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade receivables, other receivables and contract assets except for
those with significant balance or credit impaired. The provision rates are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various
receivables that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on the Group's historical default rates taking into
consideration reasonable and supportable forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are considered.
For trade receivables, other receivables and contract assets with significant balances or credit impaired, ECL are assessed
individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables and
contract assets are disclosed in notes 31 and 26 respectively.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Useful lives and residual value of property, plant and equipment, investment properties and other
intangible assets

The Group's management determines the residual value, useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its
property, plant and equipment, investment properties and other intangible assets. The estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual residual value and useful lives of relevant assets of similar nature and functions. It could change significantly
as a result of technical innovations and keen competitions from competitors. Management will increase the depreciation and
amortisation charges where residual value or useful lives are less than previously estimated, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete assets.

Employee retirement benefits

The Group has recognised the defined retirement benefit plans as a liability. The Group's obligations are determined using actuarial
valuations, which rely on various assumptions and conditions. The assumptions used in actuarial valuation include discount rates,
the growth rate of the benefits and other factors. The actual result may differ from the actuary result. Even though management
is of the view that the above assumptions are reasonable, any changes in condition of assumptions will still affect the estimated
liability amount of defined retirement benefit plans. The carrying amount of employee retirement benefits obligations at 31
December 2018 was RMB3,858,596,000 (31 December 2017: RMB4,006,658,000).

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

The Group determines the write-down for obsolescence of inventories. These estimates are made with reference to aged inventory
analyses, projections of expected future saleability of goods and management experience and judgement. Based on this review,
write-down of inventories will be made when the carrying amounts of inventories decline below their estimated net realisable
values. Due to changes in market conditions, actual saleability of goods may be different from estimation and profit or loss could be
affected by differences in this estimation. The net carrying amount of inventories at 31 December 2018 was RMB55,121,500,000 (31
December 2017: RMB55,104,940,000).

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses and other deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the tax losses and other deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The carrying amount of deferred tax
assets at 31 December 2018 was RMB3,644,579,000 (31 December 2017: RMB3,697,406,000). Further details are contained in note 28
to the consolidated financial statements.

Warranty provisions

As explained in note 41, the Group makes provisions under the warranties it gives on sales of its goods taking into account the
Group's recent claim experience. It is possible that the recent claim experience is not indicative of future claims that it will receive in
respect of past sales. Any increase or decrease in the provision would affect profit or loss in future years.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
Revenue
2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
(Restated)
Revenue
Sale of goods and services 213,580,821 206,228,889
Interest income arising from Finance Company 607,223 367,229
Rental income 333,603 448,139
214,521,647 207,044,257
For the year ended 31 December 2018
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
2018
RMB’000
Types of goods or service
Goods 175,209,569
Services 38,371,252
Under IFRS 15 213,580,821
Timing of revenue recognition
A pointin time 175,209,569
Over time 38,371,252
Under IFRS 15 213,580,821

Geographical markets
Mainland China
Outside mainland China

194,462,872
19,117,949

Under IFRS 15

213,580,821
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue (continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

) Revenue from rail transportation products and their extent products

For sales of rail transportation products and their extent products, revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been accepted and shipped to the customer’s specific location.

(i) Revenue from rail transportation products’ extent services

The Group provides rail transportation products’ extent services to customers. Such services are considered as a performance
obligation satisfied over time as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs. Revenue is recognised for these services using input method.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group's operating activities are attributable to a single operating segment, the provision of rolling
stock products and services as well as other businesses that utilise proprietary rolling stock technologies. The Group’s most senior
executive management reviews the Group's revenue and profits as a whole for the purpose of allocating resources and assessing
the performances. Therefore, no analysis by operating segment is presented.

Products and services

Revenue from external customers

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

(Restated)

Rail transportation products and their extent products and services 214,521,647 207,044,257

Geographical information

Revenue from external customers

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

(Restated)

Mainland China 195,361,972 187,912,374

Other countries and regions 19,159,675 19,131,883

214,521,647 207,044,257

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the customers.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment Information (continued)

Geographical information (continued)

Non-current assets

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

(Restated)

Mainland China 105,402,029 94,043,527
Other countries and regions 6,445,353 5,976,103
111,847,382 100,019,630

The non-current assets information above is based on the locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments and deferred
tax assets.
Information about a major customer

Revenue generated from a single customer which amounted to more than 10% of the Group's revenue for the year ended 31
December 2018 was RMB112,644,792,000 (2017: RMB100,635,529,000). The companies invested and managed by all PRC local
railway departments are regarded as a single customer by the directors of the Company.

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND LOSSES

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
(Restated)
Other income:
Government grants 1,391,385 1,138,379
Interest income from banks 591,127 422,600
Value-added tax refunds 268,676 274,481
Income from sundry operations 172,409 209,952
Technical service income 257,433 185,535
Rental of items of properties 105,748 103,712
Dividend income 53,463 84,562
Interest from debt instruments 88,327 52,859
Income from corporate wealth management products 166,421 52,902
Others 90,429 98,849
3,185,418 2,623,831
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OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND LOSSES (continued)

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
(Restated)
Other gains and losses:
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 47) 1,453,894 1,809,155
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (83,857) (45,300)
Gain on disposal of prepaid lease payments 1,023,844 923,192
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investment — 113,044
Gain (loss) on disposal of other intangible assets 792 (3,982)
Net foreign exchange loss (252,280) (96,449)
Gain (loss) on fair value change of
convertible bonds-derivative component (note 44) 251,412 (166,960)
Gain (loss) on fair value of derivative
financial instruments 225,192 (208,680)
Others 731,732 227,762
3,350,729 2,551,782
Total 6,536,147 5175613
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES, NET OF REVERSAL
2018
RMB’000
Impairment loss in respect of long-term receivables 979,197
Impairment loss in respect of trade receivables 531,622
Impairment loss in respect of loan receivables 53,927
Reversal of impairment loss in respect of contract assets (50,014)
Impairment loss in respect of other receivables 42,369
Impairment loss in respect of loans and advances to customers 53,927
Others 19,247
1,630,275
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8. OTHER EXPENSES

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
(Restated)
Other expenses included net:
Impairment of trade receivables — 1,077,304
Impairment of other non-current assets 10,072 1,073,944
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 238,976 80414
Impairment of available-for-sale investments — 50,025
Impairment of loans and advances to customers — 43,404
Provision for onerous contracts 8,595 20,866
Impairment of goodwill 529,921 20,724
Impairment of other intangible assets 84,742 13,186
Relocation expenses 85,766 6,902
Impairment of prepayment, deposits and other receivables 290,316 6,495
Impairment of non-current assets classified as held for sale — 6,188
1,248,388 2,399,452
9. FINANCE COSTS
An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Interest on borrowings 1,421,680 1,446,301
Interest expenses on 2016 Convertible Bonds (note 44) 93,851 93,397
Interest on bills discounted 106,939 94,562
Interest cost recognised in respect of defined benefit obligations (note 40) 139,296 97,759
Interest on finance leases 7,251 9,927
Others — 2,738
Less: interest capitalised in construction in progress (166,885) (344,091)
1,602,132 1,400,593

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year mainly arose on the general borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a
capitalisation rate ranging from 1.08% to 5.60% (2017: 1.08% to 5.65%) per annum to expenditure on qualifying assets.
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10.

Note:

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
(Restated)
Cost of inventories sold (Note) 168,273,587 161,192,200
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5,602,616 5,401,879
Depreciation of investment properties 30,080 31,371
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 364,230 361,746
Amortisation of other intangible assets 531,635 633,924
Auditors’ remuneration 30,000 30,000
Provision for warranties (note 41) 3,055,842 2,788,689
Operating leases expenses:
Plant and machinery 425,978 413,605
Land and buildings 363,525 338,588
Research and development costs 11,166,569 10,491,958
Less: amount capitalised (231,427) (174,524)
10,935,142 10,317,434
Staff costs (including directors’, supervisors' and chief executive’s
remuneration, and employees’ benefits other than below) 27,013,687 25,631,940
Contribution to government-operated pension schemes 2,866,582 2,795,275
Contribution to annuity pension schemes 547,216 493,130
Retirement benefit obligations - costs recognised 143,889 116,814
30,571,374 29,037,159

Cost of inventories sold included provision against obsolete inventories amounting to RMB 253,448,000 during the year (2017: RMB402,981,000) and was also
included in “Cost of sales and services” on the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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11. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS

Directors’, supervisors' and chief executive’s emoluments for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and CO, are as follows:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Fees 334 577
Other emoluments:
Salaries 1,356 1,295
Performance-related bonuses (Note i) 2,603 2,543
Social security contribution other than pension (Note i) 350 316
Pension scheme contributions (Note iii) 275 255
Total 4,918 4,986
Notes:
(i) The performance-related bonuses are determined by the remuneration committee in accordance with the relevant remuneration policies.
(i) The social security contributions other than pension represent the Company’s statutory contributions directly to the PRC government, and are

determined based on a certain percentage of the salaries of the directors, supervisors and the chief executive.

(i) The pension scheme contributions represent the Company’s statutory contributions to a defined contribution pension scheme organised by the PRC

government, and are determined based on a certain percentage of the salaries of the directors, supervisors and the chief executive.
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11.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The names of the directors, supervisors and the chief executive and their emoluments for the year are as follows:

Social security

Performance- contribution Pension
related other than scheme
Fees Salaries bonuses pension contributions Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
Year ended
31 December 2018
Executive directors:
Mr. Liu Hualong (Note i) = = = = = =
Mr. Sun Yongcai = 207 633 70 55 965
Mr. Xu Zongxiang = 184 608 70 55 917
= 391 1,241 140 110 1,882
Non-executive director:
Mr. Liu Zhiyong = = = = = =
Independent non-executive
directors:
Mr. Li Guo'an 60 = = = = 60
Mr. Wu Zhuo 60 = = = = 60
Mr. Sun Patrick 150 = = = = 150
Mr. Chan Ka Keung,
Peter (Note iv) 64 = = = = 64
334 = = = = 334
Supervisors:
Mr. Wan Jun = 186 622 70 55 933
Mr. Chen Fangping = 389 370 70 55 884
Mr. Qiu Wei = 390 370 70 55 885
= 965 1,362 210 165 2,702
334 1,356 2,603 350 275 4,918
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11.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Social security

Performance- contribution Pension
related other than scheme
Fees Salaries bonuses pension  contributions Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Year ended
31 December 2017
Executive directors:
Mr. Liu Hualong (Note i) — — — — — —
Mr. Sun Yongcai (Note ii) — 172 450 63 51 736
Mr. Xu Zongxiang (Note iii) — 69 445 28 22 564
Mr. Xi Guohua (Note v) — 108 500 36 29 673
— 349 1,395 127 102 1,973
Non-executive director:
Mr. Liu Zhiyong — — — — — —
Independent non-executive
directors:
Mr. Li Guo'an 104 — — — — 104
Mr. Zhang Zhong (Note vi) 74 — — — — 74
Mr. Wu Zhuo 100 — — — — 100
Mr. Sun Patrick 148 — — — — 148
Mr. Chan Ka Keung, Peter 151 — — — — 151
577 — — — — 577
Supervisors:
Mr. Wan Jun — 167 450 63 51 731
Mr. Chen Fangping — 389 349 63 51 852
Mr. Qiu Wei — 390 349 63 51 853
— 946 1,148 189 153 2,436
577 1,295 2,543 316 255 4,986
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11. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:
(i) Mr. Liu Hualong holds certain position in CRRCG and his remuneration has been borne by CRRCG since November 2015.
(i) On 20 June 2017, Mr. Sun Yongcai was appointed as the executive director of the Company and his remuneration has been borne by the Company

since August 2017. On 12 October 2017, Mr. Sun Yongcai was appointed as the president of the Company and his remuneration disclosed above
include those for services rendered as president.

(i) On 20 June 2017, Mr. Xu Zongxiang was appointed as an executive director of the Company and his remuneration has been borne by the Company
since August 2017.

(iv) Mr. Chan Ka Keung, Peter ceased to hold his position with the Company as an independent non-executive director of the Company upon expiry of his
term of office on 31 May 2018.

v) On 26 July 2017, Mr. Xi Guohua resigned from the position of the executive director and the president of the Company, and the vice chairman of the
Board.

(vi) On 20 June 2017, Mr. Zhang Zhong resigned from the position of independent non-executive director.

The executive directors’ and supervisors” emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the management of

the affairs of the Company and the Group.
The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the Company.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the supervisors and the chief executive of the Company as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office during both years.

There was no arrangement under which the directors or the supervisors and the chief executive of the Company waived or agreed

to waive any remuneration during both years.
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12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during both years are neither directors, supervisors nor chief executive.

Details of the remuneration paid to the five highest paid employees during the year are as follows:

2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Salaries 1,715 1,717
Performance-related bonuses 8,540 8,847
Social security contribution other than pension 347 302
Pension scheme contributions 310 284
Total 10,912 11,150
The number of five highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:
Number of employees
2018 2017
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1 —
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 4 5
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The major components of income tax expense included in profit or loss are:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Current tax charge comprises
PRC enterprise income tax 2,109,225 2,981,301
Hong Kong Profits Tax 4,966 32,429
Other jurisdictions 105,460 93,692
2,219,651 3,107,422
(Over) under provision in
respect of current tax in previous years (12,469) 78,497
Deferred taxation (note 28) 136,683 (798,154)
2,343,865 2,387,765

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the statutory enterprise income tax rate of 25% (2017: 25%) is applied

to the Group, except for certain subsidiaries which were either exempted from tax or entitled to different preferential tax rates

during both years. Certain subsidiaries of the Company are entitled to the preferential tax rate of 15% (2017: 15%) because they are

recognised as the high and new technology enterprises by the local governments in the PRC.

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong

Kong during the year.

Taxation arising in the jurisdictions other than the PRC and Hong Kong is calculated at rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
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13.

14.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

A reconciliation of the income tax expense to profit before taxation on the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income is as follows:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
(Restated)
Profit before taxation 15,342,372 15,385,183
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% (2017: 25%) 3,835,593 3,846,296
Tax effect of share of profits of associates and joint ventures (139,579) (131,560)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 320,563 223,084
Entities subject to lower statutory income tax rates (1,515,384) (1,388,863)
(Over) underprovision in respect of current tax in previous years (12,469) 78497
Utilisation of tax losses and temporary differences previously not recognised (826,043) (439,987)
Tax effect of tax losses and temporary differences not recognised 1,933,620 1,143,375
Others (Note) (1,252,436) (943,077)
2,343,865 2,387,765
Note:  Others mainly comprised income tax benefits on research and development expenditure.
DIVIDENDS
Dividends recognised as distribution during the year:
2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Dividend paid:
RMBO0.15 (2017: RMBO0.21) per share by the Company 4,304,830 6,026,761

The final dividend of RMB4,304,830,000 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 (2017: final dividend of RMB6,026,761,000 in

respect of the year ended 31 December 2016), was approved by shareholders in the annual general meeting in May 2018.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period a final dividend of RMB4,304,830,000 at RMBO0.15 per share in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2018, based on 28,698,864,000 shares, has been proposed by the directors of the Company and is subject to

the approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the following

data:
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
(Restated)
Earnings
Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings per share
(profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company) 11,305,044 10,791,348
Effect of conversion of convertible bonds (note 44) 40,200 17,689
Earnings for the purpose of diluted earnings per share 11,345,244 10,809,037
2018 2017
‘000 shares ‘000 shares
Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purpose of basic earnings per share 28,698,864 28,652,504
Effect of conversion of convertible bonds 507,395 497,650
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share 29,206,259 29,150,154
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant, Computer
Freehold machinery and Motor equipment  Construction
Notes Land Buildings equipment vehicles and others in progress Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2017

as previously reported 218230 40,875,908 41932018 2650378 4,795,085 9555328 100,026,947
Effect of business combination

under common control — — 2081 91 1827 — 3999
Balance at 1 January 2017 (Restated) 218230 40,875908 41934099 2650469 4796912 9555328 100,030,946
Additions — 285,622 822,084 101,012 262423 5462208 6,933349
Transfer from construction in progress — 2,748,098 2,291,402 66,402 357,776 (5463,678) —
Transfer from investment properties 17 — 85,258 — — — 85,258
Acquisitions of subsidiaries — — — 155 60 — 215
Transfer to construction in progress — (13,225) (61,284) (1,035) (4:450) 79,994 —
Transfer to investment properties 17 — (164,860) - — — (10267) (175127)
Transfer to prepaid lease payments 18 — — — — — (371,555) (371,555)
Transfer to other intangible assets 20 — — — — (150,553) (150,553)
Disposal of subsidiaries — (463,282) (521157) (30,113) (111,926) 41012 (1,167490)
Disposals - (301813) (803,701) (154,005) (128,066) (16,960) (1/404,545)
Other — (18908) (47,704) — — (153,870) (22048)
Exchange adjustments 2438 9358 4325 624 29053 (25827) 58902
Balance at 31 December 2017 (Restated) 220,668 43042156 43656995 2633509 5,201,782 8,863,808 103618918
Effect of the changes

of accounting policies — — — — (415,665) (64856) (480,521)
Balance at 1 January 2018 (Restated) 220,668 43042156 43656995 2633509 4,786,117 8,798952 103,138,397
Additions — 143417 606,094 389,536 397431 6,760,384 8,296,862
Transfer from construction in progress — 2971372 2,773,395 75,385 363,521 (6,183,673) —
Transfer from investment properties 17 — 87,781 — — — 87,781
Acquisitions of subsidiaries — — — 627 353 — 980
Transfer to construction in progress — (52516) (98672) (7,281) (455) 158,924 —
Transfer to investment properties 17 - (315334) - - - — (315334)
Transfer to prepaid lease payments 18 — — — — — (55,018) (55,018)
Transfer to other intangible assets 20 — — — — (160,055) (160,055)
Disposal of subsidiaries - (686,840) (1,096,242) (87,298) (67,980) (964,558) (2902918)
Disposals - (282,035) (925,029 (182617) (220298) — (1,609979)
Other — - — — — (20,000) (20,000)
Exchange adjustments 5249 (31,504) (10939) (923) 39 15,294 (22431)
Balance at 31 December 2018 225917 44876497 44,905,602 2820938 5259081 8,350,250 106,438,285
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Plant, Computer
Freehold machinery and Motor equipment  Construction
Notes Land Buildings equipment vehicles and others in progress Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2017
as previously reported — (8,813,086) (19,804,717) (1,624430) (2925,198) (131,047) (33,298478)
Effect of business combination
under common control - — (760) (43) (975) - (1.778)
Balance at 1 January 2017 (Restated) — (8,813,086) (19.805,477) (1624473) (2926173) (131,047) (33,300,256)
Provided for the year — (1454282) (3,159,731) (231,73) (556,113) — (5401879
Transfer from investment properties 17 — (42,807) — — — — (42,807)
Transfer to investment properties 17 — 30,998 — — — - 30998
Transfer to construction in progress — 7670 43409 571 1657 (53307) —
Disposal of subsidiaries — 166,128 320,106 21314 84,601 — 592,149
Disposals — 114,179 453976 114,574 101,255 — 783,984
Other — 3,106 6,122 — — — 9,228
Exchange adjustments — (11129 (5649 (268) (1,590) — (18636)
Balance at 31 December 2017 (Restated) - (9.999.223) (22,147,244) (1,720,035) (3296,363) (184354) (37,347219)
Effect of the changes
of accounting policies — — — — 220,944 — 220,944
Balance at 1 January 2018 (Restated) — (9.999,223) (22,147,44) (1,720,035) (3075419 (184,354) (37,126,275)
Provided for the year - (1,531468) (3,302,501) (205222) (563425) — (5602616)
Transfer from investment properties 17 — (13,037) — — — — (13,037)
Transfer to investment properties 17 — 43523 — — — — 43523
Transfer to construction in progress - 7186 49746 6,742 434 (64,108) —
Disposal of subsidiaries — 330,603 665513 62332 53,099 — 1,111,547
Disposals — 99,657 627,365 142,770 183939 — 1,053,731
Exchange adjustments — 3661 6,600 429 162 — 10852
Balance at 31 December 2018 — (11,059,098) (24,100,521) (1,712,984) (3,401,210) (248,462) (40,522,275)
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Plant, Computer
Freehold machinery and Motor equipment  Construction
Note Land Buildings equipment vehicles and others in progress Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Impairment

Balance at 1 January 2017 — (44,002) (290,196) (5855) (5440) (17,084) (362577)
Provided for the year — (11,741) 61617) 312 (6,274) (470) (80414)
Transfer to construction in progress — — 1881 — — (1,881) —
Transfer to investment properties 17 — 2489 — — — — 2489
Disposals - 7 43183 810 210 15,860 60,834
Disposal of subsidiaries — 5431 18541 107 3331 — 27410
Balance at 31 December 2017 — (47,052) (288,208) (5250) 8173) (3575) (352.258)
Provided for the year — (103579) (130,346) (977) (4,074) — (238976)
Disposals - 12,806 19972 1247 2187 — 36212

Disposal of subsidiaries — 76,260 46643 977 4074 — 127,954
Balance at 31 December2018 - (61,565) (351939) (4003) (5986) (3575) (427,068)
Carrying amount

Balance at 31 December 2018 25917 33755834 20453142 1,103951 1851885 8098213 65488942

Balance at 31 December 2017 (Restated) 220,668 32,995,881 2121543 908,224 1897,46 8675879 65919441
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Buildings 10-50 years
Plant, machinery and equipment 6-28 years
Motor vehicles 5-15 years
Computer equipment and others 5-12 years

As at 31 December 2018, all of the Group's properties are located in the PRC with the exception of buildings and freehold land
amounting to RMB1,565,439,000 (31 December 2017: RMB1,198,101,000).

The details of the above items of property, plant and equipment pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group
are set out in note 39.

The Group is in the process of applying for the title certificates of certain of its buildings with an aggregate carrying amount of
RMB8,084,712,000 (31 December 2017: RMB8,957,708,000) at 31 December 2018. The directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the Group is entitled to lawfully and validly occupy or use the above mentioned properties.
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Notes 2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000

Cost
Balance at 1 January 1,253,084 1,234,089
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 16 315,334 175127
Transfer to property, plant and equipment 16 (87,781) (85,258)
Disposal of subsidiary (76,594) —
Disposals (9,510) (70,874)
Balance at 31 December 1,394,533 1,253,084
Depreciation
Balance at 1 January (217,979) (250,658)
Provided for the year 10 (30,080) (31,371)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 16 (43,523) (30,998)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment 16 13,037 42,807
Disposal of subsidiary 34,227 —
Disposals 4,791 52,241
Balance at 31 December (239,527) (217,979)
Impairment
Balance at 1 January (16,383) (13,894)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 16 = (2,489)
Disposal of subsidiary 3,339 —
Disposals 983 —
Balance at 31 December (12,061) (16,383)
Carrying amount
Balance at 31 December 1,142,945 1,018,722
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18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

Notes 2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Carrying Amount
Balance at 1 January 15,084,030 14,856,565
Additions 565,957 509,886
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 16 55,018 371,555
Disposal of subsidiaries (947,804) (111,777)
Released to profit or loss 10 (364,230) (361,746)
Exchange adjustments (535) 926
Disposals (573,113) (181,379)
At 31 December 13,819,323 15,084,030
Analysed for reporting purpose as:
Current assets 355,811 406,301
Non-current assets 13,463,512 14,677,729

The leasehold lands are held under medium term leases and are situated in the PRC, except for the leasehold lands with a carrying
amount of RMB8,025,000 (31 December 2017: RMB8,146,000) are located in Malaysia.

The details of the above prepaid land lease payments pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group are set out
in note 39.

The Group is in the process of obtaining the land use right certificates for certain land use rights with carrying amount of
RMB180,058,000 (31 December 2017: RMB561,302,000) located in the PRC. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
Group is entitled to lawfully and validly occupy or use these land use rights.
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19. GOODWILL

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000
Cost
Balance at 1 January 1,461,993 1,485,542
Acquisitions of subsidiaries — 2,100
Disposal of subsidiaries (23,491) —
Exchange adjustments 26,532 (25,649)
Balance at 31 December 1,465,034 1,461,993
Impairment
At 1 January (219,506) (198,782)
Impairment loss recognised (Note 8) (529,921) (20,724)
Disposal of subsidiaries 2,028 —
Exchange adjustments (4,593) —
At 31 December (751,992) (219,506)
Carrying Amount
At 31 December 713,042 1,242,487

Note:

During the current year, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit ("CGU") to which the goodwill is allocated, and recognised
an impairment of RMB529,921,000 (2017: nil) in respect of the goodwill of CRRC Zhuzhou Locomotive Co., Ltd. CSR New Material Technologies GmbH
(“New Material Germany”), a subsidiary of CRRC Zhuzhou Institute. The main factor that led to the impairment is the continuous weakness of global market
performance and the continued decline of the production and sales quantities in the industry. No impairment is recognised in respect of the Group's other
CGUs to which goodwill is allocated.

The recoverable amount of the New Material Germany is determined on the basis of fair value less costs of disposal. Since no market prices are available, the
management determined the fair value by using discounted cash flow approach, and the cost of disposal is estimated to be 1% of the fair value determined.
The recoverable amount is determined by cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the management covering a 6-year period, and a
discount rate of 9.2% representing the weighted average cost of capital. The cash flows beyond the 6-year period are extrapolated using a steady 1.15% growth
rate and a return on equity of 3% in accordance with the recent actual financial performance of New Material Germany. Other key assumptions used in cash
flows projections included the estimated gross profit margin which is determined based on the last year of the forecast.

For the impairment assessment on other CGUs, the recoverable amount of those CGUs has been determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the management covering a 5-year period, and pre-tax discount rates ranging
from 14% to 14.16% (2017: 8.9% to 11.05%). The cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using the respective steady growth rates of each CGU.
This growth rate is used with reference to the market development on the CGU's relevant industry sector, ranging from 0% to 2% (2017: 0% to 2%). Other key
assumptions for the value in use calculations relate to the estimation of cash projection which include gross margin and the estimation is based on the CGU's
past performance and management'’s expectations for the market development.

193



Annual Report 2018

CRRC CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

194

20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Backlogs and
technical
Patents and Computer service
technical software Customer  preferential
Notes know-how and others relationships orders Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2017 3,710,714 2,179,088 346,421 120,030 6,356,253
Effect of business combination
under common control — 857 — — 857
Balance at 1 January
2017 (Restated) 3,710,714 2,179,945 346,421 120,030 6,357,110
Additions 558,476 111,568 — — 670,044
Transfer from construction
in progress 16 34,298 116,255 — — 150,553
Acquisitions of subsidiaries 3,717 — — — 3,717
Disposals (68,645) (8,659) — — (77,304)
Disposal of subsidiaries (49,131) (27,645) — — (76,776)
Exchange adjustments 15,577 1,003 (10,469) 1,646 7,757
Balance at 31 December 2017 4,205,006 2,372,467 335,952 121,676 7,035,101
Additions 634,471 132,863 — — 767,334
Transfer from construction
in progress 16 42,889 117,166 — — 160,055
Disposals (18,457) (60,357) — (68,122) (146,936)
Disposal of subsidiaries (124,853) (19,004) — — (143,857)
Exchange adjustments (2,757) (683) 11,631 (628) 7,563
Balance at 31 December 2018 4,736,299 2,542,452 347,583 52,926 7,679,260
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20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Backlogs and
technical
Patents and Computer service
technical software Customer  preferential
know-how and others relationships orders Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Amortisation
Balance at 1 January 2017 (1,956,131) (1,189,149) (76,459) (100,909) (3,322,648)
Effect of business combination
under common control — (126) — — (126)
Balance at 1 January
2017 (Restated) (1,956,131) (1,189,275) (76,459) (100,909) (3,322,774)
Provided for the year (289,987) (296,580) (31,680) (15,677) (633,924)
Disposals 22,868 7,286 — — 30,154
Disposal of subsidiaries 44,133 14,663 — — 58,796
Exchange adjustments (4,543) (137) 2,931 (1,164) (2,913)
Balance at 31 December 2017 (2,183,660) (1,464,043) (105,208) (117,750) (3,870,661)
Provided for the year (206,566) (284,383) (36,758) (3,928) (531,635)
Disposals 11,901 58,664 — 68,121 138,686
Disposal of subsidiaries 75,420 15,856 — — 91,276
Exchange adjustments 891 447 (4,733) 631 (2,764)
Balance at 31 December 2018 (2,302,014) (1,673,459) (146,699) (52,926) (4,175,098)
Impairment:
Balance at 1 January 2017 (211,818) — — — (211,818)
Provided for the year (9,568) (3,618) — — (13,186)
Disposal of subsidiaries 1,987 3,111 — — 5,098
Balance at 31 December 2017 (219,399) (507) — — (219,906)
Provided for the year (84,742) — — — (84,742)
Disposal of subsidiaries 23,458 — — — 23,458
Balance at 31 December 2018 (280,683) (507) — — (281,190)
Carrying amounts
Balance at 31 December 2018 2,153,602 868,486 200,884 — 3,222,972
Balance at 31 December
2017 (Restated) 1,801,947 907,917 230,744 3,926 2,944,534
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20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

21.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The

estimated useful lives of intangible assets are as follows:

Patents and technical know-how
Computer software and others
Customer relationships

Backlogs and technical service preferential orders

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

3-10 years
2-10 years
7-15 years

Over the service providing periods

2018 2017

RMB’'000 RMB'000

Cost of investments, unlisted 1,320,976 642,377

Share of post-acquisition profit and other

comprehensive income, net of dividends received 921,328 807,476

Carrying amount 2,242,304 1,449,853
Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually material:

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

The Group's share of profit and total comprehensive income for the year 168,517 124,498

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's interests in these joint ventures 2,242,304 1,449,853
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22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Cost of investments, unlisted 10,533,903 9,055,915
Share of post-acquisition profits and other comprehensive
income, net of dividends received 989,585 707,742
Carrying amount 11,523,488 9,763,657
Representing
Share of net assets by the Group 8,534,589 6,774,758
Goodwill on acquisition of associates 2,988,899 2,988,899
Total 11,523,488 9,763,657
Particulars of the principal associate of the Group at 31 December 2018 are as follows:
Proportion of
Date of Place of Fully paid up ownership interest and
Company name establishment ~ operation  registered capital voting rights held Principal activities
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
China United Insurance. 5 June 2006 PRC RMB15,310,000,000 13.0633% 130633%  Insurance

Holding Corporation
("China United Insurance”)

PEBARREARNERAR

The Company holds 13.0633% equity interest of China United Insurance and has the right to appoint a director on the board.
Thus, the Company has the right to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of China United Insurance and has
significant influence over it.

The English name of the above company represents direct translation of the Chinese name of the company as no English name has
been registered.

The above table lists the principal associate of the Group. To give details of other associates would, in the opinion of the directors of

the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.
Summarised financial information of material associate

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s material associate is set out below. The summarised financial

information below represents amounts shown in the associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs.
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22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

China United Insurance

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

Total assets 69,469,787 73,144,354
Total liabilities 52,325,774 56,499,846
2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

Revenue 43,423,092 40,180,392
Profit for the year 1,015,112 1,245,262
Profit attributable to owners of China United Insurance 879,162 1,088,001

Other comprehensive expense for the year (485,075) (163,426)
Total comprehensive income for the year 530,037 1,081,836

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in

the consolidated financial statements:

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

Net assets of China United Insurance 17,144,013 16,644,508

Less: Non-controlling interests of China United Insurance’s subsidiaries 1,894,177 1,844,025

Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in China United Insurance 13.0633% 13.0633%

The Group's share of net assets of China United Insurance 1,992,132 1,933,432

Goodwill on acquisition of China United Insurance 2,982,365 2,982,365

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in China United Insurance 4,974,497 4,915,797
Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material:

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

The Group's share of profit and total comprehensive income for the year 274,949 259,614

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's interests in these associates 6,548,991 4,847,860
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23. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

2017
RMB'000
Unlisted financial assets, at fair value 451,497
Listed perpetual bond investments, at fair value 190,625
Listed preference share investments, at fair value 415,328
Listed equity investments, at fair value 1,843,257
Unlisted equity investments, at cost less impairment 356,646
3,257,353

Analysed for reporting purpose as:
2017
RMB'000
Current asset 451,497
Non-current asset 2,805,856
3,257,353

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the fair value gain in respect of the Group's available-for-sale investments recognised in
other comprehensive income before tax amounted to RMB56,474,000, including a gain of RMB137,994,000 which was reclassified
to profit or loss upon disposal and a loss of RMB47,464,000 which was reclassified to profit or loss due to impairment.

Unlisted financial assets

Unlisted financial assets of the Group represent investment in corporate wealth management products issued by the PRC banks,

and are stated at fair value by discounting the expected future cash inflow using the prevailing discount rate of similar products.

Listed perpetual bond investments

Listed perpetual bond investments of the Group are issued by entities incorporated in the PRC and Hong Kong, and stated at fair
value which is determined by reference to published price quotations in an active market.

Listed preference share investments

Listed preference share investments of the Group are issued by entities incorporated in the PRC and stated at fair value which is
determined by reference to published price quotations in an active market.
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23. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS (continued)

Listed equity investments

The fair value of the listed equity investments is determined by reference to published price quotations in an active market.

Unlisted equity investments

Unlisted equity investments are not stated at fair value but at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, because they do not
have a quoted market price in an active market, the range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant and the probabilities of
the various estimates cannot be reasonably assessed.

Upon the adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018, the above investments were reclassified as disclosed in note 2.

24. HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENT

2017
RMB'000
Debt securities

- Listed in Hong Kong (Note i) 1,265,646
— Listed outside Hong Kong (Note ii) 393,512
1,659,158

Analysed for reporting purpose as:
2017
RMB'000
Current asset 229,970
Non-current asset 1,429,188
1,659,158

Notes:

(i) As at 31 December 2017, the Group's held-to-maturity investment represented debt securities which were listed in Hong Kong, carrying fixed interest
rates range from 3.63% to 5.90%, payable semi-annually in arrear, and would mature from 24 November 2018 to 8 March 2024.

(ii) As at 31 December 2017, the Group's held-to-maturity investment represented debt securities which were listed outside Hong Kong, carrying fixed
interest rates range from 3.20% to 8.13%, payable semi-annually in arrear, and would mature from 2 December 2018 to 13 July 2021.

Upon the adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018, the above investments were reclassified as disclosed in note 2.
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25. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2018

RMB’000

Listed equity investments 1,370,906
Unlisted equity investments 881,517
Total 2,252,423

Note:  These investments are not held for trading, instead, they are held for long-term strategic purposes. The directors of the Company have elected to
designate these investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI upon initial recognition/initial application of IFRS 9 as they believe that recognising
short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the Group's strategy of holding these investments
for long-term purposes and realising their performance potential in the long run.

26. CONTRACT ASSETS
2018
RMB’000
Construction 3,389,039
Goods 20,381,420
Less: Loss allowance (188,638)
Total 23,581,821
Analysis as:
Current 14,657,889
Non-current 8,923,932
Total 23,581,821

In relation to goods provided by the Group, revenue is recognised at a point in time when customers obtain control of the distinct
goods. Contract assets are recognised when the Group has the right to consideration in exchange for the goods delivered that is
not yet unconditional.

In relation to rail transportation products extent services, revenue is recognised over time and by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of performance obligations. Contract assets are recognised when the services are performed but have not yet
been evaluated and billed.
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26. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

Movements in the loss allowance for contract assets are as follows:

Lifetime ECL
(not credit (credit

Note impaired) impaired) Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

At 1 January 2018 238,824 — 238,824
Impairment loss recognised 7 90,312 19,633 109,945
Amounts recovered during the year 7 (159,959) — (159,959)
Others (172) — (172)
At 31 December 2018 169,005 19,633 188,638

27. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/AT

AMORTISED COST

2018
RMB’000
Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income:
Accounts receivable at fair value 1,044,101
Bills receivable at fair value 4,233,540
Total - current 5,277,641
Debt instruments at amortised cost:
Investments in listed bonds, with fixed interest and maturity date 2,225,125
Others 277,652
Total 2,502,777
Current 880,525
Non-current 1,622,252
Total 2,502,777
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28. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

Deferred tax assets 3,644,579 3,697,406
Deferred tax liabilities (158,546) (175,882)
3,486,033 3,521,524

The deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the year are as follows:

Fair value
adjustments
arising from
available-
Financial ~Fair value for-sale
assetsat  adjustments investments/
Warranty Unrealised fairvalue arising from equity Other
claims ~ Government Accrued Assets  profitsin Accrued Wages through ~ acquisitions Depreciation ~instruments  temporary
provision grants  commission  impairment  inventories royalty fee payable profitorloss ofsubsidiaries ~ difference  atFVTOCI differences Total

RMB'000  RMBO00  RMB00  RMB000  RMB00  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB00  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB'000

At1 January 2017 980564 214463 59494 1073786 103322 44538 20,593 - (214970) 23041 12945 501809 2773503
(Charge) credit to profitor loss (16217) 2064 (9,684) 348877 143363 10038 31519 (2388) 68575 (18652) - 20859 798154
Acquisitions of subsidiaries - - — 104 — — - - (610) - - — 414
Disposals of subsidiaries — - - - - - - — — — - 1) ]
Exchange adjustments - - - - - - 1 - (419 (462) - 610 (4049)
(Charged to other comprehensive income - - - - - - - - - - (46429) - (46:429)
At31 December 2017 %4347 136527 49810 1423687 46685 54576 52113 (2388) (151,199) #2155) (33480) 73001 350154
(Changes in accounting policies — - - - - - - (449) - — (4939%) 237 (27608)
At January 2018 964347 36527 49810 143687 246685 54576 52113 (2837) (151,199) (82155) (82876) 58 3493916
Crediticharge) to profit or loss 55,587 19787 (17138) (291538) %672 (7067) 133% (3570 2852 2 - 31,044 (136683)
Acquisitions of sulbsidiaries — 7250 — — — — - - - — — — 7250
Disposals of subsidiaries - — — (1.267) - - - - - — — (445) (1m)
Exchange adjustments - - - - - - - - - - - 108064 10864
(redited to other comprehensive income - - - - - - - - - - 115733 (3339) 112398
At31December 2018 1019934 263564 32612 1130882 303407 47515 65467 (6407) (13347) 63877) 32857 783,366 3486033

The Group has tax losses of RMB13,363,406,000 (2017: RMB12,854,601,000) and deductible temporary differences of
RMB6,577,494,000 (2017: RMB5,221,556,000) as at 31 December 2018. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses and deductible temporary differences as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time
and it is not considered probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses and deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.
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28.

29.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (continued)

The tax losses unrecognised for deferred tax assets that will expire in:

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000
(Restated)

2018 = 349,006
2019 504,038 695,788
2020 746,613 952,426
2021 1,316,504 1,454,679
2022 797,168 1,250,166
2023 2,833,767 428,399
2024 556,293 746,808
2025 2,046,116 2,347,247
2026 1,641,079 2,340,240
2027 1,588,133 2,289,842
2028 1,333,695 —

Total 13,363,406 12,854,601

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000
(Restated)

Prepayments for other intangible assets 1,006,332 867,544
Long term prepaid expenses 223,691 188,587
Deposits for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 1,269,196 1,745,795
Deposits paid for investment 2,430,000 —
Build-Transfer project — 394,692
Senior notes — 391,355
Long-term receivables (Note) 7,809,013 10,365,326
Others 197,026 201,281
12,935,258 14,154,580

Note: The balances included represent receivables arising from finance leases and instalment sales. As at 31 December 2018, the unearned finance income in

respect of the long-term receivables amounted to RMB2,537,811,000 (31 December 2017: RMB2,480,019,000).
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29. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS (continued)

Note:

The carrying amounts of the above long-term receivables are analysed into:

Notes 2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000

Within one year 6,102,273 8,044,544
In the second to tenth years, inclusive 10,454,951 12,243,811

16,557,224 20,288,355
Less: allowance for credit losses (2,645,938) (1,878,485)

13,911,286 18,409,870
Analysed for reporting purpose as:
Current assets 33 6,102,273 8,044,544
Non-current assets 29 7,809,013 10,365,326

13,911,286 18,409,870
The movement in allowance for credit losses for impairment of long-term receivables for the year ended 31 December 2018 is as follows:

lifetime ECL
Note (not credit impaired) (credit impaired) Total
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000

At 1 January 2018 121,142 1,757,343 1,878,485
Impairment loss recognised on long-term receivables 7 91,346 887,851 979,197
Amount written off as uncollectible = (209,888) (209,888)
Others — (1,856) (1,856)
At 31 December 2018 212,488 2,433,450 2,645,938
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30. INVENTORIES

2018 2017

RMB’'000 RMB'000
(Restated)

Cost, net of provision
Raw materials 16,316,192 16,707,213
Work in progress 27,789,068 27,366,201
Finished goods 11,016,240 11,031,526
55,121,500 55,104,940
31. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000
(Restated)

Trade receivables 69,248,146 82,843,318
Less: allowance for credit losses (5,042,543) (5,168,787)
64,205,603 77,674,531

An aged analysis of the trade receivables at the end of the reporting period, based on the revenue recognition date and net of

credit losses of receivables, is as follows:

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

(Restated)

Within 6 months 49,480,541 57,190,154
6 months to 1 year 7,290,447 9,273,836
Over 1 year 7,434,615 11,210,541
64,205,603 77,674,531
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31. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movement in allowance for credit losses for impairment of trade receivable for the year ended 31 December 2018 is as follows:

Lifetime ECL
(not credit (credit

Note impairment) impaired) Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

At 1 January 2018 3,276,627 1,653,336 4,929,963
Impairment loss recognised on receivables 7 117,178 623,340 740,518
Amounts recovered during the year 7 (208,896) (208,896)
Amount written off as uncollectible (189,341) (110,371) (299,712)
Others (115,129) (4,201) (119,330)
At 31 December 2018 2,880,439 2,162,104 5,042,543

Movement in allowance for doubtful debts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is as follows:

Note 2017

RMB'000

(Restated)

At 1 January 4,232,656
Impairment loss recognised 8 1,437,815
Amounts recovered during the year 8 (360,511)
Amount written off as uncollectible (96,434)
Exchange adjustment 964
Others (45,703)
At 31 December 5,168,787

The allowance for credit losses of trade receivables included an amount of RMB 3,322,008,000 (31 December 2017:
RMB2,599,050,000) provided individually for credit impaired trade receivables with an original amount of total RMB13,311,773,000 (31

December 2017: RMB50,321,232,000). Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note
50.
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31.

32.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Included in trade receivables are the following amounts denominated in foreign currencies:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
United States dollar ("USS”) 2,357,646 2,082,097
Euros ("EUR") 874,731 1,349,416
Hong Kong dollar ("HKS") 493,195 136,363
Singapore dollar ("SGD") 277,479 80,224
Australian dollar ("AUD") 214,085 4,171
Malaysian dollars ("MYR") 33,245 208,729
Japanese yen ("JPY") 5,321 45,712
Great Britain pounds ("GBP") 2,716 25,767
Brazil Real ("BRL") = 18,066
Canadian dollar ("CAD") — 14,973
4,258,418 3,965,518
The amounts due from the related parties of the Group are included in note 49.
BILLS RECEIVABLE
The maturity profile of the bills receivable of the Group at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Within 6 months 12,573,474 23,423,672
6 months to 1 year 2,964,121 3,647,593
Expected credit loss (62,489) —
15,475,106 27,071,265
The above balances are neither past due nor credit impaired.
The nature of the bills receivable of the Group at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Bank acceptance bills 5,138,671 10,771,946
Commercial acceptance bills 10,398,924 16,299,319
Expected credit loss (62,489) —
15,475,106 27,071,265
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33.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
(Restated)
Prepayments 9,796,410 10,988,105
Deposits and other receivables 17,493,623 21,075,328
Less: allowance for credit losses (1,156,554) (883,953)
26,133,479 31,179,480
The movement in allowance for credit losses of other receivables for the year ended 31 December 2018 is as follows:
Lifetime ECL
12-month (not credit (credit
Notes ECL impaired) impaired) Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
At 1 January 2018 — 131,241 442,860 574,101
Impairment loss recognised on
other receivables 7 7,158 14,485 140,209 161,852
Amounts recovered during the year 7 — (76,899) (42,584) (119,483)
Amount written off as uncollectible — (8,125) (29,226) (37,351)
Others — (20422) — (20422)
At 31 December 2018 7,158 40,280 511,259 558,697

Movement in allowance for doubtful debts of prepayments, deposits and other receivables for the year ended 31 December 2017 is

as follows:
Note 2017
RMB'000
(Restated)
At 1 January 879,331
Impairment loss recognised 8 6,495
Written off (1,200)
Others (673)
At 31 December 883,953
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33.

34.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

An analysis of prepayments, deposits and other receivables is as follows:

Note 2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

(Restated)

Prepayments 9,198,553 10,678,260
Other receivables 2,915,597 3,252,972
Dividends receivable 70,473 41,680
Interest receivables 43,817 54,822
Long-term receivables - due within one year 29 6,102,273 8,044,544
Value added tax recoverables 2,710,020 2,217,963
Corporate wealth management products and senior notes = 3,045,851
Loans and advances due within one year 4,656,971 3,631,517
Others 435,775 211,871
26,133,479 31,179,480

The amounts due from the related parties included in the prepayments, deposits and other receivables are disclosed in note 49.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM CUSTOMERS FOR CONTRACT WORK

2017
RMB'000
Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses in connection with
construction contracts in progress 569,781
Less: progress billings (439,887)
Gross amounts due from customers for contract work 129,894

The gross amounts due from customers for contract work at 31 December 2017 were all expected to be recovered within one year.
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35.

PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND BANK BALANCES

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Cash and bank balances 38,171,008 60,902,287
Less: Pledged and restricted bank deposits (5,027,666) (4,622,263)
Cash and bank balances in the consolidated statement of financial position 33,143,342 56,280,024
Less: Non-pledged time deposits with
original maturity of three months or more when acquired (2,853,248) (8,574,481)
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows 30,290,094 47,705,543
Included in cash and cash equivalents are the following amounts denominated in foreign currencies:
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
- Us$ 2,910,162 5,532,337
-EUR 1,768,609 1,223,455
- HKS 791,121 1,461,335
- AUD 540,950 112,576
-SGD 358,319 40,906
- JPY 286,503 11,997
-CAD 182,545 41,826
- MYR 39,456 85,069
- ZAR — 767,146
— Other currencies 126,808 107,883
7,004,473 9,384,530

Pledged and restricted bank balances represent balances of RMB2,844,160,000 pledged to banks for the issuance of the Group’s bills
payable and letters of credit, balances of RMB97,383,000 for the grant of bank loans to the Group, and balances of approximately
RMB600 million restricted pursuant to freezing orders issued by the South African Reserve Bank arising from alleged contraventions
of the South African Exchange Control Regulation relating to certain locomotive procurements involving Transnet (see also Note 54
Contingent Liabilities).

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit
rates. The Group's cash and cash equivalents are held in major financial institutions located in the PRC, which management believes
are of high credit quality.

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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36. TRADE PAYABLES

An aged analysis of trade payables at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
(Restated)
Within 6 months 86,884,127 93,310,699
6 months to 1 year 5,855,489 6,369,315
1 year to 2 years 2,545,169 2,981,055
Over 2 years 3,905,202 1,696,185
99,189,987 104,357,254
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on six-month terms.
Included in trade payables are the following amounts denominated in foreign currencies:
2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
JPY 134,890 222,008
MYR 56,643 2,039
GBP 19,955 527
uss 13,685 251,077
EUR 9,974 167,820
BRL = 17,048
Other Currencies 10,798 26,696
245,945 687,215

The amounts due to the related parties of the Group included in trade payables are disclosed in Note 49. Those balances are

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on similar credit terms to those offered by major suppliers of the Group.
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37. BILLS PAYABLE

The maturity profile of the bills payable of the Group at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

Within 6 months 18,651,996 19,847,981
6 months to 1 year 3,326,724 3,443,708
21,978,720 23,291,689

The amounts due to the related parties of the Group included in bills payable are disclosed in note 49. Those balances are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on similar credit terms to those offered by major suppliers of the Group.

38. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
(Restated)
Other payables 9,860,396 8,565,356
Receipts in advance 24,337 20,290,418
Accruals 8,113,258 5,216,888
17,997,991 34,072,662

The amounts due to the related parties included in other payables and accruals are disclosed in note 49.

The above balances are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.
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39. BORROWINGS

2018 2017
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
per annum Maturity RMB'000 per annum Maturity RMB'000
% %
Current
Bank loans
- Secured 0.70-5.61 2019 2,104,908 0.65-851 2018 4,144,995
- Unsecured 0.04-8.90 2019 5,434,479 0.70-5.85 2018 25,624,122
Other loans
- Secured — 2019 60,939 — — —
- Unsecured 4,35 2019 1,048,730 435 2018 2,659,830
Short term bond
- Unsecured 2.78 2019 3,000,000 — — —
Current portion of long-
term bank loans
- Secured 4.41-6.53 2019 769,283 0.20-6.53 2018 31,509
- Unsecured 0.20-4.41 2019 1,875,607 2.26-2.65 2018 82,652
Current portion of long-
term bonds
- Unsecured 4.70 2019 1,999,168 4.70 2018 1,500,000
16,293,114 34,043,108
Non-current
Bank loans
- Secured 0.00-9.00 2020-2030 277,979 0.07-550 2019-2039 2,689,904
- Unsecured 0.16-5.04 2020-2023 602,032 2.26-4.75 2019-2023 1,769,638
Long-term bonds
- Unsecured 2.95-5.75 2020-2023 3,500,000 2.95-5.75 2019-2023 5495,168
4,380,011 9,954,710
20,673,125 43,997,818
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39. BORROWINGS (continued)

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
The carrying amounts of the above borrowings are analysed into:
Bank loans are repayable:
Within one year 10,184,277 29,883,278
Within a period of more than one year but not exceeding two years 250,523 3,133,166
Within a period of more than two year but not exceeding five years 440,022 1,077,430
Within a period of more than five years 189,466 248,946
11,064,288 34,342,820
Short term bonds repayable:
Within one year 3,000,000 —
Long term bonds are repayable:
Within one year 1,999,168 1,500,000
Within a period of more than one year but not exceeding two years — 1,995,168
Within a period of more than two year but not exceeding five years 3,500,000 2,000,000
Within a period of more than five years 1,500,000
5,499,168 6,995,168
Other loans are repayable:
Within one year 1,109,669 2,659,830

The above secured bank loans and other banking facilities do not have repayment on demand clause.

The above secured bank loans and other banking facilities were secured by certain assets and their carrying amounts are as follows:

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

Property, plant and equipment 17,274 41,125
Prepaid lease payments 6,515 5,255
Trade receivable 179,236 452,255
Bills receivable 4,328,644 3,674,910
Other non-current assets 244,030 246,134
4,775,699 4,419,679

215



Annual Report 2018

CRRC CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

216

39.

40.

BORROWINGS (continued)

Included in borrowings are the following amounts denominated in foreign currencies:

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

EUR 1,853,815 2,507,285
usD 1,083,095 8,110,524
JPY 100,934 189,587
GBP 139,296 114,130
HKD 206,090 —
AUD 29,056 —
Other currencies 20,041 50
3,432,327 10,921,576

RETIREMENT BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS

In addition to the monthly contributions to various defined contribution pension schemes regulated by the PRC government,
the Group provided supplementary pension subsidies to its employees who retired at normal retirement ages on or before 30
June 2007 and early retirement benefits to certain qualified employees before 30 June 2007. The amounts of employee benefit
obligations recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position represent the present value of the unfunded obligations.

CNR and its subsidiaries (“CNR Group”) also provided supplementary pension subsidies to its employees who retired at normal
retirement ages on or before 31 December 2007.

In 2014, the Group acquired and obtained control of Rubber & Plastics Business held by ZF Friedrichshafen AG (‘Germany BOGE").
The retirement benefit obligations in Germany are the liabilities which are based on the pension plan provided by Germany BOGE.
Germany BOGE's pension plan provides an unfunded schemes. According to the Rentenordnung 2005 and Versorgungszusage
2004, Germany BOGE has provided traditional German pension planning groups which include normal and early retirement
benefits and the benefits provided to the disabled people and the deceased staff survivors.

In 2016, the Group acquired and obtained control of Blue Engineering S.R.L. (“Blue Engineering”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “Blue Group”). The Blue Group is located in Italy and provides defined retirement benefits plans for all staff in Italy
according to the 2120 del codice civile italiano.

Those plans described above are defined retirement benefit plans.
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40. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (continued)

2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Retirement benefit obligations in the PRC (Note i) 2,247,321 2,418,947
Retirement benefit obligations outside the PRC (Note ii) 1,018,538 964,940
Others 592,737 622,771
3,858,596 4,006,658
Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Current liabilities 259,547 288,139
Non-current liabilities 3,599,049 3,718,519
Note i:
The movements in the supplementary pension subsidies recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:
2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Balance at 1 January 2,418,947 2,882,692
Costs recognised
— Interest cost 90,309 82,052
— Past service cost 4,802 (29,771)
Re-measurement of retirement benefit pension plans 71,432 (198,578)
Benefits paid (265,381) (293,888)
Disposal of subsidiaries (72,788) (23,560)
Balance at 31 December 2,247,321 2,418,947
The provision for supplementary pension subsidies recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position is determined as follows:
2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Present value of unfunded benefit obligations 2,247,321 2,418,947
Amount due within one year (234,278) (261,142)
Amount due after one year 2,013,043 2,157,805
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40. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (continued)

Note i (continued)

The above employee benefit obligations were determined based on actuarial valuation performed by independent actuary. The actuary used the projected unit
credit method and the material actuarial assumptions used in valuing these obligations are as follows:

2018 2017

% %

Discount rate adopted 3.25 4.0
Healthcare cost trend 7.0/12.0/8.0 7.0/12.0/8.0

The following sensitivity analysis is based on the reasonably possible changes of relevant assumptions at the end of the reporting period (assuming all other
assumptions unchanged).

If the discount rate increases (decreases) by 1% as at 31 December 2018, the defined benefit obligation would decrease by RMB148,000,000 (increase by
RMB172,540,000).

If the discount rate increases (decreases) by 1% as at 31 December 2017, the defined benefit obligation would decrease by RMB155,440,000 (increase by
RMB180,500,000).

If the healthcare cost increases (decreases) by 1% as at 31 December 2018, the defined benefit obligation would increase by RMB32,700,000 (decrease by
RMB28,760,000).

If the healthcare cost increases (decreases) by 1% as at 31 December 2017, the defined benefit obligation would increase by RMB38,610,000 (decrease by
RMB33,940,000).

Given some of the assumptions may be associated to each other, an assumption cannot change in isolation, so the above sensitivity analysis may not reflect the
actual change of the present value of retirement benefit obligations.

Note ii:

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the present value of the defined benefit plan changes as follows:

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

Balance at 1 January 964,940 876,036
Costs recognised

— Current service cost 28,115 48,826

— Interest cost 20,663 15,707

Re-measurement of retirement benefit pension plans 6,238 (36,181)

The impact of exchange rate differences 3,230 62,997

Benefits paid (4,648) (2,445)

Balance at 31 December 1,018,538 964,940
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40. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (continued)

Note ii: (continued)

The provision for pensions plans provided by Germany BOGE and Blue Group recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position is determined as

follows:
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Present value of unfunded benefit obligations 1,018,538 964,940
Net liability arising from defined benefit obligations 1,018,538 964,940
Amount due within one year (25,269) (26,997)
Amount due after one year 993,269 937,943

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation at 31 December 2018 is 28 years (2017: 28 years).

The retirement benefit obligation of Germany BOGE and Blue Group was determined based on projected unit credit method. In addition to the life forecast of

hypothesis, as mentioned above, other important assumptions are as follows:
2018 2017
% %
Discount rate adopted 1.6-2.3 1.3-22
Expected growth of wages and salaries 0.5-2.7 0.5-2.7
Growth of pension 1.3 13
Fluctuation 1.0 1.0

The expected growth of wages and salaries mainly depends on inflation
factors.

41. PROVISION FOR WARRANTIES

, wage standards, operating performance of Germany BOGE and Blue Group and other

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

At 1 January 6,389,207 6,401,716

Charged for the year 3,055,842 2,788,689

Disposal of subsidiaries — (229,192)

Utilised during the year (2,802,337) (2,572,006)

At 31 December 6,642,712 6,389,207
Analysed for reporting purpose as:

Current liabilities 2,045,696 1,818,715

Non-current liabilities 4,597,016 4,570,492

The above represents the warranty costs for repairs, which are estimated based on prevailing after-sales service policies, the sales
volume and the past experience of the level of repairs and returns. The estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and

revised where appropriate.
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42. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2018
RMB’000
Construction 1,237,467
Goods 21,189,001
22,426,468

Analysis as:
Current 22,335,899
Non-current 90,569
Total 22,426,468

Contract liabilities that are not expected to be settled within the Group's normal operating cycle are classified as non-current.

The Group typically receives upfront deposit on acceptance of manufacturing orders and 10%-30% deposit before construction
work commences, which give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant

contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

43. DEFERRED INCOME

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
At 1 January 6,413,267 6,746,596
Government grants received during the year 582,445 469,432
Recognised as other income during the year (765,702) (715,434)
Disposal of subsidiaries during the year (28,954) (87,327)
Others (7,820) —
At 31 December 6,193,236 6,413,267
Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Current liabilities 689,948 656,662
Non-current liabilities 5,503,288 5,756,605

Government grants received are mainly for the purpose of research and development, investment in property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payments from the local government for encouraging the Group to develop.
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44. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 5 February 2016, the Company issued a zero coupon Convertible Bond due in 2021 in an aggregate principal amount of
US$600,000,000 (the “2016 Convertible Bonds”). The 2016 Convertible Bonds are listed on HKSE.

The principal terms of the 2016 Convertible Bonds are set out below:

(a)

Conversion right

The 2016 Convertible Bonds will, at the option of the holder (“Bondholders”), be convertible (unless previously converted,
redeemed or purchased and cancelled) on or after 17 March 2016 up to the close of business on 26 January 2021 into fully
paid ordinary shares with a par value of RMB1.00 each at an initial conversion price (the “Conversion Price”) of HK$9.65 per
share and a fixed exchange rate of HK$7.7902 to US$1.00 (the “Fixed Exchange Rate”). The Conversion Price is subject to
adjustments in the manner set out in the 2016 Convertible Bonds agreement.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, a final dividend of RMBO.15 per share for the year ended 31 December 2015
was approved in the annual general meeting in June 2016. Pursuant to the anti-dilutive adjustments on conversion price
in accordance with the 2016 Convertible Bonds agreement, the Conversion Price per share was adjusted from HK$9.65 to
HK$9.50 effective from 28 June 2016.

As disclosed in note 14, a final dividend of RMBO0.21 per share for the year ended 31 December 2016 was approved in the
annual general meeting in June 2017. Pursuant to the anti-dilutive adjustments on conversion price in accordance with the
2016 Convertible Bonds agreement, the Conversion Price per share was adjusted from HK$9.50 to HK$9.29 effective from 30
June 2017. And as a result of declaration of a final dividend of RMBO.15 per share for the year ended 31 December 2017, the
Conversion Price per share was adjusted from HK$9.29 to HK$9.15 effective from 13 June 2018.
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44, CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(b) Redemption

- Redemption at maturity

Unless previously redeemed, converted or purchased and cancelled as provided herein, the Company will redeem

each 2016 Convertible Bond at 100 percent of its outstanding principal amount on 5 February 2021 (the “Maturity

Date”).

- Redemption at the option of the Company

The Company may, having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice (which notice will be irrevocable),

redeem the 2016 Convertible Bonds in whole but not some only at 100 percent of their outstanding principal amount

as at the relevant redemption date:

0]

(i)

at any time after 5 February 2019 but prior to the Maturity Date, provided that no such redemption may be
made unless the closing price of an H share translated into US dollars at the prevailing rate applicable to each
H share stock exchange business day, for any 20 H share stock exchange business days within a period of 30
consecutive H share stock exchange business days, the last of such H share stock exchange business day shall
occur not more than 10 days prior to the date upon which notice of such redemption is given, was, for each
such 20 H share stock exchange business days, at least 130 percent of the Conversion Price (translated into US
dollars at the Fixed Exchange Rate). If there shall occur an event giving rise to a change in the Conversion Price
during any such 30 consecutive H share stock exchange business day period, appropriate adjustments for the
relevant days approved by an independent investment bank shall be made for the purpose of calculating the
closing price of the H shares for such days; or

if at any time the aggregate principal amount of the 2016 Convertible Bonds outstanding is less than 10
percent of the aggregate principal amount originally issued.

- Redemption at the option of the Bondholders

The Company will, at the option of the Bondholders, redeem whole or some of that holder's bonds on 5 February

2019 (the "Put Option Date”) at 100 percent of their outstanding principal amount on the Put Option Date.
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44, CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

The 2016 Convertible Bonds comprise two components:

(i) Debt component was initially measured at fair value amounted to approximately RMB3,488,045,000. It is subsequently
measured at amortised cost by applying an effective interest rate of 2.53% after considering the effect of the transaction
costs.

(i) Derivative component comprise:
. Conversion option of the Bondholders;
° Redemption option of the Company;
. Redemption option of the Bondholders.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the 2016 Convertible Bonds are allocated to the debt and the derivative (including
conversion option and redemption options) components in proportion to their relative fair values. Transaction costs amounting
to approximately RMB3,550,000 relating to the derivative component were charged to profit or loss immediately and included in
finance costs. Transaction costs amounting to approximately RMB28,745,000 relating to the debt component are included in the
carrying amount of the debt portion and amortised over the period of the 2016 Convertible Bonds using the effective interest
method.

The derivative component was measured at fair value with reference to valuation carried out by an independent valuation firm. The
fair value of derivative component is calculated using Binominal Option Pricing Model. The major inputs used in the models as at 31
December 2018 and 31 December 2017 were as follows:

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

Stock price HK$7.63 HK$8.32
Exercise price HK$9.15 HKS$9.29
Risk-free rate 1.819% 1.608%
Weekly Volatility 3.0204% 3.6837%

The risk free rates were determined with reference to the Hong Kong five-year government bond vyields. The volatilities were
determined based on the historical price volatilities of comparable companies under the same periods of the expected life.

Any changes in the major inputs into the model will result in changes in the fair value of the derivative component.
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44, CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)
The movement of the debt and derivative component of the 2016 Convertible Bonds for the year is set out below:
Debt Derivative
component component Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
As at 1 January 2017 3,758,742 366,097 4,124,839
Interest charged during the year 93,397 — 93,397
Exchange adjustments during the year (221,367) (21,301) (242,668)
Changes in fair value during the year — 166,960 166,960
As at 31 December 2017 3,630,772 511,756 4,142,528
Interest charged during the year 93,851 — 93,851
Exchange adjustments during the year 186,206 11,555 197,761
Changes in fair value during the year — (251,412) (251,412)
As at 31 December 2018 3,910,829 271,899 4,182,728

No conversion or redemption of the 2016 Convertible Bonds had occurred during the year ended 31 December 2017 and 31
December 2018.

The entire balance of 2016 Convertible Bonds was classified as current liabilities as at 31 December 2018 as the Company does not
have an unconditional right to defer settlement in the coming year.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, no conversion or redemption is noted except for an aggregate principal amount of
US$240,000,000 was redempted on 5 February 2019 as disclosed in note 55.
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45. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of
shares Amount
‘000 shares RMB'000
Registered capital
— A shares of RMB1.00 each 24,327,798 24,327,798
- H shares of RMB1.00 each 4,371,066 4,371,066
28,698,864 28,698,864
Issued and fully paid
At 1 January 2017
— A shares of RMB1.00 each 22,917,692 22,917,692
- H shares of RMB1.00 each 4,371,066 4,371,066
27,288,758 27,288,758
Non-public offering of A shares of RMB1.00 each on 13 January 2017 (Note) 1,410,106 1,410,106
At 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2018
- A shares of RMB1.00 each 24,327,798 24,327,798
- H shares of RMB1.00 each 4,371,066 4,371,066
28,698,864 28,698,864

Note:  On 16 June 2016, the shareholders of the Company approved the Non-public Offering of A Shares (the “Offering”) in the annual general meeting and
which was approved by CSRC in December 2016. The Company had completed the Offering of 1,410,106,000 A shares with the par value of RMB1.00 at
RMB8.51 per share on 13 January 2017 and the total issued share capital of the Company had increased to RMB28,698,864,000.
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46. BUSINESS COMBINATION

46.1 Acquisition during the year ended 31 December 2018

(a)

Acquisition from independent third parties

During the year, CRRC Tangshan Co,, Ltd (“Tangshan Company”) and Suzhou CRRC Construction Engineering Co., Ltd.
("Suzhou Construction”), wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, entered into an agreement for capital injection
to Wuyi Tramways Co., Ltd. ("Wuyi Tram”), pursuant to which Tangshan Company and Suzhou Construction would
inject capital contribution of RMB377,280,000 and RMB5,240,000, representing equity interest of 72% and 1% in Wuyi
Tram, respectively. Upon completion of the capital injection on 15 August 2018, the Company obtained control over
Wuyi Tram and Wuyi Tram became a subsidiary of the Company.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the acquisition date were as follows:

Fair value
RMB'000

Net assets acquired:

Property, plant and equipment 980

Other-non-current assets 424,941

Deferred tax assets 7,250

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 6,397

Cash and bank balances 160,475

Bills payable (4,000)

Tax payable (7,252)

Other payables and accruals (35,791)

Deferred income- non-current portion (29,000)

524,000
Consideration transferred 382,520
Plus: Non-controlling interests (27%) 141,480
Less: Net assets acquired (524,000)
Goodwill arising on acquisition —
An analysis of the cash flow in respect of the acquisition of the above subsidiary is as follows:
RMB'000

Consideration paid in cash 382,520
Less: Cash and bank balances acquired 160,475
Net outflow of cash and bank balances included in cash flows

from the acquisition of a subsidiary 222,045

The financial impact of acquisition of Wu Yi Tram on the Group was insignificant.
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46. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

46.1 Acquisition during the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

(b)

Business combination under common control

In November 2018, CRRC Qingdao Sifang Rolling Stock Research Institute Co., Ltd. (“Sifang Institute”) entered into
an equity transfer agreement with CRRC Jinzheng Investment Co., Ltd. ("CRRC Gold Certificate”), to purchase 51% of
the shares of Qingdao CNR Hitachi Rail Communication Signal Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as “Qingdao Hitachi”)
owned by CRRC Gold Certificate at a cash consideration of RMB 22,761,000.

Since Sifang Institute and Qingdao Hitachi were both under common control of CRRC Group before and after the
transaction, the acquisition is considered as a business combination under common control. The principle of merger
accounting for business combination involving entities under common control has therefore been applied.

As a result of the acquisition of Qingdao Hitachi, the relevant line items in the Group's consolidated statement of
financial position at 31 December 2017 and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income for the year then ended have been restated.
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46. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

46.2 Acquisition during the year ended 31 December 2017

(a)

Acquisition from independent third parties

As at 11 September 2017, CRRC Datong Co,, Ltd. ("Datong”), a subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement
with shareholders of Hua Yang Environmental Engineering Co., Ltd. ("Hua Yang") to acquire 51% equity interest of Hua
Yang at a cash consideration of RMB29,293,000. Datong obtained control of Hua Yang on 12 September 2017.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the acquisition date were as follows:

Fair value
RMB'000

Net assets acquired:
Property, plant and equipment 215
Other intangible assets 3,717
Other non-current assets 343
Deferred tax assets 1,024
Inventories 19,767
Bills receivable 5402
Trade receivables 46,962
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 31,450
Pledged bank deposits 560
Cash and bank balances 14,473
Trade payables (57,872)
Other payables and accruals (12,112)
Deferred tax liabilities (610)
53,319
Consideration transferred 29,293
Plus: Non-controlling interests (49%) 26,126
Less: Net assets acquired (53,319)
Goodwill arising on acquisition 2,100

Acquisition-related costs relating to the above acquisition are immaterial and have been excluded from the cost of
acquisition and recognised directly as administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

The receivables acquired (primarily comprised of trade and other receivables) with a fair value of RMB61,862,000 at
the date of acquisition had gross contractual amounts of RMB65,515,000. The best estimate at acquisition date of the
contractual cash flows not expected to be collected amounted to RMB3,653,000.

The consideration paid for the combination effectively included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected
synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the assembled workforce of the acquiree. These benefits
are not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable
intangible assets.
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46. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

46.2 Acquisition during the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

(a)

(b)

Acquisition from independent third parties (continued)
None of the goodwill arising on the acquisition is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

An analysis of the cash flow in respect of the acquisition of the above subsidiary is as follows:

RMB'000

Consideration paid in cash 29,293

Less: Cash and bank balances acquired 14,473
Net outflow of cash and bank balances included in cash flows

from the acquisition of a subsidiary 14,820

The financial impact of acquisition of Hua Yang on the Group was insignificant.

Business combination under common control

On 2 August 2017, Zhuzhou CRRC Times Electric Co., Ltd. ("ZTE"), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Zhuzhou
Locomotive Research Institute, acquired the 32% equity interest of Shanghai Yongdian Electronic Technology
Co. Ltd("Shanghai Yongdian") held by Shanghai Zhuo Cheng Trading Co., Ltd, an independent third party, for
a consideration of RMB4,874,000, and acquired the remaining 68% equity interest of Shanghai Yongdian held
by Zhongche Jinzheng Investment Co. Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRRCG, for a cash consideration of
RMB10,356,000.

As the ZTE and Shanghai Yongdian were under common control of CRRCG before and after the acquisition, the
acquisition is considered as a business combination under common control. The principle of merger accounting for
business combination involving entities under common control has therefore been applied.
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47. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

47.1 Disposal during the year ended 31 December 2018

The followings are the information of major disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2018:

(1)  CRRC Beijing Ergi Vehicle Co., Ltd.

On 24 August 2018, the Company disposed its 100% equity interest of a subsidiary, CRRC Beijing Ergi Vehicle Co,, Ltd.
("Ergi Vehicle") to CRRC Group at a cash consideration of RMB286,257,000.

RMB'000
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 286,257
An analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:

RMB'000
Property, plant and equipment 1,295,155
Investment properties 15,346
Prepaid lease payments 711,122
Other intangible asset 25,269
Other non-current assets 19,828
Inventories 392,846
Trade receivables 318,230
Bills receivable 15,928
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 63,562
Cash and bank balances 41,668
Interests in joint ventures 843
Trade payables (625,741)
Bills payable (7,849)
Other payables and accruals (270,140)
Borrowings - due within one year (50,776)
Retirement benefit obligations- current portion (75,950)
Long-term payables - current portion (186,415)
Contract liabilities (31,668)
Borrowings (2,192,600)
Deferred income (9,208)
Other non-current liabilities (576)

(551,126)
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47. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

47.1 Disposal during the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

(1)  CRRC Beijing Erqi Vehicle Co., Ltd. (continued)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

RMB'000
Consideration received 286,257
Net liabilities disposed of 551,126
Non-controlling interest (56,825)
Gain on disposal 780,558
Net cash inflows on disposal of a subsidiary

RMB'000
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 286,257
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of (41,668)

244,589

(2)  Other disposals

During the year, another twelve subsidiaries were disposed of by the Group, including Wenzhou CRRC Electrical
Equipment Co., Ltd,, Tianjin Machine Vehicle Iron and Steel Co,, Ltd,, Tianjin CRRC Jinpu Industrial Park Management
Co,, Ltd., Datong CRRC Si Mccann railway transportation equipment Co., Ltd., Beijing Tian Lu Traffic Equipment Co.,
Ltd,, Sichuan CRRC Composite Structure Co,, Ltd., Zhejiang Zhongche Electric Car Co, Ltd, Jiangyin Maoda Foundry
Co,, Ltd,, Ziyang Zhongke Transmission Co,, Ltd., E+M Drilling Technology Co., Ltd., Zhuzhou Times Electric Insulation

Co,, Ltd,, Inner Mongolia Yiji Group Lectra Rubber Products Co., Ltd.. The summarised information were set out below:

RMB'000
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 483,999
Consideration received 128,075
612,074
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47. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

47.1 Disposal during the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

(2)

Other disposals (continued)

An analysis of the combined assets and liabilities of these disposed subsidiaries over which control was lost is set out

below:

RMB'000
Property, plant and equipment 368,262
Investment properties 23,682
Prepaid lease payments 236,682
Other intangible assets 3,854
Other non-current assets 1,538
Goodwill 21,463
Inventories 265,505
Trade receivables 343,852
Bills receivable 28,213
Deferred tax assets 1,712
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 265,652
Cash and bank balances 217,100
Trade payables (488,784)
Bills payable (167,847)
Other payables and accruals (133,610)
Borrowings- due within one year (442,575)
Retirement benefit obligations (10,920)
Borrowings (20,000)
Deferred income (19,746)
Other non-current liabilities (2,100)

491,933

Gain on disposal of these subsidiaries amounted to RMB673,336,000, among which gain on remeasurement of interest
remained at their fair values when control was lost was RMB284,005,000.

Net cash inflow on disposal of these subsidiaries

RMB'000
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 483,999
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of (164,836)
319,163
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47. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

47.2 Disposal during the year ended 31 December 2017

(M

Hunan Electric Vehicle

On 30 November 2017, CRRC Zhuzhou Institute Co., Ltd. (“CRRC ZI") disposed its 51% equity interest of a subsidiary,
Hunan CRRC Times Electric Vehicle Co., Ltd. ("Hunan Electric Vehicle") at a cash consideration of RMB926,400,000.
After the disposal, the equity interest of Hunan Electric Vehicle retained by the Group was 36.37% and Hunan Electric

Vehicle became an associate of the Group.

RMB'000
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 926,400
An analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:
RMB'000
Net assets disposed of
Property, plant and equipment 359,550
Other intangible assets 8,049
Prepaid lease payments 19,193
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 3,293,926
Cash and bank balances 117,022
Trade receivables 4,348,522
Bills receivable 404,913
Inventories 439,466
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (2,620,000)
Trade payables (3/433,674)
Bills payable (1,274,549)
Provision for warranties - current portion (34,000)
Deferred income - current portion (14,629)
Other payables and accruals (582,556)
Deferred income - non-current portion (46,005)
Provision for warranties - non-current portion (188,888)
796,340
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47. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

47.2 Disposal during the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

(1

Hunan Electric Vehicle (continued)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

RMB'000
Consideration received 926,400
Fair value of investment retained 660,650
Net assets disposed of (796,340)
Non-controlling interests (12.63%) 100,578
Gain on disposal 891,288

Gain on remeasurement of interest remained in Hunan Electric Vehicle at its fair value when control was lost was
RMB371,021,000.

Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary

RMB'000
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 926,400
Less: cash and bank balances disposed of (117,022)
809,378




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

47. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

47.2 Disposal during the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

(2)  Erqi Vehicle

On 29 December 2017, the Company disposed its 100% equity interest of a subsidiary, CRRC Beijing Erqi Vehicle Co,,

Ltd. (Ergi Vehicle") at a cash consideration of RMB1,189,845,000.

RMB'000
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 1,160,600
Deferred cash consideration 29,245
Total consideration received 1,189,845
An analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:

RMB'000
Property, plant and equipment 175,328
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 26,531
Pledged bank deposits 207,822
Cash and bank balances 321,380
Trade receivables 447,798
Bills receivable 59,257
Inventories 68,355
Other intangible assets 4,678
Prepaid lease payments - current portion 1,379
Prepaid lease payments - non-current portion 53,783
Deferred tax assets 77
Other non-current assets 4,857
Trade payables (754,704)
Tax Payable (234)
Dividends payables (2,880)
Retirement benefit obligations - current portion (3,970)
Deferred income - current portion 612)
Retirement benefit obligations - non-current portion (19,730)
Deferred income - non-current portion (26,081)
Other payables and accruals (98,713)
Provision for warranties (6,304)

458,017
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47. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

47.3 Disposal during the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

(2)

(€)]

Erqi Vehicle (continued)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

RMB'000
Consideration received 1,189,845
Net assets disposed of (458,017)
Non-controlling interests 180,334
Gain on disposal 912,162
Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary

RMB'000
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 1,160,600
Less: cash and bank balances disposed of (321,380)

839,220

Other disposals

During the year ended 31 December 2017, another six subsidiaries were disposed of by the Group, including Hunan
CRRC Times Electric Vehicle Co., Ltd., CRRC Beijing Erqi Vehicle Co., Ltd., Zhongyi Huakai Petrochemical Technology

Co., Ltd,, Shanxi Die Casting Industrial Co,, Ltd., Hebei Luyou Railway Locomotive & Rolling Stock Accessories Co.,, Ltd.

and Chongging Rail Transit Development Co., Ltd.. The summarised information were set out below:

RMB'000

Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents

5,767
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47. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

47.2 Disposal during the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

(3)

Other disposals (continued)

An analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:

RMB'000
Net assets disposed of

Property, plant and equipment 13,053
Other intangible assets 155
Prepaid lease payments 37,422
Inventories 15,028
Trade receivables 56,259
Bills receivable 9,300
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 6,095
Cash and bank balances 15,250
Trade payables (72,951)
Other payables and accruals (10,293)
Tax payable (186)
69,132

Gain on disposal of these subsidiaries amounted to RMB5,705,000, among which gain on remeasurement of interest
remained at their fair values when control was lost was RMB2,836,000.

Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries

RMB'000

Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents

Less: cash and bank balances disposed of

5,767
(15,250)

(9,483)
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48. COMMITMENTS

(@) Operating lease commitments

(i) As lessor

The Group leases certain items of property, plant and equipment under operating lease arrangements negotiated for

terms ranging from 1 to 20 years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable

operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

Within one year 158,781 119,239
In the second to fifth year inclusive 475,029 400,515
More than five years 16,495 1,454
650,305 521,208
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48. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Operating lease commitments (continued)

(ii)  Aslessee

The Group's future minimum rental payables under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of plant and

machinery and land and buildings at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Within one year 193,230 248,439
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 375,160 424,850
More than five years 136,302 139,519
704,692 812,808
Capital commitments
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the reporting period:
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Contracted, but not provided for:
— Property, plant and equipment and land use rights 3,622,751 5,837,022
— Other intangible assets 20,544 52,868
3,643,295 5,889,890

In addition, the Group's share of the joint ventures or associates’ capital commitments, which are not included in the above,

is as follows:
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Contracted, but not provided for:
— Property, plant and equipment 10,337 356
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48. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(c) Other commitments

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's commitment for establishment of new entities amounted to RMB50,000,000 (31

December 2017: RMB2,470,625,000).

49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the Group had the

following material transactions with related parties during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
49.1 Purchase of materials and components from:
— CRRCG and its subsidiaries 829,910 681,745
— Joint ventures 821,652 1,728,394
— Associates 852,127 1,171,408
2,503,689 3,581,547
2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
(Restated)
49.2 Sale of goods to:
— CRRCG Group 692,477 393,122
- Joint ventures 605,361 999,463
— Associates 1,751,356 1,375,139
3,049,194 2,767,724
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49.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
(Restated)
49.3  Provision of services to:
- CRRCG Group 98,988 52,649
- Joint ventures 14,568 3,990
— Associates 251,357 6,685
364,913 63,324
49.4 Service fees:
— CRRCG Group 39,822 10,907
- Joint ventures 36,485 30,827
- Associates 284,019 —
360,326 41,734
49.5 Rental of property, plant and equipment from:
— CRRCG Group 76,527 80,929
49.6 Rental of property, plant and equipment to:
— CRRCG Group 3,116 6,452
- Joint ventures 382 2,837
— Associates 3,114 6,244
6,612 15,533
49.7 Interest income and fee commission income from:
- CRRCG Group 181,963 9,551
49.8 Interest income on finance lease from:
— An associate = 25,327
49.9 Compensation income from:
- CRRCG Group — 2,505
49.10 Interest expense:
- CRRCG Group 27,479 81,343
- Joint ventures 61 15
— An associate 195 127
27,735 81,485
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49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

49.11 Loans from related parties:

CRRCG Group
Start date Maturity date Interest rate Notes 2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
30 November 2018 30 November 2019 435% p.a (i) 748,900 —
28 September 2018 30 January 2019 — (i 60,939 —
28 June 2018 27 June 2019 4.35% p.a (i) 10,000 —
18 September 2018 18 September 2019 435% p.a (i) 289,830 —
27 July 2017 27 July 2018 435% p.a (i) = 33,000
11 August 2017 11 August 2018 435%p.a 0} = 520,000
15 September 2017 15 September 2018 435% p.a (i) — 256,830
25 October 2017 25 October 2018 435%p.a 0} = 1,850,000
1,109,669 2,659,830
Notes:
(i) The amounts were unsecured and unguaranteed.
(if) The amount is guaranteed by a fellow subsidiary of the Company.
49.12 Purchase of property, plant and equipment from:
— CRRCG Group 14,716 —
49.13 Sales of property, plant and equipment to:
— CRRCG Group = 714
49.14 Purchase of intangible assets from:
— CRRCG Group 9,055 —
49.15 Sales of intangible assets to:
- CRRCG Group 1,221,181 1,337,840
49.16 Acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries
- In November 2018, Sifang Institute acquired 51% equity interest of Qingdao Hitachi
form CRRC Gold Certificate at a consideration of RMB 22,761,000 Details are disclosed
in note 46; and
- In August 2018, the Company disposed its 100%equity interest in Ergi vehic to CRRC
Group at a consideration of RMB 286,257,000 Details are disclosed in note 47.
49.17 Guarantees received from:
— CRRCG Group 7,470,941 7,701,849
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49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

49.18 Outstanding balances with related parties

The Group had the following outstanding balances with related parties:

(if)

(i)

(iv)

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Other non-current assets:
- CRRCG Group 2,073 543
— Joint ventures 2,970 10
— Associates 22,048 129
27,091 682
Trade receivables:
- CRRCG Group 524,713 769,609
- Joint ventures 611,639 761,482
— Associates 698,013 707,262
1,834,365 2,238,353
Bills receivable:
- CRRCG Group 93,748 89,494
- Joint ventures 649 1,436
— Associates 486,649 1,507,345
581,046 1,598,275
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables:
- CRRCG Group 5,362,139 4,346,498
- Joint ventures 192,570 123,701
— Associates 448,725 130,578
6,003,434 4,600,777
Note: The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and have
no specific terms of repayment.
Contract assets:
— CRRCG Group 24,448 N/A
- Joint ventures 2,262 N/A
— Associates 90,326 N/A
117,036
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49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

49.18 Outstanding balances with related parties (continued)

2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
(vi)  Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income:
- CRRCG Group 762,259 N/A
- Associates 4,943 N/A
767,202
(vii)  Long-term receivables:
— CRRCG Group 153,623 —
- Joint ventures 297 471
— Associates 205,896 428,791
359,816 429,262
(viii)  Loans and advances to customers:
— CRRCG Group 1,714,600 —
(ix)  Trade payables:
- CRRCG Group 1,533,885 2,037,439
— Joint ventures 2,271,059 1,751,390
— Associates 1,487,131 896,836
5,292,075 4,685,665
(x)  Bills payable:
— CRRCG Group 390,636 139,750
- Joint ventures 235,276 93,124
— Associates 78,324 157,813
704,236 390,687
(xi)  Other payables and accruals:
- CRRCG Group 610,827 66,038
— Joint ventures 73,014 3,129
— Associates 91,329 66,726
775,170 135,893
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49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

49.18 Outstanding balances with related parties (continued)

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
(xii)  Borrowings:

— CRRCG Group 1,109,669 2,659,830

(xiii)  Due to customers:
— CRRCG Group 2,761,519 3,443,860
- Joint ventures 5,160 1,039
— Associates 25,061 16,769
2,791,740 3,461,668

(xiv)  Contract liabilities:
— CRRCG Group 432,098 N/A
- Joint ventures 359 N/A
— Associates 1,498,402 N/A

1,930,859
49.19 Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Short-term employee benefits 8,503 8,237
Post-employment benefits 553 506
Total compensation paid/payable to key management personnel 9,056 8,743
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49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

49.20 Commitments with related parties:

49.21

The Group had the following commitments with related parties at the reporting period, which are contracted for, but not
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements:

2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Sale of goods to:

— Joint ventures 968 1,055
— Associates 25,756 173
26,724 1,228

Purchase of materials from:
- CRRCG Group 7,422 3,698
— Associates 200,510 —
207,932 3,698

Transactions with other government-related entities in the PRC:

The Company is ultimately controlled by the PRC government and the Group operates in an economic environment
currently predominated by entities controlled, jointly controlled or under significant influence by the PRC government
("government-related entities”). In addition, the Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under CRRCG which is
controlled by the PRC government. During the year, the Group conducts business with other government-related entities,
including but not limited to, sales and purchases. The China Railway Corporation and entities invested and managed by PRC
local railway departments (collectively referred to as the “CRC Group”) are identified as a single government-related entity
by the directors of the Company. The revenue from CRC Group amounted to RMB112,644,792,000 for the year ended 31
December 2018 (2017: RMB100,635,529,000).

Management considers that transactions with other government-related entities are activities conducted in the ordinary
course of business, and that the dealings of the Group have not been significantly or unduly affected by the fact that the
Group and those other government-related entities are ultimately controlled or owned by the government. The Group has
also established pricing policies for products and services and such pricing policies do not depend on whether or not the
customers are government-related entities.
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50.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

50.1 Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

As at 31 December 2018

Financial assets

Financial
Financial assets Debt Equity
assets at atamortised instruments  instrumentsat  Finance lease
FVTPL cost at FvTOCI FvTOCI receivables Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 7,845,287 — — - — 7,845,287
Equity instruments at fair value through =
other comprehensive income = = = 2,252,423 = 2,252,423
Debt instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income - - 5,277,641 — - 5,277,641
Trade receivables = 64,205,603 = = = 64,205,603
Bills receivable = 15,475,106 = = = 15,475,106
Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables = 3,433,245 = = = 3,433,245
Pledged and restricted bank deposits = 5,027,666 = = = 5,027,666
Cash and bank balances = 33,143,342 = = = 33,143,342
Financial assets included in other
non-current assets (including amounts
due within one year) = 5,711,610 = = 8,199,676 13,911,286
Loans and advances to customers
(including amounts due within one year) = 6,537,882 = = = 6,537,882
Debt investment at amortised cost
(including amounts due within one year) = 2,502,777 = = = 2,502,777
7,845,287 136,037,231 5,277,641 2,252,423 8,199,676 159,612,258
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50.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

50.1 Categories of financial instruments (continued)

As at 31 December 2017 (restated)

Financial assets

Financial assets

Available- Held-to- at fair value
Loansand for-sale maturity  through profit  Finance lease
receivables investments investments orloss receivables Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss — — — 2,569,294 — 2,569,294
Available-for-sale investments — 3,257,353 — — — 3,257,353
Trade receivables 77,674,531 — — — — 77,674,531
Bills receivable 27,071,265 — — — — 27,071,265
Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits
and other receivables 5,706,240 — — — — 5,706,240
Pledged bank deposits 4,622,263 — — — — 4,622,263
Cash and bank balances 56,280,024 — — — — 56,280,024
Financial assets included in
other non-current assets 8,513,481 — — — 10,682,436 19195917
Loans and advances to customers
(including amounts due
within one year) 3,824,210 — — — — 3,824,210
Held-to-maturity investments
(including amounts due
within one year) — — 1,659,158 — — 1,659,158
183,692,014 3,257,353 1,659,158 2,569,294 10,682,436 201,860,255
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

50.1 Categories of financial instruments (continued)

As at 31 December 2018

Financial liabilities

Financial
liabilities at fair Other
value through financial
profit or loss liabilites Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Trade payables = 99,189,987 99,189,987
Bills payable = 21,978,720 21,978,720
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals = 11,646,684 11,646,684
Borrowings —_ 20,673,125 20,673,125
Due to customers = 2,795,282 2,795,282
Long-term payables
(including amounts due within one year) = 288,719 288,719
Convertible bonds — debt component = 3,910,829 3,910,829
Convertible bonds — derivative component
— current portion 271,899 = 271,899
271,899 160,483,346 160,755,245
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

50.1 Categories of financial instruments (continued)

As at 31 December 2017 (restated)

Financial liabilities

Financial
liabilities at fair Other
value through financial
profit or loss liabilites Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Trade payables — 104,357,254 104,357,254
Bills payable — 23,291,689 23,291,689
Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals — 11,000,304 11,000,304
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 225,240 — 225,240
Borrowings — 43,997,818 43,997,818
Due to customers — 3,469,987 3,469,987
Long-term payables
(including amounts due within one year) — 357,885 357,885
Convertible bonds - debt component — 3,630,772 3,630,772
Convertible bonds - derivative component 511,756 — 511,756
736,996 190,105,709 190,842,705
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

50.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise borrowings, convertible bonds and cash and cash equivalents. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities, such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees on policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below:
Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial guarantees provided by the Group is arising from:

. The carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

. The amount of contingent liability in relation to the financial guarantees provided by the Group as disclosed in note
54.

The Group only transacts with those third parties who are recognised as creditworthy. The Group's policy is to perform credit
verification for all customers who have transactions with the Group. Further, credit limits, credit terms and sales methods are
determined based on the credit ratings of customers.

For sales under credit terms, a sales contract shall stipulate the payment term and credit amounts. The payment date should
not exceed the credit term, and the credit amount in aggregate should not exceed the credit limit.

The Group continuously monitors its trade receivable balances by assigning the salespersons responsible for cash collection.

The Group's other financial assets include cash and cash equivalents and other receivables. The credit risk of these financial
assets arises from default of counterparties who transact with the Group, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments.

Other than the concentration of credit risk in respect of receivables from CRC Group, the Group does not have any other
significant concentration of credit risk.
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

50.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
The following table details the credit risk exposure of the Group's financial assets and other items:

Notes  12-month ECL or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
RMB'000 RMB'000

Financial assets measured
at amortised cost

Pledged and restricted bank 35 12-month ECL 38,171,008 38,171,008
deposits, and cash and
bank balances

Bills receivable 32 12-month ECL 15,537,595 15,537,595
Trade receivables 31 Lifetime ECL (not credit impaired) 55,936,373
Lifetime ECL(credit impaired) 13,311,773 69,248,146
Other receivables 33 12-month ECL 2,633,590
Lifetime ECL (not credit impaired) 363,354
Lifetime ECL(credit impaired) 996,974 3,993,918
Debt investment at amortised 27 12-month ECL 2,503,377 2,503,377
cost
Loans and advances 33 12-month ECL 4,595,000
to customers
Lifetime ECL (not credit impaired) 2,042,600 6,637,600
Other non-current assets 29 Lifetime ECL(not credit impaired) 5,972,881 5,972,881

(exclude lease receivables)
Financial assets measured
at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Debt instruments at fair value 27 12-month ECL 4,233,540
through other comprehensive

income
Lifetime ECL (not credit impaired) 1,044,101 5,277,641
Others
Contract assets 26 Lifetime ECL (not credit impaired) 23,770,459 23,770,459
Finance lease receivable 29 Lifetime ECL (not credit impaired) 753,302
Lifetime ECL(credit impaired) 9,831,041 10,584,343
Financial guarantee contract 12-month ECL 5,818,593 5,818,593
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

50.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Note 1: For trade receivable, contract assets and lease receivables, the Group uses a simplified method to measure the amount of expected credit

losses for the entire duration.

Note 2: For financial guarantee contracts, the total carrying amount is the maximum amount guaranteed by the Group under its respective contract.

The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables measured at amortised cost based on the Group's provision

matrix.

At 31 December 2018

Gross
Average carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
RMB’000 RMB’000
Within 1 year 0.1-1% 48,875,217 (316,186)
1to 2 years 1-5% 3,154,383 (187,079)
2 to3years 5-10% 1,473,312 (216,747)
3to4years 20-25% 1,161,536 (321,596)
410 5 years 35-45% 792,690 (371,667)
Over 5 years 60-65% 479,235 (307,260)
55,936,373 (1,720,535)

The Group provided RMB1,720,535,000 loss allowance based on the provision matrix at 31 December 2018. In addition, trade
receivables amounting to RMB13,311,773,000 as at 31 December 2018 were assessed individually and loss allowance of

RMB3,322,008,000 were made on these debtors which are individually significant.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group's objectives are to maintain a balance between continuity and flexibility
through measures such as bills settlement, loans and short term commercial paper, to adopt an appropriate combination of

long term and short term financing, and to improve the financing structure.
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

50.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group has already obtained banking facilities from various commercial banks for its working capital and capital
expenditure.

The Group's management monitors the working capital position to ensure that there is adequate liquidity to meet with all
the financial obligations when they become due and to maximise the return of the Group's financial resources.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period,
based on the contractual undiscounted payments based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2018

On demand Total Carrying
orless undiscounted Amount at
than one year 1-2 years 3-5years >5years Cash Flows 31/12/2018
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings 16,742,879 1,041,647 3,985,553 293,339 22,063,418 20,673,125
Trade payables 99,189,987 = = = 99,189,987 99,189,987
Bills payable 21,978,720 = = = 21,978,720 21,978,720
Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals 11,646,684 = = = 11,646,684 11,646,684
Due to customers 2,805,065 = = = 2,805,065 2,795,282
Long-term payables (including amounts
due within one year) 28,681 99,858 101,019 183,495 413,053 288,719
Convertible bonds 4,117,920 = = = 4,117,920 3,910,829
Financial guarantee contract (Note) 5,818,593 = = = 5,818,593 =
162,328,529 1,141,505 4,086,572 476,834 168,033,440 160,483,346
Note:

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle under the arrangement
for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end of the reporting
period, the Group considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that the financial
receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

50.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2017 (Restated)

On demand Total Carrying
orless undiscounted Amount at
than one year 1-2 years 3-5 years >5 years Cash Flows 31/12/2017
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings 35,334,100 5,366,440 3,521,663 1,761,899 45,984,102 43,997,818
Trade payables 104,357,254 — — — 104,357,254 104,357,254
Bills payable 23,291,689 — — — 23,291,689 23,291,689
Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals 11,000,304 — — — 11,000,304 11,000,304
Due to customers 3,482,132 — — — 3/482,132 3,469,987
Long-term payables (including amounts
due within one year) 71,038 112,931 107,062 188,232 479,263 357,885
Convertible bonds — 3920520 — — 3920,520 3,630,772
Financial guarantee contract (Note) 7,441,000 — — — 7,441,000 —
184977517 9,399,891 3,628,725 1,950,131 199,956,264 190,105,709
Derivatives financial
liabilities - gross settlement
Held-for-trading financial liabilities
- Foreign currency forward contracts
- inflow 6,621,337 — — — 6,621,337 6,621,337
- outflow (6,846,577) — — — (6,846,577) (6,846,577)
(225,240) — — — (225,240) (225,240)
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

50.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk primarily in relation to the Group's fixed-rate borrowings, long-term
receivables and convertible bonds. The Group's exposure to the cash flow interest rate risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group's short term and long term debts with a floating interest rate.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group's profit after tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings) after considering the effect of
capitalisation of borrowing costs.

2018 2017
Reasonably possible change in interest rate 100 basis points 100 basis points
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000

Increase (decrease) in profit after taxation for the year
as a result of increase in interest rate (59,748) (48,605)
as a result of decrease in interest rate 59,748 48,605

The sensitivity analysis in interest rate does not affect other components of equity.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk in relation to its equity investments which are measured at fair value as
detailed in note 25. The management closely monitors such risk by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risks.

The Group is also exposed to other price risk through its investments in corporate wealth management products measured
at fair value. The management manages this exposure by only investing in investments operated by banks with good
reputation. The management of the Group considers the fluctuation in fair value changes on these investments in corporate

wealth management products is insignificant, taking into account the short-term duration of such financial products.
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

50.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group's foreign currency risk mainly arise from sales or purchases by operating entities in currencies other than the
entities’ respective functional currencies.

The Group's businesses are mainly located in the PRC and are mainly transacted and settled in RMB. Certain sales, purchases
and borrowings are settled in foreign currencies. The fluctuation of the exchange rates of foreign currencies against RMB will
affect the Group's results of operations.

The Group endeavours to reduce foreign currency risk to a minimum mainly by closely monitoring market exchange rate

changes and actively adopting measures.

For business contracts denominated in foreign currencies under negotiation, the Group requires price quotations to be
based on the expected exchange rate changes and the relevant terms clearly state the range of exchange rate fluctuations
so as to have the related risk to be shared by both the seller and buyer. For import activities, the relevant import entities are

required to monitor the timing of settlement to reduce the foreign currency risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
Euro and USS exchange rates against RMB, with all other variables held constant, of the Group's profit after taxation (due to
changes in the foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities). In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
as the currency exposures arising from possible changes in other currencies will not have any significant financial impact on

the Group, the sensitivity analysis is not disclosed.
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

50.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
in (decrease) in profit
exchange rate after tax
% RMB’000
Year ended 31 December 2018
If RMB strengthens against Euro (7.08) (47,465)
If RMB weakens against Euro 7.08 47,465
If RMB strengthens against US$ (10.76) 181,982
If RMB weakens against US$ 10.76 (181,982)
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
in (decrease) in profit
exchange rate after tax
% RMB'000
Year ended 31 December 2017
If RMB strengthens against Euro (8.64) 11,827
If RMB weakens against Euro 8.64 (11,827)
If RMB strengthens against USS (5.59) 264,675
If RMB weakens against US$ 5.59 (264,675)

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,

so that it can continue to provide returns for equity shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and

services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to financing at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher equity

shareholders returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a

sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of liability-to-asset ratio, which is calculated as total liabilities divided by
total assets. The liability-to-asset ratio of the Group at 31 December 2018 was 58.13% (31 December 2017 (restated): 62.18%).

There were no changes in the Group's approach to capital management during the reporting period. Neither the Company

nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

50.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The following table summarise the Group's financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each

reporting period.

Fair value as at

At At
31 December 31 December Fairvalue  Valuation technique(s) Significant
2018 2017 hierarchy  and key input(s) unobservable input(s)
(RMB'000) (RMB1000)
Financial assets
Foreign currency forward contracts 2,515 2,563 Level2  Discounted cash flow. Future cash /
classified as financial assets flows are estimated based on forward
at fair value through profit or loss exchange rates (from observable
forward exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period) and contracted
forward rates, discounted at a rate
that reflects the credit risk of various
counterparties.
Corporate wealth management 6,352,380 2,139563 Level2  Discounted cash flow. Future cash /
products classified as financial assets flows are estimated based on expected
at fair value through profit or loss return, discounted at a rate that reflects
the credit risk of issuers.
Listed equity security classified 5,957 — Level 1 Quoted market price /
as at fair value through profit or loss
Unlisted equity instruments 885,884 427,168 Level 3 Discounted cash flow. The revenue growth rate

as at fair value through profit or loss

Key inputs: the revenue growth rate, is based on the forecast of

the systematic risk coefficient the management of the

invested company.

The systematic risk coefficient
is based on the historical
systematic risk coefficients of
comparable companies.
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

50.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

(continued)
Fair value as at
At At
31 December 31 December Fairvalue  Valuation technique(s) Significant
2018 2017 hierarchy  and key input(s) unobservable input(s)
(RMB'000) (RMB1000)
Listed perpetual bond investment 186,191 190,625 Level 1 Quoted market price /
(classified as AFS investment
at 31 December 2017)

Listed preference share investment 412,360 415328 Level 1 Quoted market price /
at FVTPL (classified as AFS
investments at 31 December 2017)

Listed equity security classified = 1843257 Level 1 Quoted market price /
as available-for-sale financial assets

Listed equity security designated 1,370,906 — Level T Quoted market price /
as at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Corporate wealth management = 451497 Level2  Discounted cash flow. Future cash /
products classified as flows are estimated based on expected
available-for-sale return, discounted at a rate that reflects
financial assets the credit risk of issuers.

Unquoted equity investment 881,517 — Level3  Discounted cash flow The revenue growth rate
designated as at fair value through key inputs: the revenue growth rate, is based on the forecast of
other comprehensive income the systematic risk coefficient the management of the

invested company.

The systematic risk
coefficient is based on
thehistorical systematic risk
coefficients of comparable
companies.

Trade and bills receivables classified 5,277,641 — Level2  Discounted cash flow. Future cash /

as at fair value through
other comprehensive income
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

50.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

(continued)

Fairvalue as at

At At
31 December 31 December Fairvalue  Valuation technique(s) Significant
2018 2017 hierarchy  and key input(s) unobservable input(s)
(RMB'000) (RMB'000)
Financial liabilities
Foreign currency forward contracts = 225240 Level2  Future cash flows are estimated based /
classified as financial liabilities on forward exchange rates (from
at fair value through profit or loss observable forward exchange rates at
the end of the reporting period) and
contracted forward rates, discounted
at a rate that reflects the credit risk of
various counterparties.
Derivative component in relation to 271,899 511,756 Level 3 The fair value of derivative component The volatilities were

the 2016 Convertible Bonds

is calculated using Binominal Option
Pricing Model.

Key input: the volatilities

determined based on the
historical price volatilities
of comparable companies
under the same periods of
the expected ife (Note).

Note:  An increase in the volatilities of the Company's share price would result in an increase in the fair value measurement of the convertible bonds-

derivative component, and vice versa. A 1% increase in the volatilities holding all other variables constant would increase the carrying amount

of the convertible bonds-derivative component by RMB2,659,000. A 1% decrease in the volatilities holding all other variables constant would

decrease the carrying amount of the convertible bonds-derivative component by RMB2,637,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1

and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3.
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

50.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair values.

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Carrying Carrying

amount Fair value amount Fair value
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Held-to-maturity investment

— under non-current assets = = 1,429,188 1,453,704
Debt instrument at amortised cost

- with fixed rate-under

non-current assets 1,622,252 1,466,573 — —

Long-term receivables - with fixed rate 7,809,013 7,097,261 10,365,326 9,687,014
Other non-current assets

- with fixed rate — — 839,047 729,391
Borrowings - due after one year

— with fixed rate 407,469 389,023 936,446 892,966
Long-term bonds-due after one year 3,500,000 3,162,140 5,495,168 5,212,867
Convertible bonds (including the

derivative component) 4,182,728 3,764,707 4,142,528 3,607,458

The held-to-maturity investments are traded in an active market and included in level 1 category. The convertible bonds
(including the derivative component) are included in level 2 category and their fair value has been determined with
reference to the price released by Bloomberg Limited Partnership. Long-term bonds, long-term receivables, borrowings
and other non-current assets are included in level 2 category and have been determined based on a discounted cash flow
analysis, with the discount rate that reflects the credit risk of debtors.

50.4 Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

Financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss

RMB’000
As at 1 January 2018 427,168
Purchase 414,167
Disposals (2,537)
Changes in fair value during the year 37,373
Exchange adjustments during the year 9,713
As at 31 December 2018 885,884
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

50.4 Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements (continued)

Convertible

bonds -

derivative

component

RMB’000

As at 1 January 2018 511,756
Exchange adjustments during the year 11,555
Changes in fair value during the year (251,412)
As at 31 December 2018 271,899
Equity

instruments

designated

as at FVTOCI

RMB’000

As at 1 January 2018 569,914
Purchase 338,141
Disposals (96,253)
Changes in fair value during the year 69,715
As at 31 December 2018 881,517
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

50.5 Transfers of financial assets

At 31 December 2018, the Group endorsed certain bills receivable with a carrying amount of RMB7,654,452,000 (31 December
2017: RMB5,192,291,000) to certain of its suppliers in order to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers and discounted
certain bills receivable with a carrying amount of RMB1,195,378,000 (31 December 2017: RMB667,240,000) to banks which
were derecognised by the Group (the “Derecognised Bills"). In accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments in the
PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills have a right of recourse against the Group if the acceptor default (the “Continuing
Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Bills and
the associated trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss from the Groups Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised
Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these Derecognised Bills equal to the amounts disclosed above. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair values of the Group'’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills are
not significant.

At 31 December 2018, the Group endorsed certain bills receivable (the “Endorsed Bills") with a carrying amount of
RMB4,055,254,000 (31 December 2017: RMB3,189,939,000) to certain of its suppliers in order to settle the trade payables due
to such suppliers (the “Endorsement”) and discounted certain bills receivable (the “Discounted Bills") with a carrying amount
of RMB26,429,000 (31 December 2017: RMB35,400,000) to banks. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group
has retained the substantial risks and rewards, which include default risks relating to such Endorsed Bills and Discounted
Bills, and accordingly, it continued to recognise the full carrying amounts of the Endorsed Bills and Discounted Bills and the
associated trade payables. Subsequent to the Endorsement and discounting, the Group does not retain any rights on the use
of the Endorsed Bills and Discounted Bills, including sale, transfer or pledge of the bills to any other third parties.

At 31 December 2018, trade receivables amounting to RMB5,468,228,000 (31 December 2017: RMB3,592,859,000) had been
factored to a bank on a non-recourse basis. These receivables were derecognised as the Group had transferred the significant
risks and rewards relating to the receivables to the bank under the non-recourse factoring agreements. The loss related to
derecognition of trade receivables was RMB122,051,000 (2017: RMB77,153,000) in total and charged to profit and loss.

At 31 December 2018, trade receivables amounting to RMB19,000,000 (31 December 2017: RMB452,255,000) had been
factored to a bank. The Group has retained the substantial risks and rewards relating to the trade receivables and continue to

recognise the trade receivables. Associated liabilities have been recognised and included in borrowings.

At 31 December 2018, trade receivables of RMB6,227,911,000 (2017: Nil) is being securitised by the Group. As the servicing
organization in the transaction, the Group only provides collection services in accordance with the agreement without any
charges on such services. The Group considers that all the risks and rewards of these trade receivables have been transferred
to the counterparties and the trade receivables are derecognised accordingly. During the year ended 31 December 2018,
loss of RMB294,135,000 (2017: Nil) was recognised in profit or loss upon the derecognition of these trade receivables.
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51.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below shows the detailed major changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash

and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,

classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Convertible
Borrowings bonds Interest payable Total
RMBO000 RMB000 RMB000 RMBO000

Note 39 Note 44
At 1 January 2018 (restated) 43,997,818 4,142,528 362,908 48,503,254
Repayment of borrowings (51,031,342) = = (51,031,342)
Proceeds from borrowings 25,868,678 = = 25,868,678
Effect of disposal of subsidiaries (2,705,951) = = (2,705,951)
Foreign exchange (201,353) 197,761 = (3,592)
Changes in fair value — (251,412) — (251,412)
Interest paid = = (1,541,868) (1,541,868)
Interest expenses — 93,851 1,402,498 1,496,349
Non-cash items 4,745,275 = = 4,745,275
At 31 December 2018 20,673,125 4,182,728 223,538 25,079,391

Convertible
Borrowings bonds Interest payable Total
RMBO00O RMB000 RMB000 RMB000

Note 39 Note 44
At 1 January 2017 37,896,696 4,124,839 363,903 42,385,438
Repayment of borrowings (88,862,820) — — (88,862,820)
Proceeds from borrowings 91,926,294 — — 91,926,294
Foreign exchange 15,380 (242,668) 56,313 (170,975)
Changes in fair value — 166,960 — 166,960
Interest paid — — (1,442,153) (1,442,153)
Interest expenses 98,000 93,397 1,384,845 1,576,242
Non-cash items 2,924,268 — — 2,924,268
At 31 December 2017 (restated) 43,997,818 4,142,528 362,908 48,503,254
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52. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are set out below:

Place and date
of incorporation/ Percentage of equity
establishment and interests attributable to the Company
Company name place of operations Paid-up capital Direct (%) Indirect (%) Principal activities
000 2018 2017 2018 2017
CRRC Changchun Railway Vehicles Co, Ltd* ~ PRC RMB5,807,947 93.54 9354 — —  Designing and manufacturing
HERFNERERNERLA 18 March 2002 passenger coaches, high-speed
("CRRC Changchun’) MUs, rapid transit vehicles
and components
CRRC Zhuzhou Locomotive Co, Ltd. * PRC RMB4401,366 100.00 100.00 — —  Manufacturing, selling and
HEFNENREERAR 31 August 2005 repairing of locomotives
CRRC Zhuzhou Institute Co, Ltd* PRC RMB8,340,710 100.00 100.00 = —  Investment holding,
REHNE N EEREMEARAR 9 September 1992 manufacturing and selling
of wind turbines
CRRC Qingdao Sifang Co,, Ltd* PRC RMB4,003,794 97.81 97.81 = —  Manufacturing, selling and
REFENHBEEFROHERAET 22y 2002 repairing of locomotives
Tangshan Company* PRC RMB3,990,000 100.00 100.00 = —  Manufacturing railway
REELEEHERAR 10 July 2007 transportation equipment,
high-speed MUs, rapid transit
vehicles and components
CRRC Dalian Co,, Ltd.* PRC RMB4,180,000 100.00 100.00 = —  Manufacturing and refurbishing
FEREREEHERAR 1 January 1981 locomotives and components
CRRC Qiche Group Co, Ltd.* PRC RMB7,000,000 100.00 100.00 — —  Manufacturing railway
HEESEEERARF 26 December 2012 transportation equipment and
components
CRRC Yangtze Group, Ltd.* PRC RMB5,400,000 100.00 100.00 = —  Manufacturing, selling and
RERTERRBEEFRAA 17 April 2018 repairing of rolling stock
CRRC Investment & Leasing Co, Ltd.* PRC RMB2,909,285 100.00 100.00 — —  Trading and finance leasing
HEREREERAR 26 April 1999
CRRC Qishuyan Co, Ltd.* PRC RMB2,092,743 100.00 100.00 = —  Manufacturing, selling and
HEFBEREERAR 26 June 2007 repairing of locomotives
CRRC Qishuyan Institute Co, Ltd* PRC RMB2,060,000 100.00 100.00 = —  Research and development of
TERSEREERTH 15 May 1992 train- related products
HRmBRAR
CRRC Nanjing Puzhen Co, Ltd* PRC RMB1,759,840 100.00 100.00 — —  Manufacturing, selling and
HEERARERERAR 27 June 2007 repairing of rolling stock
CRRC Hongkong Capital Management PRC RMB2,451,069 100.00 100.00 = —  Manufacturing and refurbishing
Co, Ltd* 25 August 2010 railway vehicles (including
HEPEEEERERARAA MUs), rapid transit vehicles

and merger and acquisition
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52. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/ Percentage of equity
establishment and i attributable to the Company
Company name place of operations Paid-up capital Direct (%) Indirect (%) Principal activities
000 2018 2017 2018 2017
CRRC CONSTRUTION ENGRG.CO, LTD* PRC RMB1,500,000 100.00 100.00 = —  Project management
RERRTRERARF 10 February 2012 contracting, sales of
machinery and construction
materials and leasing of
machinery equipment vehicles
CRRC Yongji Motor Co, Ltd.* PRC RMB1,290,000 100.00 100.00 = —  Manufacturing and refurbishing
REKEEHERAE 9 July 2007 qeneral mechanical and
electrical equipment
CRRC Sifanglnstitute Co, Ltd* PRC RMB1,290,000 100.00 100.00 — —  Researching and developing
HEEENAERARAERAR 10 June 1994 and manufacturing
vehicles components and
related equipment
CRRC Finance Co, Ltd* PRC RMB2,200,000 91.36 9136 — —  Taking deposits and providing
HEHBERAT 30 November 2012 entrusted loans
CRRC Zhuzhou Motor Co, Ltd.* PRC RMB1,043,180 100.00 100.00 — —  Manufacturing and
RERNERERAR 14 April 2004 selling of electric motors
CRRCZiyang Co, Ltd* PRC RMB834,226 99.61 9961 = —  Manufacturing, selling and
HEEGREERAR 12 May 2006 repairing of locomotives
CRRC Bejjing NankouCo, Ltd* PRC RMB805,000 100.00 100.00 — —  Manufacturing locomotives
REREOERERAR 9 July 2007 components
CRRC Datong Co, Ltd* PRC RMB656,000 100.00 100.00 = —  Manufacturing and refurbishing
REARAENEEER AR 28 February 2003 locomotives and components
CRRC Chengdu Co, Ltd.* PRC RMB655,228 64.52 6452 35.48 3548 Repairing locomotives and
FERSEEERERAA 28 June 2007 rolling stock
CRRC Hong Kong Co, Ltd.* HK HK$800,000 100.00 100.00 — —  Tradingand
HERE (FR) BRAT 7 April 2008 investment management
CRRC Dalian R&D Co, Ltd.* PRC RMB388,000 100.00 100.00 = —  Researching and developing
REREENESHERLARADE  160ctober 2013 electric traction and control
technologies and selling
applicant services and related
products
CRRC Dalian Institute Co,, Ltd.* PRC RMB350,000 100.00 100.00 = —  Researching and developing
PEABRERRAERAR 24 September 1995 and manufacturing
locomotives machinery and
electronic devices
CRRCSifang Co,, Ltd.* PRC RMB343,096 100.00 100.00 = —  Repairing locomotives and
PR ERERAA 4 September 1980 rolling stock
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52. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/ Percentage of equity
establishment and interests attributable to the Company
Company name place of operations Paid-up capital Direct (%) Indirect (%) Principal activities
000 2018 2017 2018 2017
CRRC Logistics Co, Ltd.* PRC RMB760,000 96.84 96.84 3.16 316 Logistics services, agent of
REYFARAT 4 April 2002 international freight and
trading of raw materials
CRRC (AUSTRALIA) Company Limited Australia Australian Dollar 100.00 100.00 = —  Tradingand
HERRFITERAR 10July 2012 ('AUD") 1,000 after-sale maintaining
CRRC Academy Co, Ltd* PRC RMB200,000 100.00 100.00 - —  Research and development
RETERARERAR 25 August 2014 train - related products
CRRC International Co, Ltd* PRC RMB100,000 100.00 100.00 — —  Selling rolling stock
HERBRARAT 1June 1998 equipment
Beijing CNR CR Transportation PRC RMB20,000 51.00 51.00 = —  Manufacturing locomotive
Equipment Co,, Ltd.* 6 January 2009 components; importing and
R ERERERBREERAR exporting goods and
project management contracting
CRRC Information Technology Co, Ltd* PRC RMB17,000 51.00 51.00 = —  Providing training of computer
PEESRHMERRR 8 July 1998 technology, basic software
related services, applicant
software related services,
computer systematic service
and data processing services
CRRC SA Rolling Stock (Pty) Ltd. Republic of South Africa ZAR1 66.00 6600 = —  Technology service, technology
BIFREEHERAA 27 January 2014 consulting related to railway
locomotives, project planning,
project service, procurement,
sales, leasing of railway
locomotives and components
CRRC Capital Management Co, Ltd. * PRC RMB2,000,000 100.00 100.00 - —  Assets management,
REEAEEERAF 8 January 2016 investment management,
industrial investment, etc.
ZTE* (i) PRC RMB1,175477 = — 52.38 5203 Manufacturing of train
KNP ERRERRNERAR 26 September 2005 ~bore systems and components
ZTNM* (i) PRC RMB802,798 = — 39.55 3955 Manufacturing and selling
HNE IR R R A BRAF 24 May 1994 of polymer compounds, etc.
* The English name of certain companies above represents the direct translation of the Chinese name of these companies as no English name have been

registered.
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52. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

@

(i)

As at 31 December 2016, the ownership interests of ZTE held by the CRRCG was 0.80%, the voting rights of which the CRRCG has authorised the
Company to exercise, accordingly, the voting rights of ZTE held by the Company was 52.61%.

In January 2017, the CRRCG disposed its 0.80% equity interests in ZTE, the voting rights of which have previously been authorised to the Company, thus
the voting rights of ZTE held by the Company was decreased to 51.81%. In July 2017, CRRC HK Capital Management Co, a subsidiary of the Company,
purchased 2,606,800 shares of ZTE in public market, thus the equity interests of ZTE held by the Company was increased to 52.03% as at 31 December
2017.

During the year of 2018, CRRC HK Capital Management Co purchased 4,066,800 shares of ZTE in public market, thus the equity interests of ZTE held by
the Company was increased to 52.38% as at 31 December 2018.

As at 31 December 2017 and 2018, the equity interests of ZTNM held by the Company was 39.55%. Since CRRCG held 11.47% equity interest of ZTNM
and has authorised the Company to exercise its voting rights, the voting rights of ZTNM held by the Company became 51.02% as at 31 December 2018
(31 December 2017: 51.02%), and ZTNM was considered as a subsidiary of the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2018. To give details of other

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued debt securities during the year ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2018.

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling interests:

Place of
establishment
and principal Proportion of ownership
place of interest held by Loss (profit) allocated to non- Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiary business non-controlling interests controlling interests controlling interests
2018 2017 2018 2017 (restated) 2018 2017 (restated)
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ZTE and its subsidiaries PRC 47.62% 47.97% 1,282,490 1,248,023 9,697,388 8,769,690
ZTNM and its subsidiaries PRC 60.45% 60.45% (265,727) 39,392 2,932,212 3,085,395
CRRC Changchun and
its subsidiaries PRC 6.46% 6.46% 193,754 187,034 2,005,125 1,865,334
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests 482,946 731,621 6,592,207 6,615,272
Total 1,693,463 2,206,070 21,226,932 20,335,691
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52. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Company’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set

out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

ZTE and its subsidiaries

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Current assets 23,582,506 21,612,648
Non-current assets 5,452,016 5,037,000
Current liabilities 7,836,896 7,623,291
Non-current liabilities 1,074,113 969,792
Equity attributable to owners of ZTE 19,824,763 17,764,353
Non-controlling interests of ZTE's subsidiaries 298,750 292,212
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Revenue 15,657,901 15,143,709
Expenses 13,174,359 12,623,703
Profit for the year 2,650,535 2,562,210
Profit attributable to owners of ZTE 2,612,488 2,523,471
Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests of ZTE's subsidiaries 38,047 38,739
Other comprehensive expense for the year (8,799) (27,037)
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of ZTE 2,604,257 2,496,641
Total comprehensive income attributable to
the non-controlling interests of ZTE's subsidiaries 37,479 38,532
Total comprehensive income for the year 2,641,736 2,535,173
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 16,060 8,122
Net cash inflow from operating activities 3,758,563 1,469,188
Net cash outflow from investing activities (2,350,359) (604,129)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (451,632) (504,080)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 2,246 (4,631)
Net cash inflow 958,818 356,348
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52. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests (continued)

ZTNM and its subsidiaries (continued)

2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Current assets 8,860,864 8,714,547
Non-current assets 5,416,201 5,611,264
Current liabilities 8,044,605 5,940,821
Non-current liabilities 1,441,059 3,370,496
Equity attributable to owners of ZTNM 4,700,858 4,877,620
Non-controlling interests of ZTNM's subsidiaries 90,543 136,874
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Revenue 11,996,047 11,399,613
Expenses 12,512,726 11,387,704
Loss(profit) for the year (434,591) 66,770
Loss(profit) attributable to owners of ZTNM (426,963) 69,224
Loss attributable to the non-controlling interests of ZTNM's subsidiaries (7,628) (2,454)
Other comprehensive income for the year 28,480 60,735
Total comprehensive (expense)income attributable to owners of ZTNM (398,470) 129,959
Total comprehensive expense attributable to
the non-controlling interests of ZTNM'’s subsidiaries (7,641) (2,454)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year (406,111) 127,505
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests = —
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 375,428 (90,562)
Net cash outflow from investing activities (594,634) (266,723)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities 272,528 (85,917)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 7,336 14,121
Net cash inflow (outflow) 60,658 (429,081)
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52. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests (continued)

CRRC Changchun and its subsidiaries

2018 2017

RMB’'000 RMB'000

Current assets 41,655,180 43,919,193
Non-current assets 13,462,117 11,620,313
Current liabilities 35,218,484 37,101,147
Non-current liabilities 1,617,129 1,511,108
Equity attributable to owners of CRRC Changchun 17,361,038 15,988,791
Non-controlling interests of CRRC Changchun’s subsidiaries 920,646 938,460
2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

Revenue 34,258,852 30,516,611
Expenses 31,585,860 27,946,916
Profit for the year 2,532,420 2,284,999
Profit attributable to owners of CRRC Changchun 2,523,883 2,259,024
Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests of CRRC Changchun’s subsidiaries 8,537 25,975
Other comprehensive income(expense)for the year 44,504 (33,224)
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of CRRC Changchun 2,565,878 2,225,809

Total comprehensive income attributable to

the non-controlling interests of CRRC Changchun'’s subsidiaries 11,046 25,966
Total comprehensive income for the year 2,576,924 2,251,775
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 107,508 106,073
Net cash inflow from operating activities 5,287,788 2,630,396
Net cash (outflow) inflow from investing activities (5,919,969) 2,945,485
Net cash outflow from financing activities (2,134,132) (1,233,693)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 24,891 (22,051)
Net cash (outflow) inflow (2,741,422) 4,320,137
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53. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 66,549 53,837
Other intangible assets 109,148 108,324
Amounts due from subsidiaries 5,701,111 7,323,891
Interests in subsidiaries 398,404,613 396,778,857
Interests in an associate 5,325,685 5,336,278
Other non-current assets 2,430,000 —
412,037,106 409,601,187
Current assets
Trade receivables 229,006 186,998
Amounts due from subsidiaries 24,044,855 31,359,314
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 77,813 284,554
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 61,242 2,139,563
Available-for-sale investments = 439,497
Pledged bank deposits 1,002,309 1,001,564
Cash and bank balances 7,470,296 17,729,650
32,885,521 53,141,140
Current liabilities
Trade payables 14,119 —
Amounts due to subsidiaries 22,669,027 22,068,865
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss — 181,755
Other payables and accruals 754,799 692,069
Borrowings - due within one year 9,865,898 25,425,236
Retirement benefit obligations 480 980
Contract liabilities 42,518 —
Convertible bonds-liability component-current 3,910,829 —
Convertible bonds-derivative component-current 271,899 —
Tax payable 7 —
37,529,576 48,368,905
Net current (liabilities)/assets (4,644,055) 4,772,235
Total assets less current liabilities 407,393,051 414,373,422
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53.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Capital and reserves

Share capital 28,698,864 28,698,864
Reserves 375,191,856 375,032,032
Total equity 403,890,720 403,730,896

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings - due after one year 3,500,000 6,495,168
Retirement benefit obligations 2,090 4,830
Long-term payables 241 —
Convertible bonds- debt component = 3,630,772
Convertible bonds-derivative component — 511,756
3,502,331 10,642,526
Total equity and non-current liabilities 407,393,051 414,373,422
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53. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserves

Retirement
benefit
obligations Statutory
Capital  re-measurement Revaluation surplus Retained
reserve reserve reserve reserve eamings Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

At 1 January 2017 356,288,472 (8767) 23863 2,273,807 6,636,198 365,213,573
Profit for the year — — — — 5,303,255 5,303,255
Non-public issuance of A shares 10,523,999 — — — — 10,523,999
Re-measurement gain on

retirement benefit obligations — 2331 — — — 2331
Change infair value of available-

for-sale investments — — 15,635 — — 15,635
Appropriation of statutory

surplus reserves — — — 547,755 (547,755) —
Dividends distributed — — — — (6,026,761) (6,026,761)
At 31 December 2017 366,812,471 (6/436) 39,498 2,821,562 5,364,937 375,032,032
Adjustments — — (39,498) — 39498 —
At 1 January 2018 366812471 (6/436) — 2,821,562 5404435 375,032,032
Profit for the year — — — — 4,458,860 4,458,860
Re-measurement gain on

retirement benefit obligations — 3371 — — — 3371
Appropriation of statutory

surplus reserves — — — 458430 (458,430) —
Dividends distributed — — — — (4,304,830) (4,304,830)
Others 2423 — — — — 2423
At 31 December 2018 366,814,894 (3,065) — 3,279,992 5,100,035 375,191,856
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54. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

0]

(i)

The Group has provided financial guarantees to Wuhu Yun Da rail transportation construction and operation Co., Ltd. in
the first-stage of project of Wuhu Rail Transit Line 1 and line 2. The maximum exposure of these financial guarantees to the
Group is RMB 5,818,593,000 (2017: RMB7,441,000,000).

In the course of its normal operations, the Group, due to various factors, may be exposed to potential legal proceedings or
investigations in connection with its sales or services.

The Group has learned through relevant media reports of the appointment of a Judicial Commission of Inquiry in South
Africa into Allegations of State Capture, Corruption and Fraud in the Public Sector, including organs of state (“Inquiry”)
for which the terms of reference were published by presidential proclamation on 25 January 2018. In the same context,
media reports in South Africa also make reference to violation of laws related to multiple procurements for the supply of
locomotives by South African train operator, Transnet. The Group has not received any letter or request for information from
any foreign governmental authorities, including from the authorities conducting the Inquiry, in relation to this matter other
than as described below.

As disclosed in note 35, bank balances totalling approximately RMB600 million held in two bank accounts of the Group in
South Africa are the subject of freezing orders issued by the South African Reserve Bank ("SARB") in relation to allegations of
contraventions of the Exchange Control Regulation in South Africa relating to certain locomotive procurements involving
Transnet. The Group has submitted applications to the SARB for the utilisation of these bank balances. The applications
have been received but not yet been approved by the SARB. These bank balances may be subject to forfeiture under the
Exchange Control Regulation in South Africa.

Based on the information known to the Group at this time, the Group considers that it is not practicable to estimate the
Group's financial exposures in relation to the matters described above. The Group will continue to monitor the development
of this matter and its potential effects, if any.

55. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

U]

(i)

On 5 February 2019, the Bondholders of the 2016 Convertible Bonds as disclosed in note 44 with an aggregate principal
amount of US$240,000,000 (the “Redeemed Bonds") gave notice to exercise their rights of redemption at 100 percent
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the 2016 Convertible Bonds. Accordingly, the Redeemed Bonds have been cancelled
upon such redemption on the same day.

On 28 March 2019, the Board of Directors proposed a final dividend of RMBO0.15 per ordinary share based on 28,698,864,000
shares to shareholders of the Company, and the proposal is subject to the approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming

annual general meeting.



DEFINITION

Articles of Association
A Share(s)

Board

BOGE

China United Insurance
CNR

CNRG

CRRC Changchun

CRRC Financial and Securities
CRRCG or CRRC GROUP
CRRC or Company

CRRC Sifang

CRRC Tangshan

CRRC ZELRI

CRRC Zhuzhou

CSR

CSRand CNR

CSRC

CSRG

Director(s)

Finance Company
Financial Leasing Company
Group

Hong Kong Listing Rules

H Share(s)

Model Code

Qigihar Group

the Articles of Association of the Company

the Company's domestic share(s) listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange

the board of directors of the Company, unless the context requires otherwise
BOGE Rubber & Plastics

China United Insurance Holding Corporation ( F 2B SRR EBAR D BRAF) )
former China CNR Corporation Limited ( R B4t BERH ER A A])

former China Northern Locomotive & Rolling Stock Industry (Group) Corporation (

Bl A BT EEE AT

CRRC Changchun Railway Vehicles Co, Ltd. (P B REMERBRHBR AT )
CRRC Financial and Securities Investment Co,, Ltd. ( FEBE & EIREGRAF])
CRRC GROUP Co,, Ltd. (B EEE AR AR )

CRRC Corporation Limited ( RFEIFR ERRHBRRAF] )

CRRC Qingdao Sifang Co, Ltd. (R BEE BN T B HEH RN BR A A )
CRRC Tangshan Co, Ltd. (R EFIL#BEHHER AT )

CRRC Zhuzhou Institute Co,, Ltd. ( R EIRMNE BT ER AR )
CRRC Zhuzhou Locomotive Co,, Ltd. ( FEEHKIMNE HEEBRAE] )

former CSR Corporation Limited ( P EIFIEE XD B R AR )

CSRand CNR

China Securities Regulatory Commission ((F BlE A EEEREZE®)
former CSR Group (P BIFEE B A F] )

director(s) of the Company, unless the context requires otherwise

CRRC Finance Co, Ltd. (R BB ERAE] )

CRRC Financial Leasing Co,, Ltd. (R B £ RHEBRAF])

the Company and its subsidiaries

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

the Company's foreign share(s) listed on the Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Hong Kong Listing Rules

CRRC Qigihar Group Co,, Ltd. (P EEEEEBR AT )
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SASAC

Senior Management
SFO

SMD

SSE

Stock Exchange
Supervisor(s)
Supervisory Committee
Times Electric

Times New Material

State-owned Asset Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council
(BB R AELEEERELZES)

senior management of the Company, unless the context requires otherwise

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

Soil Machine Dynamics Ltd

Shanghai Stock Exchange

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

supervisor(s) of the Company, unless the context requires otherwise

the supervisory committee of the Company, unless the context requires otherwise
Zhuzhou CRRC Times Electric Co,, Ltd. (M ERRERBRHER A )

Zhuzhou Times New Material Technology Co., Ltd. ( BRMBEF AT BRI IR D A
PRAF])
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS Unit H, 41/F., Office Tower, Convention Plaza, No. 1T Harbour Road,

IN HONG KONG

LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE
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FAX
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E-MAIL ADDRESS
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STOCK CODE
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Liu Hualong

Liu Hualong
Sun Yongcai
Xu Zongxiang

Liu Zhiyong
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Wu Zhuo
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Sun Yongcai
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Xie Jilong
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Xie Jilong
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PRC INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

INTERNATIONAL INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

LEGAL ADVISERS

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP
Certified Public Accountants

30th Floor, Bund Center

222 Yan An Road East

Shanghai

the PRC

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
35th Floor, One Pacific Place
88 Queensway, Admiralty
Hong Kong

As to Hong Kong laws:
Baker & McKenzie

14th Floor, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

As to PRC laws:

Jia Yuan Law Firm

F408 Ocean Plaza,

158 Fuxing Men Nei Avenue, Beijing,
the PRC






	COVER

	IMPORTANT
	CONTENTS
	RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS
	FINANCIAL SUMMARY
	CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
	REPORT OF DIRECTORS
	DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND STAFF
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	RELEVANT INFORMATION OF CORPORATE BONDS
	INVESTOR RELATIONS
	CHANGES IN SHARES AND PARTICULARS OF SHAREHOLDERS
	SIGNIFICANT EVENTS
	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
	NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	DEFINITION
	COMPANY PROFILE
	BACK COVER


